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QHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRE

To Shareholders,

| hereby present to you the report of annual results of China
Merchants Land Limited (“China Merchants Land” or the
“Company”, Stock Code: 00978) and its subsidiaries (together as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2016, the turnover of the Group was RMB11,606,442,000 (2015:
RMB6,394,944,000). Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company was RMB811,449,000 (2015: RMB185,416,000). Profit
attributable to the shareholders per share was RMB16.54cents
(2015: RMB3.78 cents). Ever since the reorganisation in late
2013, the Company has been strengthening its property layout
and obtaining more premium property projects in Nanjing and
Guangzhou, which continuously boosted the Group’s results. In
2016, profit attributable to the shareholders per share rose to
record high since the reorganisation in 2013. As fundamental
resources of the Group’s business solidified and optimised,
the Group plans to gradually elevate the cash returns of the
shareholders. The Board recommended payment of final dividend
of HK$0.045 per share for the year ended 31 December 2016.

ASSET INJECTION FROM PARENT COMPANY
AND STRATEGIC TRANSFORMATION

To continuously strengthen the capability and enhance the features
of China Merchants Land as an overseas listed platform, the parent
company of the Group restarted injection of premium assets.
In 2016, the parent company injected the whole CM+ Service
Apartment (“CM+") in Sheung Wan, Hong Kong to the Group,
and planned to use CM+ as the foundation of incubating self-
owned service apartment brand and service system. The Group will
build a professional property management and operation brand,
to stock self-owned apartment properties, duplicate and export
our innovative management operation initiatives. In respect of
business strategy, the Group will focus on development of property
projects in premium cities on one hand, while actively researching
execution plan for light-assets operation, including reorganisation
of China Merchant Property etc. Through the extension of business
value chain, the Group will have a clearer picture on the strategic
position of itself and its parent company, China Merchants Shekou
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK"), and gain mutual
benefits, so as to capitalise on the advantages of both listed
platforms.
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QHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

Market Review

In 2016, both international and domestic economic and social
turbulence intensified. Coupled with Brexit and Donald Trump
being elected as President, those issues have made significant
impacts on global economy. In addition, US dollar stayed strong
while Renminbi continued to be weak. As the domestic economic
structure adjusted slowly, the internal and external environment
faced by China’s economy was unprecedentedly complicated.
The Chinese government continued to promote the reform on
supply, following by addressing over capacity, reducing inventory,
de-leveraging, lowering cost, and bolstering areas of weakness,
the economy has gradually picked up, with an annual increase
of approximately 6.7% in its GDP. In 2016, China’s properties
industry rose slightly before its setback. Stimulated by the policy of
de-stocking in properties promulgated by the central government
in 2015, significant increase in both property price and quantity
was recorded in a number of cities from the first half to the
third quarter of the year. The area sold for national commodities
housing reached 1,573 million sq.m. for the Year, representing
a year-on-year increase of 22.5%, while its sales amounted to
RMB11.76 trillion, representing an increase of 34.8%. As the
price surge went too far for certain first and second tier cities,
many cities successively introduced a series of local adjustment
policies of quantity and credit control in the fourth quarter. With
the implementation of the adjustment policies, the property
market featured decreased quantity and stable price. Regional and
corporate differentiation in the properties industry has become
more obvious. It was well evidenced by the frequent mergers
and acquisitions and consolidation activities, as well as actively
identifying new business opportunities, by properties corporations.

Property Development

In 2016, with the united effort of all staff, the results of the Group
greatly improved. The Group recorded aggregate contracted sales
of RMB15,986,065,000 and aggregate contracted sales area of
1,185,223 sg.m., representing an increase of 79% and an increase
of 51% over that of 2015 respectively. Area of new construction
was 1.47 million sq.m, whereas area of completed construction
was 1.87 million sq.m. At the end of 2016, the area under
construction was 3.23 million sq.m. At the same time, the Group
continuously reinforced the forging of projects in all-rounded
abilities, such as progress, quality, safety, customer services as well
as cost and marketing in order to ensure a sustainable and quality
development.
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Land Bank

The Group continued to focus on proactively exploring the
cities with high quality by acquiring 2 pieces of land with a
total permissible area of 333,041 sgq.m. for a total land cost of
RMB6,572 million in 2016. One piece of land was acquired in
Nanjing with a total permissible area of 161,211 sq.m. for a total
land cost of RMB4,820 million. One piece of land was acquired
in Foshan with a total permissible area of 171,830 sg.m. for a
total land cost of RMB1,752 million. As at 31 December 2016,
the Group had land bank of approximately 6,100,472 sq.m. The
management believes that the existing land bank is sufficient to
fulfill the needs of the Company’s project development for the next
3 years.

Capital and Finance

At the end of 2016, the net gearing ratio of the Group was 63%,
which is at a healthy level in the property industry. The bank
balances and cash amounted to RMB5,811 million and the balance
of the interest-bearing debts was amounted to RMB 14,684 million.
The average cost of the capital was 4.85% of the annualised
interest rate in 2016. At the same time, the Group placed
great efforts to improve the cash collection of sales proceeds,
hence achieving an annual cash collection of sales proceeds of
RMB15,772 million and a cash collection rate of 99%. The capital
turnover remains stable and safe. In respect of management
of foreign exchange risks, on one hand, the Group fully repaid
the bank borrowings of USD, on the other hand, we strengthen
investment of assets for CM+ which presented in Hong Kong dollar
to effectively mitigate the foreign exchange risks for depreciation
of RMB with exchange loss of RMB190 million in 2016.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

Looking ahead in 2017, facing the increasing uncertainties of
global economy, and China’s economy is still experiencing a
serious structural problem. During the meeting on economic tasks
of the central government, the major direction on an aggressive
yet stable basis has been identified, with transformation of China’s
economy under the new normal. Through these, China’s economy
will gradually undergo sustainable economy development. The
properties market will continue to face regional polarisation.
The markets in first and second tier cities will enter adjustment
stage, while those in third and fourth tier cities still consider de-
stocking as its major task. It is expected that the adjustment
policies will continue to stabilise the demand of homes for self-
occupation, and suppress home buying for investment. Against the
backdrop of such adjustment and the increase of interest rate, the
property market will move forward with pressure. The formidable
participants in the industry will stay strong, resulting in more
frequent opportunities of mergers and acquisitions activities.

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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QHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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The Group will monitor closely the trend of market development
and the changes in adjustment policies. As the growth of properties
markets is facing a turning point, the Group will proactively adopt
flexible sales and development strategies to respond steadily. In the
meantime, the Group will focus on the changes in land markets
and seek for resources integration. Confronted by the gradual
shift from increasing homes to stocking homes in the properties
market, the Group will proactively implement the development of
diversified transformation extended by the value chain to create
value for its shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our customers, business
partners and staff for their trust and support during last year and
would appreciate your continued support for the Company’s
development in the future. As the Chairman of the Board, | would
also like to express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders for
their unfailing support and in approving the major changes of the
Company. | believe and have confidence that we will create better
return for the shareholders in the future.

XU Yongjun
Chairman
7 March 2017
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGNEEAERBE

The Directors’ updated information is set out below, save as
disclosed as below, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among the Directors. The change
of directors’ information pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) since the Company’s
last published interim report is set out in the section “Change of
Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Yongjun, aged 53, non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company appointed on 18 March
2016.

Mr. XU joined China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd. since
May 2001 and held various positions as chief marketing director,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager and
general manager until January 2016. On 30 December 2015, he
was appointed as the director and general manager of China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK"), an
intermediate controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. XU graduated from Fuyang Normal University in Anhui
province in July 1984. He graduated from Applied Chemistry
Department of Northwest Institute of Light Industry (currently
renamed as Shanxi University of Science & Technology) with a
Master’s Degree in Engineering in November 1987.

Mr. HUANG Junlong, aged 51, non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. HUANG is currently the chief financial officer of CMSK.
He joined China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone as deputy
supervisor of the finance department in 1988 and holds various
positions as deputy in charge of finance department of China
Merchants Group, chief financial officer of China Merchants
Logistics Group Co., Ltd., chief financial officer of China Merchants
Port Service Co., Ltd, chief financial officer of Shenzhen China
Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd. and deputy general manager of
finance department of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone.

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGENEEAEBE

In July 1988, Mr. HUANG graduated from Changsha Institute
of Communications with a Bachelor’s Degree in Finance and
Accounting Profession. He graduated from China Europe
International Business School with a Master of Business
Administration Degree in September 2008.

Dr. YAN Chengda, aged 58, non-executive director of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Dr. YAN has been engaged in property development business in
China and other overseas developed countries with a management
position in overseas listed companies for many years. He is
currently a senior consultant of CMSK. He joined China Merchants
Group in the year of 1997. He holds various positions as deputy
general manager of China Merchants Properties Holdings Company
Limited and executive director of China Merchants Holdings (Pacific)
Limited, shares of which are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited.

Before joining China Merchants Group, Dr. YAN served as vice
president of China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (Florida Company of United States of America) and
was a president assistant of China Construction International
Corporation.

Dr. YAN holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in January 1982 and a
Master’s Degree in December 1984 from the Department of Civil
Engineering in Dalian University of Technology. He graduated
from the Department of Water Conservancy in Tsinghua University
in June 1989 and was awarded a Doctoral Degree. He holds a
senior engineer qualification since May 1993 and is a member of
American Society of Civil Engineers.

Ms. LIU Ning, aged 48, non-executive Director appointed on 2
June 2012. Ms. LIU is a member of the audit committee of the
Board.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGNEEAERBE

Ms. LIU has over 15 years of experience in securities industry and
has served as the secretary to the board of directors of CMSK
since December 2015. She was appointed as a representative
for securities affairs of CMPD in October 2001, a director of
secretariat to the board of CMPD in July 2004 and the Board
Secretary of CMPD from 2008 to 2015. Ms. LIU currently serves as
an independent director of Eastern Pioneer Driving School Co.,Ltd.
(RAR M BERERRM AR AT (Stock Code: 603377), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, and an independent
director of Shenzhen Fenda Technology Co.,Ltd. (&I EZERHLAL
B ERAT)(Stock Code: 002681) and Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent
Co., Ltd. (RINTHEREEMRNBRAR) (Stock Code: 300044),
both companies are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Ms.
LIU was appointed as the ninth expert of the listing committee of
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the period from September 2016
to September 2018, and the first expert for the preliminary review
of corporate bonds listing of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the
period from May 2015 to May 2017. Ms. LIU holds a Profession in
Business Administration from Central South University of Forestry
and Technology in 2000, and subsequently holds a Master of
Business Administration Degree from Macau University of Science
and Technology. Ms. LIU ceased to act as an independent director
of Tianjin Zhonghuan Semiconductor Co., Ltd. (KEFRIRFEEE
AR A7) (Stock Code: 002129) and Shenzhen Changfang
Light Emitting Diode Lighting Co., Ltd. (ZEYIITT & 5 & mReE R
AR A7) (Stock Code: 300301) in June 2016 and January 2017
respectively.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGENEEAEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 65, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr.
SO resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and
his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an
executive Director.

Dr. SO is an executive director of SIM Holdings Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the”Stock Exchange”))
and is currently the Chairman of Shenzhen Super Perfect Optics
Limited. He is a director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed
on Euronext Lisbon and the chairman of the board of directors
of MACAUPORT - Sociedade de Administracdo de Portos, S.A.
Besides, Dr. SO retired from office as an independent non-
executive director of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange) on 2 June 2015.

Dr. SO is a member of the 12th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC"), a member
of the Committee of Foreign Affairs of the National Committee
of CPPCC, the honorary consul of the Republic of Portugal in
the Hong Kong SAR, as well as a consultant of the Economic
Development Council and a member of the Cultural Consultative
Council of the Macau SAR Government. Dr. SO is the president of
Clube Militar de Macau, a member of the board of directors of The
University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational Development
and Research, as well as a member of the 10th National Committee
of China Federation of Literary and Arts Circles.

Dr. SO was awarded the Medal of Merit — Culture by the Macau
SAR Government in 2009. He was awarded the Doctor of Social
Sciences honoris causa by the University of Macau in 2012, the
Honorary University Fellowship by The University of Hong Kong in
2005 and the Commendador Order of Merit by the President of
Portugal in 2014.
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Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He graduated with
a Bachelor of Science Degree from The University of Hong Kong
in 1973, and received a Doctoral Degree in Management Studies
from IMC/Southern Cross University in 2001.

Mr. YU Zhiliang, aged 38, joined the Company as an executive
Director since 2 June 2012. He was the Company's Chief Financial
Officer during the period from 29 June 2012 to 17 August 2016.
He served as a general manager of the Company since 18 August
2016. Mr. YU served as a director of Champion Apex Limited since
January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied Investments Limited
since April 2013. Mr. YU is responsible for strategic development,
and to facilitate and implement the operational plans of the Group.

Mr. YU has served as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd. ({BE/EithE (EPT) BRAF]) and Fujian
Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd. ({8 @B B ER
ZEBPR/AR]) since 2010. Mr. YU is a director of China Merchants
Properties Development Ltd. (HBEBEZEAERR A7), Wahsheung
Finance Ltd. (FEmEE#%ABRAF]) and certain major subsidiaries of
the Company. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accounting from
Xiamen University (BEF9K2) and holds an MBA Degree with a
concentration in finance from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Mr. YU is an accountant of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 49, executive director of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry.
He served as assistant property manager in property agency
department in China Merchants Properties Development Limited
in February 1995 and subsequently he was promoted as deputy
manager, manager, deputy general manager and the current
position of director and general manager. From January 1999, he
acted as general manager assistant in China Merchants Property
Agency Limited and later he was promoted to the position of
deputy general manager and the current position of director and
general manager. From September 2001 to December 2002,
he served as director and general manager in China Merchants
Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring
in finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’'s Degree
of Science in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in
December 2006. In 1999, he obtained estate agents license
(individual) from Hong Kong Estate Agents Authority. In 2010, he
was awarded the membership of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate
Administrators.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 65, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. WONG
is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company.

Dr. WONG currently holds the following positions in other listed
companies:

e independent non-executive director of China VAST Industrial
Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6166);

e independent non-executive director of APAC Resources
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1104); and

e independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 757).
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In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise
Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm in
Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014. Dr. WONG was
appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND & Co. CPA Limited,
Hong Kong on 2 January 2014.

Dr. WONG was elected or admitted:

e g fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in September 2002;

e 3 fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
in February 2002,

e 3 fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January
1999;

e a member of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute in November 2012;

e a fellow member of Association of International Accountants
in September 2005;

e a3 fellow member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

e a2 member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May
2002; and

e a3 Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in
December 2010 and a Bachelor’s Degree in commerce from a
joint program held by Shenzhen University and Clayton University,
Missouri, USA in May 1990. He also received a Bachelor’s Degree
and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Nottingham
Trent University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.
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Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 58, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Ms. CHEN
had been an independent director of China Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd. ("CMPD"), a company merged with CMSK
in December 2016, from October 2007 to November 2011. Ms.
CHEN is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company.

Ms. CHEN is a professor of Architecture and Urban Planning School
in Shenzhen University from December 2000. Ms. CHEN attended a
“China Management Training Program” in University of California,
Los Angeles from November 2003 to November 2004.

Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor’'s Degree and a Master's Degree
in urban planning profession from the Faculty of Architecture of
Tongji University in January 1982 and November 1984, respectively.
Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in December 1993
and subsequently qualified as a registered planner of the PRC in
October 2000.

Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 58, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI had been an
independent director of CMPD from July 2001 to October 2007.
Dr. SHI is a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. SHI is currently an associate professor of the Department of
Finance and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Renewable Energy
Trade Board Corporation (formerly known as “China Technology
Development Group Corporation”), a company listed on Nasdag.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor’'s Degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster
University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from
Middlesex University, UK in July 1995.
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Mr. HE Qi, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 1 November 2013.

Mr. HE currently is an independent non-executive director of
Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3333) since 14 October 2009. Since
3 October 2014, Mr. HE has been serving as the independent
non-executive director of Orient Victory China Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 265). Since
2006, Mr. HE has been serving as the deputy secretary of the
China Real Estate Association, and the secretary of the Distribution
Services Committee of the China Real Estate Association. He was
an executive of the Development Centre of the China Real Estate
Association from 1995 to 1999.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO
DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of director Details of change

MBxE  BF6I1m N —=F+—A—HEZ
EARARBIFHITES -

BE-ZTNAFTATEAR  [AEERBRIMLETA
AERMESEER AR (B HRS : 3333)H5FL3F
WITEF -B_FTWFETAZHE  {EE/BR
P L RBRESH BIERAR AR (MRS : 265)
VBN IEITES - AL T RFR-EEE
FEEMERSENER  RTRFHERSRER
BEEGWER - BR—NANAFE-NANFEE
HEEMEHGSEXHEERREE -

FRESENZEH

RIE ETRAIE 135 1B R AT RECHESE
BEB 2 ANEBUTITX

Ms. LIU was appointed as the ninth expert of the listing committee of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the period from September 2016 to September
2018, and the first expert for the preliminary review of corporate bonds listing of
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the period from May 2015 to May 2017.

BTt B2 RFAAE_ZE- \FARAHBLERYESZSMENE LTES
8ZE URAZZE-hFAAZE-Z—tFhANABERIESZZAE—EA

Ms. LIU ceased to act as an independent director of Shenzhen Changfang Light
Emitting Diode Lighting Co., Ltd. (RINT R FEERBFRMHER A F) (Stock

BTN Tt F - ATBEERNTRAFLEBRAROER AR (RHRR

He is @ member of the 10th National Committee of China Federation of Literary
BRATEXZAMAMESFETREERRAGZEE -

For the year ended 31 December 2016, Mr. YU received annual emoluments

EEHR L

Ms. LIU Ning

ey
AIfESH FMEEZER -
Code: 300301) in January 2017.
300301) 2B EE ©

Dr. SO Shu Fai

BRI PR £ and Arts Circles.

Mr. YU Zhiliang

RERTE

of HK$1,880,400 which were determined by reference to his experience and
responsibilities, the Company’s performance and remuneration policy and the
prevailing market conditions.

HE_Z-—RE+A=T—HILFE  REEKMFEMEE1,880,4007T - £
e T2 E R KB REBE  ARRIZRBRFMWNBEARBITIAMEE °
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Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this Report, there are
no other changes in the directors’ information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published interim report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. XIAO Rui, aged 42, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. XIAO joined the Development Department of CMSK as the
senior manager in March 2004, and was subsequently redesignated
to Zhangzhou Company as the director and general manager in
April 2007. He served as the director and general manager of
Xiamen Company in November 2010. Since August 2016, he was
promoted as the regional general manager of Southern China and
the general manager of Guangzhou Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. XIAO worked as an assistant
engineer in Shenzhen Languang Group (ZEYIE X EE) from
August 1997 to June 1999, a senior manager of Lease Department
of CMPD from June 1999 to June 2003, and the deputy general
manager of Shenzhen Mingyuan Fluoro Coatings Company (&3
RRiz &2 KA 7)) from June 2003 to March 2004,

Mr. Xiao graduated from Harbin University of Civil Engineering and
Architecture with a Bachelor’s Degree in Speciality of Industrial and
Civil Architecture in June 1997.

Mr. LU Bin, aged 35, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. LU joined the Project Department of CMPD as a project
engineer in July 2004 and subsequently, he served as the manager
of the Project Department of Nanjing Company in January 2008.
He was promoted as the general manager assistant, the deputy
general manager and the deputy general manager (monitoring
works) of Nanjing Company in February 2014, February 2015 and
March 2016, respectively.
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Mr. HUANG Qinghao, aged 41, is responsible for the
management of property development projects.

Mr. HUANG joined the Construction Management Center of
CMPD in May 2005 as a structural engineer and was subsequently
redesignated to Foshan Company in February 2008. He initially
served as a manager of design and engineering department and
was subsequently promoted to general manager assistant and
deputy general manager. In January 2014, he was promoted as the
general manager of Foshan Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HUANG worked in Shenzhen
General Institute of Architectural Design & Research Third Institute
CRII TR L s 2 48P = 2B) from October 2001 and October
2003 as a structural engineer. From October 2003 to May 2005,
Mr. HUANG worked in Arch Engineers Design Co. Ltd (= Ti2K
=t/ 7)) as a structural engineer.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Central South University and was
awarded a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial and Civil Construction in
June 1997. Mr. HUANG was qualified as an engineer in September
2001 and subsequently was qualified as a first-class qualified
structural engineer in October 2005. He was awarded a Master’s
Degree in Civil Engineering Profession from Shenzhen University
in June 2006 and qualified as an architectural construction senior
engineer in December 2007.

Mr. LI Zhaohui, aged 46, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. LI joined the Project Department of CMPD as an engineer
in March 2002 and subsequently, he worked as a senior project
manager for Construction Management Center in February 2005
and was promoted to deputy technical director in December
2005. In April 2007, he was redesignated to Chongqging Company
as general manager assistant and was subsequently promoted
to deputy general manager of Chongging Company in February
2009. He was further promoted to deputy general manager of
Chongging Company (monitoring works) in July 2015.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LI worked in Zhenjiang Construction
and Design Institute in Jiangsu Province from July 1992 to March
2002.

Mr. LI graduated from the Faculty of Water Supply and Drainage
Engineering of Urban Construction in Chongging Construction
Engineering University in July 1992 and subsequently obtained the
qualification as a water supply and drainage professional engineer
in November 1998.
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Mr. SHI Jun, aged 54, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. SHI joined the Operating Management Center of CMPD in
November 2007 as general manager assistant and as the deputy
general manager of JR®YIFAEEZR AR 2T from December 2008
to February 2012. From February 2011 to February 2012, Mr. SHI
was redesignated as the deputy general manager of Yongjinwan
project and from February 2012 to September 2013, Mr. SHI was
the deputy general manager (General) of the Zhuhai Company.
He was subsequently transferred to Xi'an Company as the leader
of the preparatory team in September 2013 and was promoted to
general manager of Xi'an Company in May 2014.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. SHI worked in Shenzhen
Continental Ocean Through Enterprise Company (F3IT AR & B
E %2 7)) as general manager from December 2004 to November

2007.

Mr. SHI graduated from FAZAREEERT in July 1984 and received
a diploma in industrial and domestic construction and was
awarded a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He was qualified as
a senior engineer in December 2004 and as a first-class qualified
construction engineer in December 2011.

Ms. JIN Yan, aged 42, the financial controller of the Company.
She had held various positions with CMSK, and some of its
subsidiaries. She joined CMSK in August 1996 as supervisor of
financial department and capital department until March 2000 and
held various positions in finance department of CMPD as senior
manager, general manager assistant and deputy general manager
from March 2000 to December 2013. At the same time, she was
also appointed as the financial controller of FYITTHRAEE IR
AR A 7] (Shenzhen Fraser Place Management Company Limited*)
from December 2005 to February 2012 and from February 2012
to December 2013, she acted as the financial controller of China
Merchants (Shenzhen) Commercial Property Investment Co., Ltd.
and Eureka Investment Company Limited. She was the deputy
general manager of capital management center of CMPD from
January 2014 to December 2015 and was the deputy general
manager of capital market department of CMSK from January
2016 to August 2016.

Ms. JIN graduated from the School of Economics of Xiamen
University with a Bachelor’s Degree in International Finance in July
1996. In September 2003, she obtained a qualification of middle
level accountant in PRC.

AL - BFS4n BETEEMEREIEAE -

BEERZEZLF T —ANMARBEELEEF
LDEFECENE YR _TEZEN\FF+_RARE=Z
——F - AHBEEARYNBEERER AR ZER
K1 N E——F_RAE-_T——_F_FHH A
SERTESEEEIBLEE RZTE——F=-A=
—E-=FNAHRM  AREAKERAREBEBK
B HEBR-_ZE—=FNAATEALRARELTE
HHEAR TR -_Z—NFRABAABAL A RRL
I o

RIMBAREER  AXEB-_TTENF+_AEE—
EEHF+—AEEFITAESBETEE QALK
IE o

BERER—NANELF L AEERTLTAKER - 5
THHERAREAYE  WETEEBL428 - FHR T
TNE+ - AT ASATIRM YR -T——4F
= ARG — AR EE TiRA o

WRat BFRE BARAITHEE K
RBEe O REDBSMBERREEZ BB - HR
—NAARNFENANARERED  HEFBEIRESHE
ITE HEE-ZTTTF-AL WA -TTTHF=A
BT -—F+ - AHEEEEN KIS AL
BIESHKEIE « BEIEENEBLE - B 5=
ZERFE+_AZ_E——F_F  BIEZEEZR
NTRELABERERAAZHBEAE : RAZT
—ZHFZREZZT—=F+ZA8  HEECRIBE
BEREBRAFIERINZNEEEBRAR KR
B Q- E—NMFE—AZ_ZT—hE+_A " ®KAR
PHEASEER Oz ABKERE S —"F—A
E-TXRNFENA LT ECEERDESEARE

BIABARIE o

FREIN—NNARFLAREREFIARSEES -
EEBERSMBELEM - RZTT=FNA ' KEM
SHREPREFEZER

“TRoREFHR BERRBEMARAR



20

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGNEEAERBE

Mr. WANG Yu, aged 43, is responsible for the overseas property
investment and development business.

Mr. WANG joined the Construction Management Center of CMPD
as a deputy engineer in August 2009 and was subsequently
promoted and redesignated to China Merchants Property
Development (Shenzhen) Limited as general manager assistant of
Project Department of Sea World Huanchuan Plaza in February
2011. In January 2014 and July 2016, he was respectively
redesignated as a deputy general director and then general director
for investment and development of the Group.

Prior to joining the group, Mr. WANG served in the Administrative
Department of Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People’s Republic
of China from August 1996 to June 2007 working as an attaché,
an officer, the third secretary and the second secretary respectively.

Mr. WANG graduated from Tianjin University with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Civil Structural Engineering in July 1996 and completed
the International Engineering Management Professional
supplementary course. Subsequently, he completed the
Infrastructure Project Management Professional Training in the
University of Hong Kong in May 2007 and obtained a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration with a concentration in Corporate
Finance and Real Estate in the Business School of the University of
North Carolina in United States of America in May 2009.

Ms. LAU Jeanie, aged 39, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company on 3 January 2017. Ms. LAU is an associate member of
both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, and has over 10
years' experience in company secretarial practice.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

MARKET REVIEW

For the year ended 2016 (the "Year”), both international and
domestic economic and social turbulence intensified. Coupled
with Brexit and Donald Trump being elected as President, those
issues have made significant impacts on global economy. In
addition, US dollar stayed strong while Renminbi continued to be
weak. As the domestic economic structure adjusted slowly, the
internal and external environment faced by China’s economy was
unprecedentedly complicated. The Chinese government continued
to promote the reform on supply, following by addressing over
capacity, reducing inventory, de-leveraging, lowering cost, and
bolstering areas of weakness, the economy has gradually picked
up, with an annual increase of approximately 6.7% in its GDP. In
2016, China’s properties industry rose slightly before its setback.
Stimulated by the policy of de-stocking in properties promulgated
by the central government in 2016, significant increase in both
property price and quantity was recorded in a number of cities
from the first half to the third quarter of the year. The area sold
for national commodities housing reached 1,573 million sq.m. for
the Year, representing a year-on-year increase of 22.5%, while its
sales amounted to RMB11.76 trillion, representing an increase of
34.8%. As the price surge went too far for certain first and second
tier cities, many cities successively introduced a series of local
adjustment policies of quantity and credit control in the fourth
quarter. With the implementation of the adjustment policies, the
property market featured decreased quantity and stable price.
Regional and corporate differentiation in the properties industry
has become more obvious. It was well evidenced by the frequent
mergers and acquisitions and consolidation activities, as well as
actively identifying new business opportunities, by properties
corporations.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Year, profit amounted to RMB1,115,054,000 (2015:
RMB355,467,000), representing an increase of approximately
214% as compared with last year. The profit attributable to
the owners of the Company was RMB811,449,000 (2015:
RMB185,416,000), representing an increase of approximately
338% as compared with last year. Basic earnings per share was
RMB16.54 cents (2015: RMB3.78 cents), representing an increase
of approximately 338% as compared with last year.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was
RMB5,993,416,000 as at 31 December 2016 (2015:
RMB5,178,196,000), representing an increase of approximately
16% as compared with that as at the end of last year.

& E EE
BHEZZ-XRNFLFE(FEAN]) - BRIMEEFL
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EfF - 2818 - A - lER - LEEREDRE 2
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‘i AT RNFRRBTEMEXET R BUR
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TRIERAFE - 2EEAE S FHEmMBEEI1S73EFTH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENWMRDN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

The Group together with its associate and joint ventures, achieved
aggregate contracted sales of RMB15,986,065,000 (2015:
RMB8,950,200,000), representing an increase of approximately
79% over that of last year. Aggregate contracted sales area
was 1,185,223 sq.m. (2015: 787,010 sg.m.), increased by
approximately 51% over last year. The average selling price was
approximately RMB 13,488 per sq.m. (2015: RMB 11,372 per sq.m.),
representing an increase of approximately 19% compared with last
year.

TURNOVER

For 2016, the Group recorded a turnover of RMB11,606,442,000
(2015: RMB6,394,944,000), representing an increase of
approximately 81% as compared with last year. The rise was
mainly due to the increase of total gross floor area completed
and delivered during the Year. For the Year, projects in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Chongging and Nanjing and Jurong accounted for
approximately 31%, 35%, 11% and 23%, respectively, of the total
revenue of the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit amounted to RMB3,337,146,000 (2015:
RMB1,556,932,000), representing an increase of approximately
114% as compared with last year. The increase in gross profit was
mainly due to the increase in the total gross floor area completed
and delivered during the year 2016. The gross profit margin was
approximately 29% (2015: 24%), representing an increase by
approximately 5 percentage points over last year.

FINANCE COSTS

As at 31 December 2016, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB14,684,380,000 (2015: RMB11,797,252,000)
which includes the guaranteed convertible bonds and credit
enhanced bonds. The average cost of the capital was 4.85% of the
annualised interest rate for 2016.

In June 2015, the Company’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary
completed the issuance of a guaranteed convertible bonds due
in June 2020 (credit enhanced until July 2018) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$290,000,000 bearing coupon rate at 0.50%
per annum. In December 2013, the Company issued a five-year
term credit enhanced bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
US$500,000,000 bearing coupon rate of 4.021% per annum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

FINANCE COSTS (continued)

Total amount of interest of the convertible bonds and
bonds amounted to approximately RMB104,667,000 (2015:
RMB69,749,000) was recognised in the finance costs for the Year.

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSSES

Exchange losses of RMB190,249,000 and RMB155,713,000 were
noted respectively for the Year and the year ended 31 December
2015. The exchange losses recorded during the Year were mainly
due to the significant depreciation of RMB against United States
Dollars (“US$").

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s portfolio of property
development projects consisted of 27 projects in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Chongging, Nanjing, Jurong and Xi'an, with a primary
focus on the development of residential properties, as well as
residential and commercial complex properties, products types
including apartments, villas, offices and retail shops etc.

Below are the breakdown of land bank by cities and a map
showing the geographic locations and the land bank of the projects
of the Group in the PRC. The saleable GFA of the properties
comprising the projects which had not been sold or pre-sold as at
31 December 2016 (“Land Bank”) was 6,100,472 sg.m..
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Land bank by cities as at 31 December 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

A map showing the geographical location and land bank of the projects of
the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2016
TEERAEER-Z—A"F+-A=Z+-BEPE2EBZHBUER L ibH#E

Nanjing and Jurong
BERRAR

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)

= Zijinshan No.1

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.) - 48,746
HA RIRAIEREEETE (FHK)

; . Yonghuafu 463
%‘;‘ﬁ%‘ang 463,161 FEENT
= Mr. Mountain 5452
Chonggqing FILETER g
25 Evian County 22775
Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.) = .
HE RRA]EREETE (FAXK) Evian Huaf
o MELLEIC] 229,683
Changjiahui 1241202 KEZERF
The Orchid Ravine 129.961
Evian River Bay 472,904 RILEATER !
KETE !
Central Avenue 1353159 Go1 166,581
RERE D
China Merchants International E City 92269
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu B EIFRES :
BEE NG 46,132 st 2N
otal
ps 715,930
Igé?r' 3,113,397 #at

Foshan
Bl

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
HE ARRAEZEEEAE (FI5K)

Evian Water Bank
REXKFE

Guangzhou
— Ll

Evian Upper City Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
2,069
ELH BE  AKAEREEE (AR
Evian Tianhui f
X[ I gi: Vel 350,071
Evian Xicheng Huamb:
RERE ST g%m © 59,644
F;g%:g;g 215,289 Zhaoshang Yongjing Wan
(formerly known as
China Merchants “Sino-Singapore Guangzhou
Land Centre 181,099 Knowledge City") 275,162
BB L HEESE
v Yorgoowan (o7 08s (B [ 37 BN 0355 ) )
EER) !
: eizl 684,877
Evian Huafu 123,829 st
Evian Gongguan
K2 147,169
China Merchants Zhenyuan
93,819
HEER
Chencun Jinchang
212,473
BRAT£48 '
Total
wxt 1,123,107
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Note: The table below shows the address, existing usage and actual/expected

¥ O w)

3t B R 2R 3R 7 ()
Kt : TRBFARER-F—AF+-A=t+-AZHEFRER

completion date of the property development projects of the Group as at 31

Zii - RERASRER EERAH -

December 2016.
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BEhE
Project Existing usage ER B
b= Address b3k RERR (FR)
Foshan f#1l
Evian Water Bank Northern side of Yuhe Road i Residential and July 2012
REIK = and eastern side of EREHLUT commercial —ET——F+A
Fenjiang South Road B LTk FEREE
Foshan New Town FAFNER Jb 8] K
Foshan City Guangdong Province AT R A
The PRC
Evian Upper City Northern side of Kuigi Road R Residential and May 2013
RE E3 and western side of ERAMHLT commercial —E-=FT1A
Guilan Road B[R FEREE
Chancheng District B2 R IL B &
Foshan City Guangdong Province £ 7 1A
The PRC
Evian Tianhui Qiandenghu Park Nanping Road i Residential and September 2014
KERE Nanhai District BRE LT commercial —E—-mENA
Foshan City Guangdong Province e FEREE
The PRC PR
FrEHAAE
Evian Xicheng No. 3 Keji North Road i Residential and January 2017
RER Shishan Town BRE LT commercial —E—+F—58
Nanhai District e FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province L
The PRC B35
Park 1872 Northern side of i Residential and June 2017
AE1872 Xingye Road and BRE LT commercial —E—+&EXA
eastern side of FERME
Longpan West Road
Desheng Business District EEEER
Shunde New Town FZERR L )
Shunde District BEARTHREE SR
Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC
China Merchants Western side of i Commercial September 2017
Land Centre a planning road BRE LT [S5ES —E—tFNA
BraE A L eastern side of [EaNsTEA
Guilan Road AT
northern side of a planning road A2747IE
and southern side of Haigi Road —IREIBR R
A27 Block of Guicheng Street R A -
Nanhai District —HR BB LA R
Foshan City Guangdong Province sl i gea ]
The PRC
Evian Yongjingwan North to Jihua Bridge i Residential and November 2017
REES west to Tung Ping River ERAMLUT commercial —T—+F+—A
Chancheng District B [ =2 AL FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province R A
The PRC
—E AR RERERERAT
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥R EE )
EtERRER (F)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
B
Project Existing usage ZER B
BHE Address it RERR (FA)
Evian Huafu Xinyou Innovative R Residential and March 2018
REZERT Technology Industrial Park” Beihu 1st BEERAGLT commercial —T—-N\%¥=A
Road 2Dt TEREE
Luocun Management Office HILE
Shishan Town Nanhai District ENEERE

Evian Gongguan
N

China Merchants
Zhenyuan

RE%E

Chencun Jinchang

RN &48

Guangzhou (&)

Jinshan Valley
EAllIES

Huambo

&E

Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC

Dazheng Road
Jiujiang Town
Nanhai District
Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC

East of Wenhua Road
north of Caihong Road
Chancheng District
Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC

South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan 1st

Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water

Channel in the south to Fochen Road in

the north

South Side of South Jinchang Road
Chencun Town, Shunde District
Foshan City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

Fei E Ling
Zhongcun Town
Shatou Street
Panyu District
Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

Huambo Business District
Nancun Town
Panyu District
Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

Zhaoshang Yongjing Wan The north of No. KS3-2 Road and to the

east of the northern extension lane of

LB —BMEREXE]
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(formerly known as

“Sino-Singapore No. KS4-4 Road at Zhongxin Guangzhou

Guangzhou Zhishicheng Nangibu District
Knowledge City") The PRC
HrESE (R

[ eS8 M R 380 )
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commercial

EEREE

Residential and
commercial

EEREE

Residential,
wholesale and retail,
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and catering and
commercial and
financial usage
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Residential and
commercial

EEREE

Commercial
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Residential and
commercial
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September 2018
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March 2018
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June 2019
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March 2017
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September 2016
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August 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ OB m)

Property Development Business (continued) FEib R ()
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B 5
Project Existing usage ER B
b=z Address 3k RER® (F£R)
Chonggqing (EF)
Changjiahui Danzishi Nan'an District i Residential and August 2021
R=E Chongging City BET commercial —ZE=—%/\A
The PRC EREETA FEREX
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road i Residential and May 2019
RETE and northern side of i) commercial —F—hERA
Neihuan Expressway EEE FEREE
Banan District BB SR A5
Chongging City AR RIR LA
The PRC
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F i Residential and August 2024
NEARE Lianglu Zone EEM commercial —E-ENR
Yubei District aipld FEREE
Chongging City MR A BFZE S &
The PRC
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu East of Yu Ao Da Dao 23] Residential and July 2017
e EENE and west of EET commercial —E—+F+A
Jian Bei Si Zhi Lu Tt FERBE
Jiang Bei District AR A E R -
Chongging City eIl
The PRC
Nanjing & Jurong
(ARRAR)
Zijinshan No.1 Northeast corner of Zhongshanmen Avenue i Residential and November 2013
K& L—5% and Taiyangcheng Road IEREERT commercial —E—=F+—A8
Qixia District BZEE FEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province AP R EL
The PRC PNE N
Yonghuafu Southeast corner of Yikang i Residential December 2015
FEELT Road and Taishan Road TEREARE R F=E —Z—RF+=A
Jianye District EEE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province 18 FREK 8L
The PRC RILERE A
Mr. Mountain South of 12th Xue Road i Residential June 2016
FILEEER east of Wushi Road IEEER™T = —E—RFRA
High-tech Park TER
Jiangning District TR
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province B4 BRDAR
The PRC BEBIAR
Evian County East of 7th Guihuajing Road Jiangning R Residential December 2016
IREER Airport Industrial District STERA R R F=E —ZE—XRF+=A
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province IEEBRER
The PRC HENELIEIAR
ZERFER BEREMARAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BERENWR D

¥R EE )
EtERRER (F)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
B
Project Existing usage ZER B
BH Address it RERR (FA)
Evian Huafu West of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 R Residential and March 2019
EET Maigaogjiao Street IEFEERT commercial —E-NEFE=A
Qixia District EER TEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province BREME
The PRC SR — BT
The Orchid Ravine East of Xing Huo Bei Lu R Residential and June 2019
RILEARTEE and south of Yong Xin Lu TERER R commercial —ZE—AENA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone AAOEHE TEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province 2 NEBEIAR
The PRC FKHTEEARD
Nanjing GO1 The east to South Rehe Road in the west, i Residential and August 2020
B FGO1 from Chaha’er Road in the south to TEAE R MR commercial —E-FFN\AR
Nanjing No.52 Middle School in the REZZRE - BERER EEkEE
north, Gulou District, Nanjing City MR AEEVTmRE -
Jiangsu Province TEERTERTZF
The PRC £
China Merchants East of Baosi Road 2] Commercial and June 2018
International E City south of Jingjiu Road LERE AT residential —E—\FRA
T BFRER Baohua Town EEEERER EmEREE
Jurong City N ERE Al
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
Xi‘an (BZ)
Evian Qujiang South of Jinyang Road R Residential and June 2020
IRE T east of Xinkaimen South Road PREL TR commercial —E-FFEXNA
north of Chuangyi Avenue and T 3[R TEREE
west of Xikang Highway SERAE
West Fudao IR B AR
Quijiang New District BIZKELAL
Xian City Shanxi Province PR RAEHER
The PRC
North of Chuangyi Avenue 2]
west of Xikang Highway PREEE L™
Qujiang New District TR [R
Xi'an City Shannxi Province RIEAEIAIL
The PRC PR R AT
East of Xinkaimen South Road 2]
Quijiang New District BrEAEEm
Xi‘an City Shanxi Province HTHE
The PRC HBFPIEH AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Contracted sales

For the Year, the Group, together with its associates and joint
ventures, recorded contracted sales amount of approximately
RMB15,986,065,000 in aggregate from five cities and the

¥ O )

EihERRER(F)

ERKE

FR - AEEEREBEQNRRAELERERER
&k 2 & RS E 2% 4 AR #15,986,065,0007T
A RIHERMELH1,185,223F 5K °

contracted sales area in aggregate was approximately 1,185,223

sg.m..

2016 contracted sales in area by region (sq.m.)
CE-AFRBESRMEEEEELK)

Nanjing & Jurong
ERRAA
31% (373,152)

Foshan
il
32% (380,439)

Xi'an
[
6% (65,451)
Chongging
HE
22% (264,026)

Guangzhou
BN
9% (102,155)

2016 contracted sales amount by region (RMB million)
CE-AFRUBESRHEESHEIFE(ARBEET)

Foshan N

BRIl anjing & Jurong

22% (3,529) BB EES
46% (7,394)

Xi'an
(=S
3% (453)

Guangzhou
B
13% (2,079)

Chonggqing
ES
16% (2,531)

—EAEFR BERBHERATH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O B m)
Property Development Business (continued) FEHibE R (&)
Newly Acquired Land Bank 712 + i A
During the Year, the below lands were acquired by the Group: FAN - RNEBYEE TS i
Total Average
Total Total permissible land
Projects 1HH consideration site area area premium
TiEE BEMEE BIHREE T E
(RMB million) (sg.m.) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(AR (ANE®T/
EE-v9) (FFAK) (FHAK) FHK)
Chencun Jinchang BRiT&48 1,752 68,732 171,830 10,196
Nanjing GO1 FERGO1 4,820 62,728 161,211 29,899

Note: Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 12 January

2017 in relation to the successful bidding of the Nanjing G87 Land by Nanjing
Merchants Zhaosheng Property Development Limited (Fg SRR FEHESR
fRA&]) (“Nanjing Zhaosheng”), a company established in the PRC owned as to
51% by the Company.

In accordance with the land bidding procedures acceptable to the relevant
governmental authorities, Nanjing Zhaosheng has on 13 January 2017 applied
to the relevant governmental authorities of the PRC for the project company,
Nanjing Hongweisheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (FJ 5 5AE KR HE
FEE R AF]) (the “Project Company”), to take up all the rights, benefits and
obligations of the land use rights of the Nanjing G87 Land.

The financial accounts of the Project Company shall not be consolidated into
the accounts of the Group since the incorporation of the JV Company.

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Foshan

In 2016, contracted sales amount in Foshan were approximately
RMB3,529 million and contracted sales area was 380,439 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2016, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Foshan
reached 3,591,938 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future
amounted to 1,123,107 sq.m.

In 2016, sales of the Group’s projects in Foshan mainly comprised
of Evian Huafu, China Merchants Land Centre and China
Merchants Zhenyuan:

—  Evian Huafu is a residential project located at the core area of
Xiaode River Plate, Luocun, Nanhai District, Foshan City, with
convenient transportation, shopping, entertainment, medical
and educational facilities reachable within 5 minutes’ drive. It
only takes 10 minutes’ drive to Foshan West Railway Station
and Foshan Airport as well as the Changui Center of Foshan
and 20 minutes’ drive to Guangzhou. The geographical
location near Xiaode River bestows Evian Huafu a brilliant
view of natural beauty.

¥ OB m)

EihERRER(F)

Bl

ZE-RF - BLUZARBEESENAARE3,529
BET AREEREE380439F FK - R-F
—RFE+ZA=+—8 AEERBLUTHEE R
EEEMETEES, 591,938 F 5K - RARAIEREAER
1,123,107 53K o

“E-REF AREEGLUEENABEIRBKRESE
¥ - BB O RBRERE

- KEERK/ETEB  LEHLTRERENZE
AR DM - BN - 5o EBAEIEERE
Y R%E BE HEERER 100EER
EOLTRYL RIS - 100 EEEMR LEE
ol 20D BHEREMN o MEEFENE - ’RIR
B

Computerised photo of Evian Huafu

R RO

—EAEFR BERBHERATH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENWMRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Foshan (continued)

—  China Merchants Land Centre is situated at the core of Zone
C of New Financial Area in Foshan, which comprises two 5A
Grade-A office buildings of 192 metre and 120 metre high.
The project, equipped with 020 developed by Shekou Net
Valley (¢ A 484) and iCloud smart office system, will make
a path for new commercial complex in Foshan and create the
first high-end theme-based commercial complex in Foshan.

Computerised photo of China Merchants Land Centre
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Foshan (continued)

Computerised photo of China Merchants Zhenyuan
BEREEM A

China Merchants Zhenyuan occupies the urban core area
and situates at the top three wealthy districts. The project
is situated adjacent to endowed ecological habitat and
surrounded by the lake, creating the top-notch ecologically
livable high-end resident district in Foshan. The entire project
presents a slope of low at the south and high at the north,
connoting a meaning of ascending. The China Merchants
Zhenyuan, a south facing project, can maximise the feeling
of light, and capture abundant natural light all year round.
It brings excellent air through all seasons, creating a
comfortable living environment throughout the years. The
parks are designed based on a delicate chess board landscape
idea featuring premier pines from Japan, in order to create a
brilliant community park and tranquil landscape.

¥ OEE)
EERRER (F)

L

(A7)

BEZERG BN TR O  E=AEARE -
HB IR RANREARRAR - TERLAE
REESHER BEEEERBEILSZE
BESTR - VHABHEBERR B
EFERATR  IERAGKE  2EE2FEED
SEERRE - UEBRERMBEMN - BEAX
FEME - T EFERERSR

Computerised photos of China Merchants Zhenyuan
BEEESRER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Guangzhou

In 2016, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou were
approximately RMB2,079 million and contracted sales area was
102,155 sq.m. As at 31 December 2016, total GFA of the Group's
projects in Guangzhou reached 1,858,169 sq.m. and the saleable
GFA in the future amounted to 684,877 sq.m.

In 2016, the Group's saleable project in Guangzhou was Jinshan
Valley, which is a high-end residential and commercial complex
located in Panyu District of Guangzhou. It is conveniently located
adjacent to various major expressways in the area and is within 15
minutes’ driving distance from the Pearl River New City, the central
business district of Guangzhou.

¥ O )

EiERRERF)

BEM

ZE-RF - ENZARBEESENAEARE2079
BEL AREEmMEARI02,155F K - HE-T
—RNF+ZA=+—H AEEREMTHEE R
LR TEE,858,169F 5K - RARAIERERER
684,877 FF K o

“E-REF AKEEEMNNEERE /LS - £
WARSHEEEBRGERE  UREMNEER - B
MRAZGIZSERKE - AEMNPHEHEROKT
AT EA R BIE o

Computerised photo of Jinshan Valley Computerised photo of Zhaoshang Yongjing Wan
SIWABRICAER (formerly known as “Sino-Singapore Guangzhou Knowledge City”)

A%

7B (RIAE[ A M AR ) BREAE A

=E

Computerised photo of Huambo
BEETmESERER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Chongqing

In 2016, contracted sales amount in Chongging were
approximately RMB2,531 million and contracted sales area was
264,026 sq.m. As at 31 December 2016, total GFA of the Group’s
projects in Chongging reached 4,074,628 sq.m. and the saleable
GFA in the future amounted to 3,113,397 sg.m.

In 2016, sales of the Group's projects in Chongging mainly
comprised of Changjiahui, Central Avenue and Jin Xing Hui Xiao

Qu:

—  Changjiahui is an urban complex project comprising multi-
commercial facilities. Located at the junction of Chang
Jiang and lJia Ling Jiang, and the centre of CBD at Nanbin
Road, which is within the same proximity where the CBD of
Chongging People’s Liberation Monument and the CBD of
Jiang Bei Zui are situated. It has now become the convergence
of commercial and financial golden delta featuring
international trends and characteristics in Chongging.

¥ OB m)

EihERRER(F)

;]

T AT EEZAREESENAARKE2,531
BB AREEMEER264,026F K - BHE-Z
f/\¢+ B=+—H AEEREETHIEBER R
A TEEA,074,628 F 50K - RARAIERERER
3,113,397?%*

*g—/‘*\i AEBREEZHEBEREERERS
NEKEMIREE /R

- RIERZEXREEKRNHMFASEERE - R
E/Igﬁia?ﬁﬁﬁ/leZJﬁ R F B B CBD AR L)
HIERRECBD ~ JTAEMECBDEFNE - K T &
EMEN&ABRBLBRRENEKERE A
e

Computerised photos of Changjiahui
REEBRCER

—NFFH RERBEMHERAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O B m)

Property Development Business (continued) FEHibE R (&)

Chongqlng (continued) EE(»@)
Located at the Standard Sub-zone F, Lianglu Zone, Yubei PNEREAERT  BHEMRAR—ENEEM
District, Chongging, the Central Avenue is a comprehensive B uUREETALEMBAEMEESRRA
community with residences, retails and office functions BAMEENA0NE - MEZEBHN - BAe
covering a total site area of 40 hectares, where New Aerial BrAL EEEBREBEDL - ZEEEEF -
Port City is situated. The Central Avenue is in proximity to $‘<®L3ﬁ,ﬁ§ 65k 4R T 2= ’é%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ\]ﬁy&%%@iﬁ
Conference and Convention Centre, Chongging International NEREBEHEENPRR

Expo Centre. This region is assessable by convenient
transportation network. Meanwhile there are several stops
of Light Rail Line 3 and 6 in New Aerial Port City and Central
Avenue is close to the panoramic Central Park.

Photos of show flat of Changjiahui Photos of show flat of Changjiahui
RREEREREER RREBREKREER

Computerised photos of Central Avenue
AREXEERCEA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RO EE )

Property Development Business (continued) FEib R ()

Chongqlng (continued) EE(AE)
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu is mainly a residential project comprising WEENREFEATEEE  BH=-BFaE  —&
three high-rise buildings, one block of sky shops and frontage SRR MR AR AR - ZBEMNRNEEEE
shops. Located at the International Commerce and Trade BlEFmEETE] ST hEXR
Headquarters within the Guanyingiao Commercial Center as B BEECRAE  EERTESAEES - HE
well as the junction of Yao Zi Qiu and Xiao Yuan Pian Qu, Figm% - AR #HE - BE - BN BESD
the project links Yu Ao Avenue and all key hot spots. There —EEE 2EMREEEESZHMNEK

are commercial, parks, education, medical facilities as well as
supermarkets and hotels nearby which satisfy various needs in
everyday life.

Photo of sales department of Jin Xin Hui Xiao Qu
RERE R EZIES

Photo of Jin Xin Hui Xiao Qu
mEE/ R

—NFFH RERBEMHERAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Nanjing and Jurong

In 2016, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong were
approximately RMB7,394 million and contracted sales area was
373,152 sq.m. As at 31 December 2016, total GFA of the Group’s
projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 1,835,502 sq.m. and the
saleable GFA in the future amounted to 715,930 sg.m.

In 2016, strong sales of the Group’s projects in Nanjing and Jurong
mainly comprised of Evian Huafu, The Orchid Ravine and Evian
County:

—  Evian Huafu is a residential, commercial and office complex
located at the CBD of New Town of Yanziji, Nanjing city. It
is built for developing into a city-class complex combining
leisure, entertainment and trendy shopping facilities. On
the south of the project lies Wanshoucun Subway Station,
providing easy and convenient transportation. Subway Line
No.6, Dual Subway Line No. 7 as well as 21 bus routes,
12 main roads and Jingwu Road and Xixia Avenue are
all broadened as city-class main avenues. The project has
provided the Bei Cheng residents with a family-oriented plaza
for shopping and relaxation, a neighborhood-oriented center
for culture and art appreciation and a social space with parks
and gardens.

¥ O )

EihERRER(F)

ERERAR

ZE—RF ERARURZARBEECENAARE
73%§%ﬁ AREEMEEA373,152F 5K - HE
—E-RNFTZAZ+ B AEERERTRAOR
TR IE B M IEE 1,835,502 F 5K » AKAE
FEEEIEA715,930F K »

—TAE . AEEERNRRAORRMEGER QIEK
TR - RILEATEE KT -

- KEEFAFEE BERNQLEE  LELR
FIRT IR R P OLE  FTIERE R 4R
mEY A ORI ARLEE - BEMEAHEE
ENUZTEE LA EeTRER 7T RE R
#21GRE TR - 12GERE - KRk &
ERBESEMEARTREHRE - IHB AILHE
RiZH —flz&ﬂl:ﬁﬁﬁ%;%ﬁﬁzm MEEIX
(EEMER - MM AR 22

ﬂ\

Computerised photo of Evian Huafu Photo of Evian Huafu
REFEFNERCER REERBR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RO EE )

Property Development Business (continued) FEib R ()

Nanjing and Jurong (continued) ERRAB(E)

-  The Orchid Ravine is a residential, commercial and serviced- — KUEATEEATE BEMAEXRAELES
apartment complex located in Jiangbei New District in B - ATERVTARA ME—BIRARHNE — B 0T dbEn
Nanjing, the one and only national-class new district in B BRABEENEXN  BEILAEFEETILE
Jiangsu Province, with enormous potentials for development SE  AASHED  FAIMAT L REEE -
and appreciation. Closely on the north side of the project S NERREN P - F I B o

lies the scenic spot of Longwang Mountain, which bestows
the project with excellent natural views. On the east side is
Jiangbei Fast Pathway, providing convenient transportation,
through which people can reach Hexi and city center within
half an hour’s drive.

Computerised photo of Nanjing GO1 Computerised photo of Orchid Garden
RGO BB LR KA WEEM AR

Photo of show flat of Orchid Garden Computerised photo of the Orchid Ravine
ERWERREER EWILEARTERBIEER

“TRoREFHR BERRBEMARAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Nanjing and Jurong (continued)

—  Evian County is a residential project located in the Airport
New Town of Jiangning District, Jiangsu Province. The project is
adjacent to Lukou town center with comprehensive facilities.
The project is only 2km away from the Xiangyu Station of
the light metro line at the airport which featured with an
excellent transport connection with main roads (such as
Airport Expressway, Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangjun Avenue) to
the main city.

¥FEOIEE)
iR R (H)
BRRAR (&)

RERSEEHE - LERERTIBRESH
W B BMROESRL - HEREES - THA
PRI A TR E2km - BESSRE - &
BEAE - BERBEI®REBRTIN RGN
Bl o

Computerised photo of Evian County
RERBERI AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Xi'an

In 2016, contracted sales amount in Xi‘an were approximately
RMB453 million and contracted sales area was 65,451 sg.m.
As at 31 December 2016, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Xi'an reached 538,534 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future
amounted to 463,161 sq.m..

The project will be named as Evian Quijiang, which is mainly for
residential projects located at the second phase of Qujiang New
Town, Xi‘an. Connected to Nan San Huan, Hangtai Main Road and
in proximity to Subway Line 4, the Project is close to the top three
parks in the city. It only takes 10 minutes’ drive to directly access to
the core of the first phase of Qujiang, which caters for diversified
needs such as shopping, entertainment and food and beverage.

¥ OB m)
EihERRER(F)
AR
;:%—/‘*\i AL EREEENAARKLISIH
C MAEREEEREAE5451F K RZZTE—X
¢+ A=+—8 A£EEALHNIBELZE@MAE
#E5538,534F 5K - iR IR Al & B HTE £463,161

?E*

ZIHWIAB KRR RKERT - TBHEEHEE 4
RAZTHTIHR 8 BRE=R  fAKE B
EMEASRAR - SRS = AWM RE - 100 B E AT
—HZL TR RE - EREZTTUFEK -

Computerised photo of Evian Qujiang
REMTEMEER

—NFFH RERBEMHERAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Electronic Trading Business and Property Related
Procurement Business

The Group will balance the synergies in property related
procurement business and the main business in property
development to determine the resources to be allocated to the
trading procurement business.

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2016, the net assets attributable to owners of
the Company were RMB5,993,416,000 (2015: RMB5,178,196,000).

In June 2015, the Company’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary
completed the issuance of the guaranteed convertible bonds due
in June 2020 (credit enhanced until July 2018) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$290,000,000 bearing coupon rate at 0.50%
per annum (“Convertible Bonds”). In December 2013, the Group
completed the issuance of five-year term credit enhanced bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of US$500,000,000 bearing
coupon rate of 4.021% per annum (“Bond”). The rates of the
Convertible Bonds and the Bond, which are fixed and unchanged
during their subsisting period, bear simple interest rather than
compound interest and the interest are payable half-yearly. Both
the Convertible Bonds and the Bond are listed on the Stock
Exchange, since 24 June 2015 and 12 December 2013 respectively.
The fund raised from the issuance of the Convertible Bonds and
the Bond are for the purpose of general corporate use.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES (continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31 May
2016, following the completion of the change in control of Eureka
Investment Company Limited from China Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd. ("CMPD") to CMSK, CMSK became
the intermediate controlling shareholder of the Company. The
Company has issued a notice (the “Notice”) to holders of the
Bond on 31 May 2016 of the change of control event. In the
Notice, each holder of the Bond has an option to require the
Company to redeem all but not some of that holder's Bond on
the put settlement date (the “Put Settlement Date”) at 100% of
their principal amount, together with accrued interest to such
Put Settlement Date (the “Put Option”). Such right was started
on 1 June 2016 and ended on 30 June 2016. The Put Settlement
Date was taken place on 14 July 2016 whereby the Company has
redeemed a total amount of US$500,000 of the Bonds. The current
redemption does not affect the use of capital by the Company.

As at 31 December 2016, bank balances and cash was
RMB5,810,922,000 (2015: RMB3,697,337,000). In terms of
currency denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided
into RMB5,346,143,000 in Renminbi, RMB461,426,000 in US$ and
RMB3,353,000 in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

As at 31 December 2016, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB14,684,380,000 (2015: RMB11,797,252,000).
In terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-bearing
debt (excluding the Convertible Bonds and the Bonds) can be
divided into RMB6,615,021,000 repayable within one year,
RMB2,051,595,000 repayable after one year but within two years
and RMB876,117,000 repayable after two years but within five
years. In terms of currency denomination, the outstanding total
interest-bearing debt can be divided into RMB8,789,484,000 in
Renminbi and RMB5,894,896,000 in US$.

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s net interest-bearing debt (total
interest-bearing debt minus bank balances and cash) to equity ratio
(including non-controlling interests) (the “net gearing ratio”) was
63% (2015: 69%). Although the financial position of the Group
is stable and the potential financing capacity is strong, the Group
will continue to take the relatively stable financial policies and to
control the net gearing ratio at the industry average level.
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FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES (continued)

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HK$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised
via balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities. As
the Convertible Bonds and the Bond were denominated in US$,
while the Group conducts its sales, receivables, payables and
expenditures in RMB for its PRC property development business,
the management will closely monitor the volatility between RMB
and US$ exchange rates and might consider hedging should the
need arises.

NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and
CMPD entered into a non-competition deed on 19 June 2013
as amended and supplemented on 4 October 2013 (the “Non-
Competition Deed”). On 30 December 2015, the Company,
CMPD and CMSKMete 7 had entered into a deed of amendment and
novation (“Novation Deed”) pursuant to which all the obligations,
undertakings, interests and benefits of CMPD under the Non-
Competition Deed were novated to and undertaken by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD as if CMSK has been a party to the Non-
Competition Deed in substitution of CMPD with effective from 30
December 2015. Other than that, all the other terms of the Non-
Competition Deed shall remain unchanged®ote 2,

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed (as amended by the
Novation Deed), (i) CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the
Group) ("CMSK Group”) will not compete with the Group in the
cities of Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging and Nanjing (“Target
Cities”) except for certain operation transitional assets (“Operation
Transitional Assets”) located in three out of the four Target
Cities ("Overlapping Target Cities”) which would be retained by
CMSK Group but managed by the Group under certain operation
agreement entered into between the Group and CMSK; (ii) the
Group will not compete with CMSK in 21 other cities in the PRC
(“CMSK Cities"); (iii) and the Group will have a right of first refusal
to conduct property business in any city in which neither CMSK
nor the Group has any property business as at the date of the Non-
Competition Deed. For details of the Non-Competition Deed, the
Overlapping Target Cities, Operation Transitional Assets and the
CMSK Cities, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with
the Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of the Company dated
10 October 2013.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
quarterly reports prepared by the Company’s management
containing latest information on the respective property projects
portfolios of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a
review on the implementation of and compliance with the Non-
Competition Deed by CMSK Group and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2016; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of the
Non-Competition Deed had been complied with by CMSK Group
and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Group will continue focusing on developing its property
development business in the 4 Target Cities and the 2 new cities
entered in 2014 and will also select other new cities carefully for
investment and development should appropriate opportunities
arise.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had
completed the major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant
to which, among other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees,
contracts and all others rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up
and assumed by CMSK in replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the shares of CMSK became listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with effect from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraphs under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the
avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to
CMPD in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead in 2017, facing the increasing uncertainties of
global economy, and China’s economy is still experiencing a
serious structural problem. During the meeting on economic tasks
of the central government, the major direction on an aggressive
yet stable basis has been identified, with transformation of China’s
economy under the new normal. Through these, China’s economy
will gradually undergo sustainable economy development. The
properties market will continue to face regional polarisation.
The markets in first and second tier cities will enter adjustment
stage, while those in third and fourth tier cities still consider de-
stocking as its major task. It is expected that the adjustment
policies will continue to stabilise the demand of homes for self-
occupation, and suppress home buying for investment. Against the
backdrop of such adjustment and the increase of interest rate, the
property market will move forward with pressure. The formidable
participants in the industry will stay strong, resulting in more
frequent opportunities of mergers and acquisitions activities.

The Group will monitor closely the trend of market development
and the changes in adjustment policies. As the growth of properties
markets is facing a turning point, the Group will proactively adopt
flexible sales and development strategies to respond steadily. In the
meantime, the Group will focus on the changes in land markets
and seek for resources integration. Confronted by the gradual
shift from increasing homes to stocking homes in the properties
market, the Group will proactively implement the development of
diversified transformation extended by the value chain to create
value for its shareholders.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, profitability of the Group
and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 661 (2015: 583)
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on factors
such as qualifications, year of experience, market conditions and
performance of the individual employees. A share option scheme
was adopted at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 27 September 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who have contributed to the success of the Group's operations. No
grants under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during
the year ended 31 December 2016.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

BRI - BRRRR

This report covers the environmental, policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2016. The
Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report prepared
in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in
depth with our cooperative partners to improve construction
management and innovate construction technology. We would
consider using materials available from the neighborhood as much
as possible and to reduce the consumption of materials, energy
and water in the course of construction for creating a clear, clean,
comfortable and safe construction environment. Besides, we also
launched a “Harmonious Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively
collect the opinions from the residents who live nearby with an aim
to doing our best to reduce the effects of construction works on
the surrounding natural, cultural and social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers,
oil and gas.

CO-OPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANISATIONS

We build up close ties and co-operative connections with
international organisations like UNEP, UNEP-SBCI, UNEP GI-REC,
WWF to combine each other’s edges to promote the sustainable
development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

BRE > BRRKRR

SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The headquarters of the Company has set up a Safety
Management Committee. Each project has established its own
safety management team to proactively promote the standardised
management of safe and civilised construction so as to protect the
health and safety of every front line construction workers with best
efforts.

REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We reinforce safe and standardised construction, organise and
update management requirements and practices for safe and
civilised construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised
construction management and the investigation standard for
hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check and
introduce the assessment system for subcontractors in order
to ensure the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major
equipment safety and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO"” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

After years of consolidation and accumulation of experience,
we have gradually forged an ecological and high efficient green
technology system. The development model for green construction
was also upgraded into a comprehensive model with combination
of “Green Planning”, “Technique Application” and “Energy Saving
through Action”. In 2015, the Company built up a green research
and development and application system named “Green Life+”
and issued the “Green Ranking Guide” and “Energy Efficiency
Management Guide” in order to continuously promote the
innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We implement the idea of protecting the bio-diversity throughout
the core process of our development and operation and pay
attention to protecting the original natural vegetation and the
habitats in the development zone during the process of planning
and project construction. Through these efforts, we systematically
repair the eco-system which is degenerated or damaged by project
development. In addition, by building the landscape water system
and seedling transplantation according to location and situations,
we can reduce the effects of project development on local
environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for
their gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our
best effort to provide an ideal career environment for their
development.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company attaches great importance to the right protection
of the front line construction workers. It incorporates a system of
evaluating the performance in safeguarding construction worker’s
rights by cooperating partners into the standard evaluation system
of the suppliers by conducting regular checks and reminding
contractors of protection measures and the implementation of the
same for construction workers, so as to safeguard the rights of
construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
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Safety Guarantee
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e Require the general contractor to open a specialized o
account for depositing of workers’ wages and deposit
the wages in advance
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e Implement real-name system management for workers, e
establish an alert mechanism for worker’s wage and
inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s wage by
the construction cooperation units
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e Require the general contractor to pay the wages o
of its own workers in priority and consider this as
a compulsory check item in the annual review of
qualified suppliers
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Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
BREREL T EMBERD &R - AT ABRE
SERNEBERAR

Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site
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Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of
workers attending for work without receiving the
three-tier safety education
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BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

The competitiveness of supply chain is also one of the core
corporate competitiveness. We maintain a supply chain
management strategy of balancing between quality and efficiency.
Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’ closed-loop
management system and open communication sharing mechanism
between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible supply
chain, to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with the
enterprises in the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF SUPPLIERS

We maintain a concept of purchasing under the sun light,
strengthen the management of tendering and enhance the
standardisation and specialisation of tendering, while we strive
to explore new paths for purchasing information and stringently
comply with the contracts, as well as safeguarding the basic rights
of suppliers with fairness, justice and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We recognise long-term corporation as our management
orientation and build up a positive cycle of general purchasing,
annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We also enhance
the comprehensive and closed-loop management of certification,
selection, examination and assessment towards suppliers from
different levels and types and discover and foster strategic suppliers
through the ERP Purchasing Management Platform.

UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly
report system for key suppliers and have senior management
conducting on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite
outstanding partners to share their sophisticated experience in
order to mutually improve the ability to perform both parties’
duties. Meanwhile, we endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers
with high quality for long-term cooperation. For those suppliers
with high quality, they will be registered in our selected unit
automatically and entitled to higher percentage of payments upon
goods delivered and awarded with public recognition. For existing
issues, we will sort out corresponding solutions one by one.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
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REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build
a comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a
stable growth and development for our employees.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings, the
emoluments are determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company by reference to the qualification, experience, job duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group and
market conditions. Details of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s and
Employee’s Emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion
path, comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training
system, strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s
development and achieve the goal of enterprise development on
the basis of employee’s development.

EMPLOYEES' DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according
to their own career development direction incorporated with
the position requirement of the Company to realise a win-win
situation on both the Company’s development and the employee’s
development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and
accelerating the optimisation of staff training system. After years of
fulfillment, optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff
training system with three main elements, which are leadership,
professional capability and general performance, in order to
provide a favorable platform for staff's development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

BRE > BRRKRR

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With the view of enhancing communication between the staff and
the management, the Group requires every project company to
organise different types of face-to-face communication seminar
regularly throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and
needs to the management directly while they can get an instant
responses. Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management
to point out their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars
can strengthen both parties’ mutual understandings and break any
barriers between them.

SHAREHOLDERS’ AND INVESTORS’
RELATIONSHIPS

Shareholders’ and investors’ relationships are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 103 to 106 of
this annual report.

OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and
regulations, international practices and business ethics, and fulfills
the theme of the central government and China Merchants Group

— “Three-Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& =%&)" to strengthen
the practice of building and establishing the implementation
of responsibility and promote the culture of corruption-free and
prevention and punishment system comprehensively. We will
consciously accept the supervision from relevant authorities and
strive to become a good example of operating in compliance with

the law and with honesty and integrity.

The Company will promote the compliance system based on
the corporate legal advisor consultation system and strengthen
the construction of legal culture and research, promote the
compliance works and integration of operation management, so
as to enable the operation of the Company to be in compliance
with the applicable law requirements and contemporary corporate
governance requirements and interests from relevant parties.

Integrating with the characteristics of the industry, we will
introduce the specific trainings and enhance the legal awareness of
our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote
the legal risk awareness while building up the precaution
mechanism of legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in
advance control of legal risks.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

BRI - BRRRR

STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

We will develop our forward-looking and systematised
comprehensive risk management according to the operation
characteristics of the Company, so as to construct a risk
management platform for the respective professional departments.
We will incorporate the comprehensive risk management into the
operation structure and business structure of the Company, in
order to achieve the strategic target of the Company. Meanwhile,
we will gradually incorporate the non-financial risks management
systems, including environmental protection and anti-corruption,
into the comprehensive risk management system and these can
further reduce the potential risks in the operation processes of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleased to present to the
shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for year ended 31 December
2016 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries are engaged in the following principal activities:

(i) development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties; and

(i) sales of electronic and electrical related products and sales of
building related materials and equipment.

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on page 120.

The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.045 (2015: HK$0.005) per ordinary share. The final dividend
will be paid on or about 18 May 2017 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 9
May 2017.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, which
includes an analysis of the Group's performance using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion on the Group'’s future business
development are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 21 to 48 of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
The principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may face,
particulars of important events affecting the company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year, and an indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business are set out
in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 4 to 7
of this annual report. A discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and relationships with its key stakeholders and investors
are set out in the sections headed “Environmental Policies and
Performance” on page 49 to page 55 of this annual report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance indicators is set out in the
Group's Five-Year Financial Summary on page 260 of this annual
report. The compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have significant impact on the Group is set out in this Directors’
report. The reviews form part of this statement.

SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS AND
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiary corporations
and associated corporations as at 31 December 2016 are set
out in Notes 41 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB6,115,118,000
(2015: RMB6,187,976,000). Under the Companies Law (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and
Articles of Association and provided that immediately following
the distribution of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary
corporations purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules”)), nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of
the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, had any interest in the five largest customers or suppliers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set
out on page 260. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities amounted to
RMB3,636,746,000 as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015:
RMB2,492,062,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2016, land located in Chongging with
carrying values of approximately RMB362,110,000 (2015:
RMB699,290,000) have been pledged to secure bank borrowings
amounting to RMB170,000,000 (2015: RMB187,800,000) granted
to the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds of the Group are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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EEERE

DIR

ECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date

of th

Non

is report were:

-executive Directors:

Mr. XU Yongjun (ote )

Mr. HUANG Junlong (Note 2)
Dr. YAN Chengda (ete3)
Ms. LIU Ning

Ms. WU Zhengin Mote 4

Executive Directors:
Dr. SO Shu Fai

Mr. YU Zhiliang

Mr. WONG King Yuen (Note 5

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert
Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. S

HI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

Notes:

(M

(5)

Appointed as non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 18
March 2016

Appointed as non-executive Director and the member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016

Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effective from 18
March 2016

Resigned as non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the Board,
the chairman of the nomination committee and member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016

Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18
March 2016

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of

Asso

ciation, Dr. SO Shu Fai, Mr. YU Zhiliang, Dr. WONG Wing

Kuen, Albert and Dr. SHI Xinping shall retire at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 April 2017 ("AGM"). All
the above retiring Directors, being eligible, shall offer themselves

for r
confi

e-election at the AGM. The Company has received annual
rmations of independence from each of the independent non-

executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and

cons

iders all of the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT
IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best knowledge, information and
belief, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with
any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on
the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against Directors arising
from their offices and execution of their powers, duties and
responsibilities has been arranged and in force during the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group has not made any donation.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory obligations.
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EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO™)), which were required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules or which were required to be entered in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

EENSRITRABRA QA= H
ZEZRG  HERORES 2EREZR

/&F‘

RZZE—RF+_A=+—8 '  EFRARSHT
A BRARARISEMREEE(ERRBEBAGIEST1

BRF MBI ([BHRIERD D) HEXVER) 2B
0~ AR RIESZ BB RE LT AR RIS+
LHBETAERETESFRHHRESTRI(TRET
A DENEARRRRBBMEIZMARAR (B
P D SRR SRR AR 78 75 M B R I S 352 6 R E 7
B ERMAZESSORBNT

EERzER

H
5
Il

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share

ordinary capital

Name of director Nature of interest shares held EERQTE

EERSE ERME s EREE BITRETBDL

SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%
BRIEE M2 N ElRE (M)

Note: These shares are held by Skill China Limited (”Skill China”). Fortune Alliance Wiat - ZERGOBEEERAB([EE]DIFE - Hﬁﬁé‘%@ﬁﬁﬁ/&ﬁ

Group Limited is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-
third of the voting power at general meetings (“control”) of Skill China. Hence
Fortune Alliance Group Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares held by
Skill China. Fortune Alliance Group Limited is in turn controlled by Joint profit
Limited, which is beneficially wholly-owned by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive
Director of the Company. Hence Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Skill China. Skill China, Fortune Alliance Group Limited and
Joint profit Limited are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERERITHABRA QTS HAF B
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN ZEzKRG - HEROREZ 2B R
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND KB )

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

(continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated HE EEEERD 2HR
corporation

Approximately
Number of percentage (%)

underlying in the

Shares associated

involved®ote) corporation

Name of director Nature of interest N iEL RAEBEE 2

EEnE EEME RGEE @) BAE D (%)

XU Yongjun Beneficial owner 704,000 0.00%
FPKE EmfEA A

HUANG Junlong Beneficial owner 372,000 0.00%
= E=HAA

LIU Ning Beneficial owner 372,000 0.00%
2z EnEAA

YU Zhiliang Beneficial owner 200,000 0.00%
Rk E=HAA

Note: These are the underlying shares involved in the share options granted by CMSK AV « &« Rty /3 Fa 1 e AR AR SR 1 7 2 1 (Rl 3 45 45 3,646,889,329%

(an intermediate controlling shareholder indirectly holding 3,646,889,329 f&tn - *EEE@ZF’RETE%GHQZKZ@SS%)Fﬂé#ikﬁ?ﬁi -
shares, representing approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the BELLE  BIBELTRARERAERE ZBRES R 2 B
Company) to Mr. XU Yongjun, Mr. HUANG Junlong, Ms. LIU Ning and Mr. YU e

Zhiliang.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the BREXEEEIN - RZZE—XRF+_A=+—H0 &
Company’s Directors and chief executives had any interest or short A AIERHEHRITHA BB AR 7S IREEE
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the (E&EREHRMEEPIEXVEL) 2B fn - HHEAMRH
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning &5 F A RLETRIAME RN R 5 BB PRk /AL E
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the W REZBHF REIEKRFIEIS2HEREFEZELMA
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code or ~ ZHERIUXE °

which were required to be entered in the register required to be

kept under Section 352 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
“"DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS", at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary corporations
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their
respective spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2016, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO:

RHAEEREROREZ 2RZH

BRIEERRRITRABNAR A SEBRER 2 K
o~ R REF2BEAR IREZERMI
FREMSEREREMNEERES B ZEBIARK
FFARHBEBBEARBARNKEFESN R 2%
A WERRETEEMAREN AR - Hihk
NSRS B =N AT ES =N S RV
FEFEREEA ZEBIANFE FRREFEMBAR
EERSEREN MRS -

FERRREMATRARTRG RHE
ARGz EEIAR

RIZ—RNE+-A=+—8 " THRARFZ BT
PEARR5%ER A D RN IRIEE SR BE KN
F336EARNFEFE 2 RS LMA

Percentage of

Number of ordinary shares held  the Company’s
FrisEERYE issued share
Capacity and nature Long Short capital
Name of interest position position  {EAQTE BT
£ SR RERME Ba& KA REBFDH
China Merchants Group Ltd. Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BHREEERAR BEEH 2 DAFHE
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK")
AERENIXEERRNER AT RXEHZ AFHE
([BEwal)
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka”)
hREEEFARAR([HE]) RXEH 2 AFHE
Good Ease Holdings Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Good Ease"”)
SREREBRARE1E]) S AN <)
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")
RERBER AR (HE])
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EEERE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, approximately 74.35% of the issued
share capital of the Company is directly held by Success Well.
Success Well is wholly-owned by Good Ease. Good Ease is wholly-
owned by Eureka, which is in turn wholly-owned by CMSK. CMSK
is owned by China Merchants Group Limited as to 71.29%.
Accordingly, each of Good Ease, Eureka, CMSK and China
Merchants Group Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares
of the Company registered in the name of Success Well.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, no person
other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, had registered an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a
contract made by the Company or a related company with the
Director or with a firm of which he is a shareholder or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report, there were no contract of
significance between any member of the Group and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries corporations
or contract of significance for the provision of services to any
member of the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted as at the end of the Year or during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have
interests in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011 for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who have contributed to the success of the Group's operations. No
grants under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during
the year ended 31 December 2016. Since the adoption of the 2011
Share Option Scheme on 27 September 2011 (“Adoption Date”)
and up to and including 31 December 2016, no share option has
ever been granted under it.

A brief summary of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is
set out below:

1. Purpose of the scheme
The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Group to grant
share options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2.

Participants of the scheme

The Directors may within a period of ten (10) years
commencing from the 2011 Share Option Scheme make offer
for the grant of options to subscribe for Shares to eligible
participants, namely, (a) any full time employee, executive
or executive director of the Company, its subsidiaries or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest; (b) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (c) any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth
of the Group, and, for the purposes of the scheme, the offer
may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more
eligible participants mentioned above.

Total number of securities available for issue
under the scheme and percentage

According to the scheme mandate limit approved by
the shareholders on the Adoption Date, the Directors
are authorised to grant share options to subscribe up to
106,846,886 Shares, representing 10% of the total number
of issued shares as at the Adoption Date. As no offer for grant
of share options has ever been made under the scheme, the
total number of Shares underlying the share options available
for grant is 106,846,886 Shares, representing approximately
2% of the total number of issued shares as at the date of
this annual report. As there are no options granted under the
scheme and hence there are no outstanding options under
the scheme, the total number of Shares available for issued
under the scheme is zero.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the Options and the options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each Grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Period within which Shares must be taken up
under an option

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the
option is granted.

Minimum period before an option can be exercised
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance and period within
which payment must be made

HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the option within 21
days from its date of grant.

Basis for determining exercise price

The exercise price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to the terms of scheme, be at the
discretion of the Directors, provided that it shall be at least
the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or
more board lots of the Shares on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(c) the nominal value of a Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

9.

Life of the scheme

The scheme has a life of 10 years commencing from the
Adoption Date and will expire on the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date, namely, 27 September 2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1

On 30 June 2016, Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Ltd. (¥4
R E (R) BRAF) (“Merchants Nanjing”) (being an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into the Nanjing 2016G01 land cooperation agreement (the
“Nanjing 2016G01 Land Cooperation Agreement”) with
Nanjing Renyuan Investment Co. Ltd. (A R{_&KEGR A7)
(“Nanjing Renyuan”) (being an independent third party) and
Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (fR AT %5 5= 3
EZEEAMR AT (“Poly Jiangsu”) (a substantial shareholder
of the Company’s subsidiary) pursuant to which, among other
things, a joint venture company (“JV Company”) will be set
up in the PRC specifically to engage in the development of the
Nanjing 2016G01 Land.

Pursuant to the Nanjing 2016G01 Land Cooperation
Agreement, each of Merchants Nanjing, Nanjing Renyuan
and Poly Jiangsu shall subscribe to the increase in registered
capital of the JV Company from RMB1,000 million to
RMB1,500 million so that their respective percentage of equity
interest in the JV Company shall become 36%, 33% and 31%
respectively and contribute to the remaining balance of the
consideration for the Nanjing 2016G01 land in the amount of
RMB4,820 million (“Nanjing 2016G01 Land Consideration”)
according to such proportion by 27 September 2016.

On 23 September 2016, after further negotiations, Merchants
Nanjing and Poly Jiangsu entered into the fund settlement
agreement (the “Fund Settlement Agreement”) to agree
on the arrangements in relation to, among other matters,
the form of contribution to be made by Poly Jiangsu to
the remaining balance of the Nanjing 2016G01 Land
Consideration.

As at 31 December 2016, the percentage of equity interests
of Merchants Nanjing, Nanjing Renyuan and Poly Jiangsu in a
JV Company was 36%, 33% and 31%.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

)

(continued)

Poly Jiangsu is a substantial shareholder of the Company’s
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary, Nanjing Shanjieyi
Property Development Company Limited R Z&EN%EEHER
AR A7 (“Nanjing Shanjieyi”), Poly Jiangsu therefore is a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level, the
provision of the interest bearing loan of RMB723 million by
Poly Jiangsu to the JV Company secured by a charge of 15%
equity interest of the JV Company provided by Merchants
Nanjing in favour of Poly Jiangsu as contemplated under the
Fund Settlement Agreement constitutes a financial assistance
received by the Group and hence a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) have approved the Fund Settlement Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder and the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) have
confirmed that the terms of the Fund Settlement Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. By reason
of the aforesaid, pursuant to rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, the Fund Settlement Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder will only be subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but exempt from the
circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

None of the Directors has any material interest in the Fund
Settlement Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, and none of the Directors was required to abstain
from voting on the board resolution approving the Fund
Settlement Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(2)

On 18 August 2016, the Company and China Merchants
Properties Development Limited (the “Seller”) entered
into (i) a sale and purchase agreement (the “Coming
Wealth SP Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company
has conditionally agreed to purchase, and the Seller has
conditionally agreed to sell the entire share capital of Coming
Wealth Limited (“Coming Wealth”) and the Coming Wealth
sale loan for a total consideration of approximately HK$505
million (subject to adjustment but capped at HK$506
million) (“Coming Wealth Consideration”); and (ii) a sale
and purchase agreement (the “Cheuk Tak SP Agreement”),
pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally agreed to
purchase, and the Seller has conditionally agreed to sell, the
entire share capital of Cheuk Tat Development Limited (“Cheuk
Tak”) and the Cheuk Tat sale loan for a total consideration
of approximately HK$608 million (subject to adjustment but
capped at HK$609 million) (“Cheuk Tak Consideration”).

(collectively, the “Acquisitions”)

As some of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Acquisitions
(by reference to the capped amount of the Coming Wealth
Consideration and the Cheuk Tat Consideration) are more
than 5% but less than 25%, the Acquisitions on an aggregate
basis constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules and is therefore subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules.

The Acquisitions were approved by independent shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 11 October
2016. The Coming Wealth’s acquisition had completed
on 5 January 2017 whereby the Company had nominated
Converge Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
to take up all the Coming Wealth Consideration as adjusted
in accordance with the adjustment mechanism provided in
the Coming Wealth SP Agreement was HK$504,305,652.26.
Cheuk Tak’s acquisition to be completed pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the Cheuk Tak SP Agreement.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(3)

On 24 November 2016, Merchants Nanjing entered into the
Nanjing 2016G60 land cooperation agreement (“Nanjing
2016G60 Land Cooperation Agreement”) with Poly Jiangsu
and Nanjing Future Land Wanjia Real Estate Company Limited
(& s FHESR R A7) (“Nanjing Future Land”) (being
an independent third party) pursuant to which, among other
things, the parties will jointly invest in a joint venture company
(the “JV Company”) whereby the shareholding in the JV
Company shall ultimately change to the proportion of 33%,
33%, 34%. The purpose of the JV Company is to develop the
Nanjing 2016G60 Land which has been successfully bidded by
Nanjing Future Land.

Poly Jiangsu is a substantial shareholder of Nanjing Shanjieyi,
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
Poly Jiangsu is a connected person of the Company at
subsidiary level. Accordingly, the entering into the Nanjing
2016G60 Land Cooperation Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company and will be subject to
the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) have approved the Nanjing 2016G60 Land
Cooperation Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder and the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) have confirmed that the terms of
the Nanjing 2016G60 Land Cooperation Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. By reason
of the aforesaid, pursuant to rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, the Nanjing 2016G60 Land Cooperation Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder will only be
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from the circular, independent financial advice and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29 December 2015, the Company entered into an operational
agreement (“Operational Agreement”) with the then China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd. (“CMPD"), which has
merged with CMSK on 30 December 2015, pursuant to which
the Group shall provide project operational support services (i.e.
including but not limited to taking charge of land acquisition,
project development and sales) to certain project companies
currently owned by CMSK, for a fixed term of 3 years commencing
from 1 January 2016 up to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive). The management fees for each transaction under the
Operation Agreement shall be paid on a quarterly basis and will be
settled in cash.

The cap of the service charges payable by CMSK to the Group
for the Year under the Operational Agreement was set at
RMB13,000,000.

On 29 December 2015, the Company also entered into a property
management master agreement (“Property Management Master
Agreement”) with Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd. (3
ERYEEIEAR AR (“Merchants Property Management”), a
company established in the PRC and wholly-owned by the then
CMPD, pursuant to which, Merchants Property Management
shall provide property management services to the Group’s PRC
operating subsidiaries, for a fixed term of 3 years commencing
from 1 January 2016 up to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive). The property management fees for each transaction
under the Property Management Master Agreement will be paid
on a monthly basis and will be settled in cash.

The cap of the service charges payable by the Group to
Merchants Property Management for the Year under the Property
Management Master Agreement was set at RMB110,000,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Details of the terms of the Operational Agreement and Property
Management Master Agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 December 2015 for information.

CMPD is the former controlling shareholder of the Company, which
has merged with CMSK on 30 December 2015, after which CMSK
become the Company’s intermediate controlling shareholder and
indirectly holds approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Currently, Merchants Property Management is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK. Since each of CMSK and
Merchants Property Management is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated
under the Operational Agreement and the Property Management
Master Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since none of the relevant
applicable percentage ratios (defined under the Listing Rules)
of the proposed annual caps of the transactions contemplated
under the Operational Agreement and the Property Management
Master Agreement has exceeded 5%, the continuing connected
transactions under the Operational Agreement and the Property
Management Master Agreement are subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements and exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The terms of each of the Operational Agreement and the Property
Management Master Agreement have been arrived at after
arm’s length negotiations between the relevant parties. The
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) have
confirmed that the terms of each of the Operational Agreement
and the Property Management Master Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and reasonable,
on normal commercial terms or better and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor Messrs. Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited,
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, confirmed in their
letter made in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions Under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
that the subject continuing connected transactions had received
the approval of the Board, were in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Company, had been entered into in accordance
with the Operational Agreement and the Property Management
Master Agreement and had not exceeded the cap disclosed in the
announcement dated 29 December 2015.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year and
up to the date of this report.

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as
disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

To the extent of the above “Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS

(1) Nanjing 2016G01 Land Cooperation Agreement and the Fund
Settlement Agreement as disclosed on page 69 to page 70 of
this report;

(2) a subscription agreement dated 8 April 2016 entered into
between Cosmos Harvest Development Limited (“Cosmos
Harvest”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Maxwell Investment And Development Pte. Ltd.
("Maxwell Investment”) (being an independent third party)
and Poly Field International Investments Limited (82 EFE1%
EEMRAF]) (“Poly Field”) (being an independent third party)
as the target company, pursuant to which, among other
things, Cosmos Harvest will subscribe for new ordinary shares
in Poly Field at the aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB437 million in cash, upon completion of the transactions
thereunder, Poly Field would be held by Cosmos Harvest as to
60% and Maxwell Investment as to 40%. For details please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 April
2016.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any
circumstances which would be required to disclose herein pursuant
to the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

e On 31 December 2014, the Company as borrower
confirmed its acceptance of a term loan facility relating to a
UsD100,000,000 committed term loan facility with a bank
which has a term of 36 months commencing from the date of
initial drawdown;

e On 31 May 2016, the Company as borrower entered into
a loan agreement relating to a RMB640,000,000 term
loan facility with a bank which has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of initial drawdown.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

The following events would trigger breach of one or more of the
above mentioned loan agreements:

(i) CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
40% of the issued share capital of the Company;

(i) CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
51% of the issued share capital of the Company;

(iii) the shares of CMSK ceases for any reason to be listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor) or such listing is
suspended for more than 15 consecutive trading days due
to non-compliance with the rules of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (or its successor) or breach of any undertaking given
to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor);

(iv) China Merchants Group Limited ("CMG") ceases to be the
single largest shareholder of CMSK (beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly, the largest proportionate shareholding
or ownership interest in CMSK from time to time) and ceases
to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least 40% of the
entire shareholding or ownership interest in CMSK; or

(v) CMG ceases to be controlled by The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council of the PRC or any other similarly empowered
authorities of the PRC government.

The loan agreements dated 31 December 2014 and 31 May 2016
mentioned above contain cross default provisions so that if the
Company or any of its subsidiaries commits a default under any
other loan agreement(s) to which it is a borrower that entitles
any creditor to declare any borrowed monies under such loan
agreement(s) due and payable and the amount in aggregate
exceeds US$15,000,000, or its equivalent in other currencies it will
also constitute an event of default under those loan agreements.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant to
the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2014
and 31 May 2016, and the subsequent interim report/annual report
of the Company respectively.

As at 31 December 2016, the aggregate outstanding principal of
loans owed by the Group under the above loan agreements were
Us$100,000,000 and RMB640,000,000.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreements for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors and one of whom is non-
executive Director. During the Year and at the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)

Ms. LIU Ning
Dr. SHI Xinping
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee carries out its functions in accordance with
and the Listing Rules, including the following:

(i) reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors
of the Company, and reviews the internal auditor’s evaluation
of the adequacy of the Company’s and the Group’s system of
internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the
Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

(i) reviews the annual financial statements of the Company and
of the Group before their submission to the Directors of the
Company and the external auditor’s report thereon;

(iii) reviews the half year results announcements on the financial
performance and financial position of the Group before their
submission to the Board;

(iv) makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
external and internal auditors;

(v) meets with the external auditor, other committees and
management in separate executive sessions to discuss any
matters that these groups believe should be discussed
privately with the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
convened three meetings during the Year. The Audit
Committee has also met with the Company’s external auditor,
without the presence of the Company’s management, at least
once a year. The Audit Committee has recommended to the
Board the nomination of Messrs. Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited
for reappointment as independent auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming AGM.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group has entered into certain related party transactions as
disclosed in Note 40 to the financial statements. Save as disclosed
in this report, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as disclosed
in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of
internal controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate
governance are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report”in this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The independent auditor, Messrs. Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited has
expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment as independent
auditor of the Company. Messrs. Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited will
retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor shall be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
XU Yongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong
7 March 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2016 (the “Year”).

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a good corporate governance of
the Company is central to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders of the Group and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate
governance purposes, the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "HK CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(collectively, the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations
from code provisions A.4.1, A.6.7 and E.1.2 of the HK CG Code
which are explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report.
The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its businesses
and to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with the HK CG Code.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The primary role of the Board is to lead and control the Company's
operations and affairs and to protect and enhance long-term
shareholders’ value. The Board oversees the management of the
businesses and affairs of the Group and is responsible for the
overall performance of the Group.

The Board monitors the financial performance and the internal
controls of the Group’s business operations.

The Board is charged with promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the
best interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their
collective and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the
Group for the manner in which the affairs of the Company are
managed, controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep
abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To
facilitate effective management, certain functions have been
delegated to various Board committees, namely Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each
of which has its own written terms of reference and whose actions
are reported to and monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of
each committee is also constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in Code Provision D.3.1 of the HK CG Code. During the Year,
the Board has reviewed the corporate governance policy and
the Company’s internal codes for securities dealing. The Board
will review, consider and determine the appropriate policy for
corporate governance of the Company from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill
and fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non-
executive Directors have included the functions as specified in the
code provision A.6.2(a) to (d) of the HK CG Code.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors exercise no management
functions in the Group. Independent non-executive Directors
contribute to the Board process by monitoring and reviewing senior
management’s performance against goals and objectives. None of
the independent non-executive Directors has served the Board for
more than nine years from the date of his initial appointment.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

Board composition

The current Board comprised of eleven members, consisting of
four non-executive Directors, three executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors:

DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Nomination
Committee)

Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member of the Remuneration Committee)

Dr. YAN Chengda

Ms. LIU Ning (Member of the Audit Committee)

Executive Directors
Dr. SO Shu Fai

Mr. YU Zhiliang

Mr. WONG King Yuen

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee)

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee)

Dr. SHI Xinping (Member of Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. HE Qi

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules from time to time.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board composition (continued)

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise and independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the
Listing Rules. All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

The biography of the Directors are set out on pages 8 to 16 of this
report.

Board meetings

Four regular Board meetings were held during the Year roughly on
a quarterly basis. Dates for regular Board meetings are scheduled
in advance to provide sufficient time for the Directors to prepare
for. Special Board meetings were held when necessary. Notice of
meeting was given at least 14 days before the meetings. Directors
are consulted for matters to be included in the agenda and Board
papers will be served at least three days before the meeting.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the

EEgw)

Exged@

Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:

FR - BEENEFE  EZEZEE
¥FMEZ e s HFEEHEIIMT

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
g ENZEg REZEE FMzEg
Number of meeting held during the Year &£RE/T&E XY 4 3 2 2
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (ete ) S\ T S A (D) 03 _ 0/1 _
Mr. HUANG Junlong ®ete2) AR 5 A (Riz2) 3/3 _ _ 111
Dr. YAN Chengda ®ote YAN Chengdaff (%3 173 - - -
Ms. LIU Ning Bz + 4/4 3/3 - -
Ms. WU Zhengjin (ote 4 RIRE W0 i - 11 11
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai EREET 2/4 - - -
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE 4/4 - - -
Mr. WONG King Yuen tote 5 T BB 4 (Hizs) 2/3 - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert FoxERL 4/4 3/3 - 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanping BRECE LT 3/4 - 212 2/2
Dr. SHI Xinping PEHEL 2/4 2/3 212 -
Mr. HE Qi Eispts 4/4 - - -
Notes: iirsa
(1) Appointed as non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the (1) BZ=F—XF=5 +/\Eﬁ2§§&%#$ﬂﬁ§$ CEBEEETR
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 18 RARAFWEZEEGER - HRABFIER - FFRERELE
March 2016. Due to a business affair, Mr. XU could not attend the Board RZB-—RENA+TNE  ZB-RF+—-AZTHOAR=F
Meetings held on 18 August 2016, 24 November 2016 and 20 December 2016, —RETZAZTRRTZEFERAURR T —RFNA
and the Nomination Committee Meeting held on 18 August 2016. Mr. XU has TNBRGTZREZBESH - FAECETHEAERARET
appointed Mr. HUANG to act as his alternate for the Board Meetings held on 18 ARBRIRZF=—R"ENA+NB  ZE—RF+—A=+@
August 2016, 24 November 2016 and 20 December 2016, and the Nomination AR RE+T A +tHBTZEFERZUR-E X
Committee meeting held on 18 August 2016 respectively FNAT\HMRERZESSH LRHATSE
(2)  Appointed as non-executive Director and the member of the remuneration ~ (2) ~B=F—AF=A+/\BREZERIENTEFRARRZH
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. HUANG ZEEKE - BAEER-F-ANFAA+TNA  ZF—RF
acted as an alternate director to Mr. XU for the Board Meetings held on 18 T-AZtTMOAR=E-RE+A_HARTZERRSS
August 2016, 24 November 2016 and 20 December 2016, and the Nomination CE-RFENATNENERZREE SR LERFKEREZ
Committee meeting held on 18 August 2016. Mr. HUANG acted as an alternate BREEE - ERARZT—A"FNATN\HETZEFESSH
director to Dr. YAN for the Board Meeting held on 18 August 2016 EERYANE L BEES
(3)  Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18 March ~ (3)  B=F—NF=A+/\RREZERADAELIFNATES -
2016. Due to a business affair, Dr. YAN could not attend the Board Meetings MR EHRE - YANBEREHER _F—AFN\A+/\BR
held on 18 August 2016 and 24 November 2016. Dr. YAN has appointed Mr. CE-RFT-ASFTWARTZEFEEE c YANBLEER
HUANG to act as his alternate for the Board Meeting held on 18 August 2016 TEREERABEAUR T -AFNATN\RRITZESS
gmIRETE
(4)  Resigned as non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the Board, ~ (4 B =F—<F=AT/\BRFEARFIFNTES - KRR
the chairman of the nomination committee and member of the remuneration BRREIRRFMEZEEKE
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016
(5)  Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18 (5) BT~ "®=A+/\REEZTRAREZERITES

March 2016
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and
decisions reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised
by the Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given
by any Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis, Directors
are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters relevant to the
Group and attend briefings and seminars as appropriate. Guideline
is available for Directors to obtain independent professional advice
at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their duties.
The Company has also arranged appropriate liability insurance
cover in respect of legal action against its Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. XU Yongjun, a non-executive Director, is the chairman of the
Board. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

At the beginning of the Year, the Company had not appointed an
individual to take the role a chief executive officer. However, Mr.
YU Zhiliang, an executive Director who has been re-designated
from the chief financial officer to general manager of the Company
on 18 August 2016 is currently responsible for the Group’s strategic
development and operational plans, and in particular, the day-to-
day operations of the Company’s business, which are as same as
the duties discharged by a chief executive officer. Therefore, the
Company considers that the division of responsibilities between
the chairman and the role of a chief executive has been achieved
within the Company’s written guidelines.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and
report to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training
course for the Directors at the Company’s expenses.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision A.6.5 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:

BEEEI )
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K IXEE -

Topics of training covered
FrRE I EE

Non-executive Directors
Mr. XU Yongjun

Mr. HUANG Junlong

Dr. YAN Chengda

Ms. LIU Ning

Executive Directors
Dr. SO Shu Fai

Mr. YU Zhiliang

Mr. WONG King Yuen

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert

Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

Notes:

(1) Corporate governance

(2)  Regulatory updates

(3)  Finance, accounting or commercial

(4)  Industry updates

(5) Legal

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate

the discharge of their responsibilities.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to facilitate
the day-to-day operation of the Group in the ordinary course
of business to the senior management and divisional heads of
different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the
Board to senior management include execution of business
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of
adequate internal controls and risk management procedures, and
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all
other cases, an agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent
in full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days
before the intended date of a Board meeting.
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

(continued)

Management is aware that they have an obligation to supply
the Board and its committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The Board
and each Director have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management for making further enquires where
necessary.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised of three members:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Director:
Ms. CHEN Yanping (Member)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is regulated by a set of terms of reference.

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Director to the Board. The Group
has adopted a nomination procedure and the Board, based on
the criteria established, evaluate and select candidates for the
directorships. The Nomination Committee has considered the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board committees in
addition to the contribution by the chairman and each individual
director to the effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis.
The performance evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the
structure, composition and size of the Board, the Board’s access
to complete, adequate and timely information, Board’s procedures
and accountability. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Nomination Committee will ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be
made. The performance criteria that the Nomination Committee
will consider in relation to an individual Director include the
Director’s industry knowledge and/or expertise, time and effort
dedicated to the Group’s business and affairs, work commitments,
attendance and participation at the Board and Board committee
meetings. Each member of the Nomination Committee shall abstain
from voting on any resolutions and making recommendation and/
or participating in respect of the matters in which he is interested.

The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one regular
meeting in a year. Additional meetings shall be held as and when
required. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually.
The Nomination Committee satisfied that the independence
of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors meets
the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nominating Committee has assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied that there are
no relationships which would deem any of the independent non-
executive Directors not to be independent. The Board is able to
exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide
the management with a diverse and objective perspective on issues.

Notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board
representations, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the
Directors to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects
of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted since
September 2013.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
qualifications and experience, cultural and educational background,
race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service. In forming its
perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The Nomination Committee would review the
measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress of attainment, so as to ensure effective implementation.
The Nomination Committee is satisfied that the current board
composition has achieved a diversity and would enhance the
quality of performance of the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
and the committee has performed the following duties:

reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

— recommended re-election of the retiring Directors after
assessing their contribution and performance, and has
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the board in
accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules;

—  considered and nominated new Directors for recommendation
to the Board for appointment during the Year;

—  made recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
authorised representations of the Company under the Listing
Rules and the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong);

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; and

— recommended the appointment of general manager and
change of chief financial officer.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Code provision A.4.1 of the HK CG Code stipulated that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. The non-executive Directors and all the independent
non-executive Directors do not have specific terms of appointment
which is a deviation from the said HK CG Code. However, all
of them are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting (“AGM") according to the Company’s
Articles of Association. The Board considers that the requirement
has the same effect of accomplishing the same objective as a
specific term of appointment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:
Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert (Member)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least twice a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. In setting
remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration the pay and employment conditions within the
industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group's
relative performance and their individual performance. The
Remuneration Committee will seek expert advice on remuneration
of all Directors as and when necessary.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms
of reference. Its key functions include:

e reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company’s
policies and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration as are competitive and
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate Directors and
senior management of the required quality to run the
Company successfully and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

e ejther determining (with delegated responsibility) or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management;

e  reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

° reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the Year and has
performed the following duties:

— reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors, in
particular, the remuneration packages of the newly appointed
Directors and senior management during the Year,

- made recommendation to the Board on remuneration
packages of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors and senior management;
and

—  reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration payable to an executive Director in connection
with the cessation of office.
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DIRECTOR’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period.
In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made prudent
and reasonable judgments and estimates and have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also
warrant that the Group’s financial statements will be published in
a timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to
provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and
assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects. The
management currently provides the Board with monthly update on
the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company is set out in
the "Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 110 to 119.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group
and the interests of shareholders and consider the governance
of risk. Annual review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
has been conducted by the management and reviewed by the
Board. The Audit Committee is satisfied that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the
internal control system is inadequate. Review will be made at least
annually to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk
management and the internal control system of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on
each audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to
their risk rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced
its internal audit function to an independent accounting firm,
Messrs. SHINEWING Risk Services Limited to perform a review
of the internal control system of the Group with a focus on the
property business. During the Year, the Group has complied with
code provision C.2 of the HK CG Code by establishing appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: ldentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in the year 2016, no
significant risk was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group'’s assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

. Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

e  Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

J2| B B I8 % A B BE 4 ()

AEEREEN
EXeARAERRAREREREMAERZ NALE
7 UHERRRERAEEEE -

NEEERGUREM B ERNEZHE -
ERRBEREREREZRBAE

BRME &

K2 & B #lE A Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission([ COSO |)
ZE-=FERZ NEREEIE RS o ZIERERERELE
EREEAWMRMERE - M RE A S RETE
RERIER 2 BIR -

AIERZ HRER D FIREA T
o EARE: RAKEETRREERHEM L —

ERE  BFREE -

o ERRAE  BRERXEREABIRSTER 2=
BARSRE B R - WA E IR R LR AR ER o

o EHTTE  MHMERNMEFHIEITE - URRERE
BRRERERIAER B IR Z B ERT -

o EBHLEHN  RAEBRMETAREEMFE
Kz RER RSN ERiBER

B85 REEABERE 2 SAKTNEEFER
BITTMEIT 2B R BB -

“TRoREFHR BERRBEMARAR

97



98

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sz A R
TEEERERE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An
effective information platform has been created to enable relevant
and timely information are sent to the Board for decision making.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate
a good control environment for handling and dissemination of
inside information. The access of information is restricted to a
limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees
who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality
agreements are in place when the Group enters into significant
negotiations. Where necessary, Directors to speak on behalf of the
Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of
2016, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted at least
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review,
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment (ii) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.
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TRER/RE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

The Audit Committee is satisfied that nothing has come to its
attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the internal
control system and risk management system are inadequate or
ineffective.

The Board through the reviews of the internal auditor and the
Audit Committee is of the opinion that the Group’s internal control
system and risk management system is adequate and effective to
address the financial, operational and compliance, information
technology control and risk management systems to meet the
needs of the Group in its current business environment.

Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the
resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were
adequate and the training programs and budget provided were
sufficient.

The Audit Committee considered the internal audit function is
adequately resourced. The internal audit function is staffed with
persons with relevant qualifications and experience. The Audit
Committee also considers that the internal auditor has carried out
its function according to appropriate professional standards and
has its standings.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert (Chairman)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

Non-executive Director
Ms. LIU Ning (Member)

All of them are independent non-executive Directors. Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, Albert has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Board considers that Dr. SHI Xinping and Ms. LIU Ning have
sufficient financial knowledge and experience to discharge their
responsibilities as members of the Audit Committee. None of
the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee adopted its new terms of reference in
November 2015 which is applicable to the Company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance, financial reporting, internal control and risk
management.

Its key functions include:

e reviewing the audit plans and results of the external auditor
of the Company and the internal auditor’s evaluation of the
adequacy of the Company’s system of internal controls, the
audit reports and management letters issued by the external
auditor and the co-operation given by the Company’s
management to the external auditor;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor and internal
auditor, and to review the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services
provided by the external auditor;

reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure the
integrity of the financial statements of the Company and
focus in particular on the changes in accounting policies and
practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting
from the audit and compliance with financial reporting
standards;

reviewing interim and annual financial statements and
announcements before submission to the Board for approval;
and

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management and reviews the findings of the
internal auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings
in a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact
of the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on
the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
relevant legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the
Board regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the Company’s external auditor.

The Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2016 published on 7 March 2017 was reviewed by
the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and
has performed the following duties:

— met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

—  considered and discussed the reports and presentations by the
senior management and the external auditor, with a view to
ensure that the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong;

— met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements
and key audit issues;

— assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
evaluating, establishing and maintaining effective systems of
internal control;

—  carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

— reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget; and

—  reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company’s affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management
expertise and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s
function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material issues,
and makes recommendations to the Board.
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SREARE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional
services provided by the Company’s auditor, Messrs. SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited, is set out as follows:

¥ BB BN
RER « KD AZEEEARN(ES) B AEBHH
BIRARIREHZRE 2 FMBIIOT

(RMB’000)

(AR¥F )
Audit services EZ R 1,247
Non-audit services IEEARFS 141
Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in  IEFEZRBEFEFPREEN FEFAEIFEHNR
connection with the interim report review, continuing connected R HIFE(E o
transactions review and internal controls assessment.
The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’ TZZEECEEREQTMACHEMEESAD
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics  EESFRITE NRE 2B AR B EREE M - I
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of ~ EBHHEZEKHR - EERZHERBEUERBREEMT -

Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review
of the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and
objectivity of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and the
Board has concurred with the nomination of Messrs. SHINEWING
(HK) CPA LIMITED, for reappointment as independent auditor of
the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Board has
established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the Company’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information
in relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific
enquiry to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all
Relevant Employees have complied with the written guidelines
regarding securities transactions during the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
During the Year, the company secretary, Ms. CHAN Wing Yan, A& -
undertook at least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was
an employee of the Company. Ms. CHAN resigned as a company
secretary of the Company with effect from 3 January 2017.

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings
held during the Year were as follows:

REWE
AFREREE L L (AATRR) BEITED
158/ AR B A - RALER =B —£F— 7
ZAREARTATWE -

BRAE
EERFNBRTZREAG ZHEREFEMT -

Annual General

Extraordinary

Meeting general
held on Meeting held

26 April 2016 11 October 2016

R-ZZE—RF R-Z—RF
Number of meeting held ERETZ MAZ+XA#TZ +A+—B#ET2
during the Year RERE BREBFRE RERFAIRE
Non-executive Directors FEHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun ®ote 1) S S\ TR S (watn) 0/1 1/1
Mr. HUANG Junlong (ete 2) = PR o A (ma2) 11 171
Dr. YAN Chengda (ete 3) YAN Chengdal& 4 ®#is) 0/1 11
Ms. LIU Ning 2w+ iVl 11
Ms. WU Zhengjin Mote 4 R EY 2 A= (aza) - -
Executive Directors HITEFE
Dr. SO Shu Faj ot 9 ARGl I 18 1 (ats) 1”1 0/1
Mr. YU Zhiliang REREE 11 1/1
Mr. WONG King Yuen Mote®) B R 7T A (e) 11 11
Independent non-executive Directors B HBITESE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert FoxkiEE L 1/1 1/1
Ms. CHEN Yanping PRAESE 20 1/1 171
Dr. SHI Xinping SEETFIEL 1”1 0/1
Mr. HE Qi Wote 7) {R] By ot (i 7) 01 11
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Notes:

(1) Appointed as non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 18
March 2016. Due to a business affair, Mr. XU could not attend the annual
general meeting held on 26 April 2016. Mr. XU has appointed Mr. HUANG to
act as his alternate for the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2016

(2)  Appointed as non-executive Director and the member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. HUANG acted
as an alternate director to Mr. XU for the annual general meeting held on 26
April 2016

(3) Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18
March 2016. Dr. YAN could not attend the annual general meeting held on
26 April 2016 due to a business affair. He has appointed Mr. YU to act as his
alternate for the said meeting

(4)  Resigned as non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the
Board, the chairman of the nomination committee and the member of the
remuneration committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016

(5)  Dr. SO could not attend the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2016 due
to a business affair

(6)  Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18
March 2016

(7)  Mr. HE could not attend the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2016 due
to a business affair

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings, and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. During the Year, Mr. XU Yongjun, Dr. YAN Chengda
(both are non-executive Directors) and Mr. HE Qi (an independent
non-executive Director), did not attend the AGM of the Company
held on 26 April 2016 due to other business engagement. Dr. SHI
Xinping could not attend the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 11 October 2016 due to a business engagement.

However, there were sufficient executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors present to
enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the Company’s shareholders.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. XU Yongjun,
chairman of the Board, could not attend the AGM held on 26 April
2016 due to other business engagement which was a deviation
from Code Provision E.1.2. However, he has appointed Mr. HUANG
Junlong, a non-executive Director, to be his alternate director and
acted as chairman of the AGM.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The Company established different communication channels
with shareholders and investors, including (i) printed copies of
corporate communications (including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, notices of meetings, circulars and proxy
forms and other corporate information) required under the Listing
Rules; (i) the general meetings of the Company provide a forum
for communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as the respective chairman
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members
of the respective committees are available to answer questions
for shareholders and stakeholders at the general meetings;
(iii) the Company’s registrars deal with shareholders for share
registration and related matters; and (iv) the Directors and/or
investor relationship team of the Company handles enquiries from
shareholders and investors generally.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with
shareholders as well as to provide disclosure of information
concerning the Group’s material developments to shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

AGM of the Company serves as an effective forum for
communication between shareholders and the Board. Notice of the
AGM together with the meeting materials are despatched to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20 business
days prior to the AGM.

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective Committees, are invited to the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders. External auditors are also
invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report,
the accounting policies and auditor independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

The Company’s last AGM was held on 26 April 2016 and an
extraordinary general meeting was held on 11 October 2016. All
the resolutions proposed at these meetings were approved by
shareholders of the Company by poll. Details of the poll results are
available under the “Announcements and Notices” section of the
Company’s website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll
in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required
and permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will
be explained to the shareholders at the inception of general
meeting to ensure that shareholders are familiar with such voting
procedures. Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue. The poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange on the same business day of the general meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

IR SRR (a)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be convened
on the written requisition of any one member of the Company
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as
set out above specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by
the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results
in a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing
Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general
meetings on each separate issue, including the election of
individual Directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll
at the annual general meeting will also be included in the circular
to shareholders dispatched together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are
made available on the Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar:
Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATION (continued)

Other enquiries or comments raised by any shareholder to the
Board can be directed to the Board by any one of the following
means:

By mail to: Room 2603 to 2606 26/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

By email to: ir@cmland.hk

By phone to: (852) 3976 5300

By facsimile to: (852) 2116 0057

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward proposals
at the general meeting under the Company’s Articles of Association
or under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (2012 Revision) (Cap. 22), of
the Cayman Islands. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out
above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business
specified in such written requisition.

During the Year, there has been no change in the Company's
constitutional documents.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 120
to 259, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBENRE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Carrying value of properties for sale

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 150.

The key audit matter
BRERSE

FRREZEE#)
At EYE 2 REE

2R A IS IRERN 21 RE 1508 2 @FHHCR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit
B AFIA B I RSB 1E

The Group has properties for sale with carrying value of
approximately RMB32,035,534,000 as at 31 December 2016. It
represents completed properties for sale and properties under
development for sale of approximately RMB6,378,266,000 and
RMB25,657,268,000 respectively, and is held at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

RZE-—RFT+ZA=+—H BEXEHEEFRHEHENARARE
32,035,534,0007C 2 FI I E W - AT EMRERFEHEDRT
MERAFEEEERPYED AL AR6,378,266,0007T & AR
25,657,268,0007C * MR AR A BB FEME 2 BIEERFE °

Assessments of the net realisable values of completed properties
for sale and properties under development for sales are carried out
at each reporting date and are dependent on the Group's estimates
of selling prices, costs of completion (if any) and selling expenses.
FELEERIMERAHLEERTDEZAER FEZAERE
WG BEET > WHURRESBEHER  RIRA(NE) REERX
ZfhEt .

A change in the Group’s estimate of selling prices, costs of
completion or selling expenses could have a material impact on the
carrying value of properties for sale in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

EEENUER RIKNAHIHERX G2 EH R HESE
B MR AIMEHE YR REEEKE

BiZa

'ﬂ/s
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Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment process and understand
and assess the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used to estimate the net realisable
value of properties for sale.

B EFEERNEERE 2 G BE - WEER R
TR EME TR FEMATERBRR
SR .

We have discussed with management to
understand the status and future plan for each
property development project and assessed
the assumptions of management’s assessment
including but not limited to estimated selling
prices, costs of completion and selling expenses. In
the assessment process, we have also considered
estimated selling prices against available recent
prices achieved in the relevant real estate market,
if any, the ageing of properties for sale and
sufficiency of provision for slow-moving items.
BMERSFEHERBER REREETN® - UK
BRI R ARKETE - RAEERE 2 hR&
(BR/ETRAGEFEE  BRIKAREERS) - B
FHEBIER - BB S EAE R E HtE T % 2 T B
ZE(E) IHEEWE 2 EBERARBEIER
BEsmEMERMMETERE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling equity holders of the
Group

Refer to notes 19 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 151 and 155.

The key audit matter
HRELEE

B EZEE w)
EyEsE NG S8 tEREEEFERER
BEAREZGE

2GR A M B RERMFE19R22A KR E151 %1558 &
FETGR ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EPIRERE N EEEER

The Group has amounts due from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling equity holders of the Group of approximately
RMB1,460,578,000, RMB1,325,504,000 and RMB2,828,108,000
respectively as at 31 December 2016.

RZB-RE+ZA=+—H BESKESFIEFRKHEELRF &%
rENESEIFERERTA AFIRHARK,460,578,0007T - AR
#£1,325,504,0007T }2 A R #52,828,108,0007T ©

There are significant judgement and assumptions involved as to the
ability to repay the outstanding amounts by the respective entities.
EERERNAEERE NS RBERHEH RER -

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment process and understand
and assess the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used to estimate the recoverability of
amounts due from the respective entities.

Bz RF RN ERE M HIBE - WEE N
b ET IS BRI 2 Pl B E AT A 2 77 VA MR
Bpd=pii

We have discussed the indicators of possible
impairment with the management and, where
such indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing; and
BMESAIEHIR CORENREERE R - KM
MZEDR - HERE ORBEASETTE - K

We have understood and assessed the assumptions
and critical judgment used by the management by
assessing the reliability of the management’s past
estimates and taking into account the calculation
methodologies, economic factors, financial
position of the respective entities and settlements
received after year end, if any.
BMEERTHEEEREMACARERZEREFNE
FE - RBAE - REBZ VIR KR & IER
ZHEAWNE)  BREMTEEREEMAZBRREXR
FIE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Income tax

Refer to notes 9 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 166 and 167.

The key audit matter
BRERSE

FRREZEE#)
Frig#
2HA
SR o

IS RERMITEOR20A K FE 166 K 167TE 2 &

How the matter was addressed in our audit
B AFIA B I RSB 1E

The Group is subject to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). However, the
implementation of the tax varies amongst different cities of the
PRC and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their LAT
calculations with their local tax authorities. Accordingly, significant
judgement and estimates from the management of the Group are
required in determining the amount of LAT and the corresponding
deferred tax assets arising from LAT.
BEEEEGSMNPEARIME (PR T ugER (T L3 EH ) -
AT B BB EREARM T ME - BEEEE W AREE N
BEETE TIHE < T HIGETFERE - Bt - REE L IEE
HeEhELMBRENREEHERECHEEEN  EXEEERER
PEH B AR HE R (A5t -

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has recognised deferred tax
assets of approximately RMB500,662,000 in the consolidated
statement of financial position, of which approximately
RMB361,061,000 arose from LAT provision. For the year ended 31
December 2016, income tax expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of approximately RMB1,427,265,000, of which approximately
RMB753,088,000 and RMB91,594,000 represented LAT charge
and a credit of deferred tax arising from LAT, respectively.
RZE-—RETZA=+—0H  E5BERGEMBRARERELT
BiIEE EH) AR #500,662,0007T  EA# ARK361,061,0007T 8 £
HISERBEEL - BE_T—AF+tZA=T—HLEFE  R&KsE
BalkAtrmRaRBRZMERMXHO/ARE1,427,265,000
7T HF 9 AR#753,088,0007T &2 A R#91,594,0007T 5 Rl #8 L 1
BN RIS ERES 2 RERIEER S ©
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Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s own calculation of LAT and
corresponding deferred tax assets and assessed the
reasonableness of the methods and assumptions
used in the calculations.
BM2EFEEREEER S H L IR ET LA
BREFIEEECFE - REAERAB 27 ERR
Bpd=pidia

We have understood and assessed the assumptions
and critical judgment used by the management
in computing LAT provision by assessing the
reliability of the management’s past estimates and
taking into account the calculation methodologies,
relevant laws and regulations, and stages of
completion of the property development projects.
BMEERTHEEERT A cAUREREREHNE
FE - MEEAERERREHEREIER 2R TR -
B RATHEEIEE AN B T IR ER R 2 RER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors of the Company and
Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FRREZEE#)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the REMBREX RSN BRREAEZEEH)
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o WBEERFAFELLSHEM RS  WAR

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the °
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the e
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, HMEEBEERABER(EPEIE)EXTIEZTE
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit &3 - BRI R EAEZER  ZLEBRAERANE
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies — #HARIFr 8t Bl 2 N ERESIE 2 (T & ABRIA ©

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is WONG Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

WONG Hon Kei, Anthony
Practising Certificate Number: PO5591
Hong Kong

7 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GelEmkHMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE_F—FL+_A=1+—HIFE

2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®T T AREFIT
Revenue W25 5 11,606,442 6,394,944
Cost of sales SHEE R ZX (8,269,296)  (4,838,012)
Gross profit EF 3,337,146 1,556,932
Other income Haplg A 7 213,032 87,002
Net foreign exchange losses FE N BB S 5E (190,249) (155,713)
Selling and marketing expenses SUE A S (269,760) (219,738)
Administrative expenses TS H (130,201) (98,352)
Fair value (loss) gain on derivative AT AZAFAEER)
financial instruments W25 E=E 29 (56,524) 6,980
Share of losses of associates SEEE N T 2 EiE 17 (44,030) (36,485)
Share of losses of joint ventures DAY Y EE 18 (20,930) (6,850)
Finance costs BE R 2 8 (296,165) (206,363)
Profit before tax B A B2 10 2,542,319 927,413
Income tax expense PG H 9 (1,427,265) (571,946)
Profit for the year IR B 5 1,115,054 355,467
Other comprehensive income, Hip 2wzt
net of income tax (BRI HL)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HignEoEREx%yER
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BINEBREEE ZEH 258
translating foreign operations 20,166 24,431
Profit and total comprehensive income INE R F R 2 mE W S a%a
for the year 1,135,220 379,898
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ATEEAREE R
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETEZ 2= DN 811,449 185,416
Non-controlling interests JEi AR RE RS 303,605 170,051
1,115,054 355,467
Profit and total comprehensive income AR AT B ARFE R R &
for the year attributable to: 2 E RS EEE
Owners of the Company RATER A 831,615 209,847
Non-controlling interests FEPERR 303,605 170,051
1,135,220 379,898
Earnings per share FIREF 13
Basic (RMB cents) HAR(ARBL) 16.54 3.78
Diluted (RMB cents) s (AR 16.54 3.78
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

At 31 December 2016
R-F—NFF+=—H=+—H

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥BFTr ARETT
Non-current assets REBEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MRS 14 61,913 36,185
Investment properties BEME 15 801,159 21,759
Goodwill S 16 160,210 160,210
Interests in associates iR NCIA 17 192,985 237,015
Interests in joint ventures NN P 18 108,644 8,404
Other receivables EH i e R IE 19 745,791 =
Deferred tax assets FEEFIBE E 20 500,662 370,236
Derivative component of convertible bonds — A[3HEH 2 $TE T A5 29 - 168,570
2,571,364 1,002,379

Current assets RBEE
Properties for sale A e 21 32,035,534 29,323,044
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights U F& + 3t {F AR H1R & 1,275,940 =
Trade and other receivables SR H A EW A 22 6,307,077 4,653,618
Tax recoverable BIEEEE 329,080 187,337
Derivative component of convertible bonds — AJ# A% (E% 2 HT4E T A D 29 116,451 =
Bank balances and cash RITHEBKIRS 23 5,810,922 3,697,337
45,875,004 37,861,336

Current liabilities REEE

Deposits received in respect of BlTaE
pre-sale of properties MER S 10,350,183 9,688,696
Trade and other payables 78 & H At FE T I 24 6,060,389 5,243,279
Loans from equity holders BREHAEAER 25 6,443,021 1,818,105
Tax payable P B TE 624,925 316,777
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 27 2,572,000 1,105,202
26,050,518 18,172,059
Net current assets mENEEFE 19,824,486 19,689,277
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRGEHAR 22,395,850 20,691,656

Non-current liabilities ERBEaE

Loans from equity holders BESEEAEBER 25 207,374 682,251
Other payables H{th B~ 3508 26 14,748 -
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 27 2,705,590 3,451,416
Bonds payable FERHE = 28 3,426,732 3,206,939
Convertible bonds B ES 29 1,714,915 1,533,339
Derivative component of convertible bonds — AI# A% (&% 2 H14 T B 285 29 73,044 72,675
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 20 145,477 59,946
8,287,880 9,006,566
Net assets EEFEE 14,107,970 11,685,090
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R 3R

At 31 December 2016
REZF—NFF+=—H=+—H

2016 2015
—B-RF CT—AF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
et ARETT ARETT
Capital and reserves BEARK B

Share capital [N 30 39,132 39,132
Reserves HE 5,954,284 5,139,064

Equity attributable to owners RABHEE ARIEER
of the Company 5,993,416 5,178,196
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RE RS 42 8,114,554 6,506,394
Total equity RSB 14,107,970 11,685,090

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 259 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 7
March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

YU ZHILIANG
RER
Director

EF
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Director

EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
.

Attributable to the owners of the Company

KATERER AL
Convertible
Equity bonds Non-
Share Share Other transaction equity Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserves reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
TERES

Bx  RGEE R #ERGEE  BEGE  ENRRE  REX & FRREE  EEER
RMB0OO  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'OOD  RMBO0D  RMB'OO0  RMBOOD  RMB00D
ARBTTL ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

(note ii) (note )
(Hidtii) (Hiiti)

At 1 January 2015 RZZ-15-A-R 39132 6,180,826 (2,402,195 (958,955) = 3085 1,730,003 459189 6,332,821 10,924,717
Profit for the year KEEEH - - - - - = 185,416 185,416 170,051 355,467
Other comprehensive income for the year  AEEEf2EUE :

- Exchange differences arising on -ENERREEE Y ERER

translating of foreign operations - - - - - 24,431 - 24,431 - 24,431

Profit and total comprehensive income  AEEEF R

for the year 2ENGES - = = = = 24,431 185,416 209,847 170,051 379,898
Acquisition of additional interest BE-RE2ENBAR BMER

in a non-wholly owned subsidiary = = = 978 = = = 978 4,022 5,000
Recognition of equity component ERTRRES 2 REDD (Hit29)

of convertible bonds (note 29) - - - - 414,329 - - 414,329 - 414,329
Dividend declared (note 12) BERRE W 12) - (388%) - - - - - (3885 - (3885
At 31 December 2015 W_E-RF+-A=1-H 39132 6141972 (2,402,195  (957,977) 414,329 27516 1915419 5178,19% 6,506,894 11,685,090
At 1 January 2016 RZE-—~E-A-B 39132 6,141,972 (2,402,195) (957,977) 414,329 27516 1915419 517819 6,506,894 11,685,090
Profit for the year REEET
Other comprehensive income for the year:  AEEEH2ENE : - - - - - - 811,449 811,449 303,605 1,115,054

~ Exchange differences arising on - EBREEE R ZR

translating of foreign operations - - - - - 20,166 - 20,166 - 20,166

Profit and total comprehensive FERRHREANEAE

income for the year - - - - - 20,166 811,449 831,615 303,605 1,135,220
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries without ~ ERHIEAEEG TRIEHE

change of control (notes 31(ij) and (i) BB BHEE31) R i) - = = 4,043 = = = 4,043 (4,043) =
Capital injection from non-controlling REFERERFEALE ML)

equity holders (note i) - - - - - - - - 1,030,235 1,030,235
Acquisition of non-wholly owned fERAEREAR 2 E

subsidiaries accounted for MED AR (HiE3)

as assets acquisition (note 33) - - - - - - - - 291,372 291,372
Incorporation of a non-wholly Bl AV €21 N

owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - 6,000 6,000
Dividend declared to non-controlling RIERERREASRRS

equity holders (note 12) (Hi#12) = = = = = = = = (19,509) (19,509)
Dividend declared (note 12) CERRE(HE12) - (20,438) - - - - - (20,438) - (20,438)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—~ETZA=1-AH 39132 6121534 (2,402,195 (953,934) 414329 47682 272688 5993416 8,114,554 14,107,970
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2016

EHEr=

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

F A At —ALEE

Included in retained profits of RMB379,647,000 (2015: RMB378,590,000)
represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”). According to the relevant laws in the PRC,
wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their net
profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-
distributable reserve fund before the distribution of a dividend to equity owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years’ losses, if any, and is
non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

The other reserves comprise of:

(@)  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company, Success
Well Investments Limited (“Success Well”) arising from the completion of
restructuring in prior years;

The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring in
prior years as deemed distribution to Success Well; and

(c)  The difference between (i) the consideration of the restructuring; and
(ii) the paid-up capital of the entities involved in the restructuring
contributed by intermediate holding company, Eureka Investment
Company Limited at the date of restructuring, deducted by the share
capital and share premium of the Company at the date of restructuring.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, non-controlling equity holders
injected capital into the following subsidiaries.

(a) On 30 March 2016, Shenzhen lJiayin Shengshi Investment Management
Partnership Co. Ltd.* (“Jiayin Shengshi”) subscribed registered capital
of Foshan Yi Yun Guan Yuan Property Development Co., Ltd* (“Yi Yun
Guan Yuan"”) of RMB20,000,000, for details please see note 31(ii).

Shenzhen Lianxin Investment and Management Company Limited*
subscribed registered capital of RMB49,000,000 to incorporate a
subsidiary, BIRBFREIREFR AR

(c) On 30 June 2016, Nanjing Renyuan Investment Co., Ltd.* (“Nanjing
Renyuan”) and Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Poly Jiangsu”) subscribed registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi
Property Development Company Limited* (“Nanjing Shanjieyi”) of
RMB490,000,000 in total. On 28 December 2016, Nanjing Renyuan and
Poly Jiangsu further subscribed registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi
of RMB470,000,000 and contributed capital reserve of RMB1,235,000.
As a result, the registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi increased to
RMB1,500,000,000, for details please see note 31(iii).

* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose
only
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(iii)

RE %M ARY379,647,000 T (Z T —FHE : AR
378,590,0007T ) /PR 2 A R MBI ([ B ) Az 2 B8 A R
ZIETEERE o MBFEAAMER  RPEZIINEBELERA
BERFAADRREA - AEBRBRE A FEZPESHR
BIFEE) ETADRFEEES - BEFEES A AEEHEAT
FEZEBB(A) BRELRES - TAZBEES AT
DIk °

HipERERE

(@) BEFESATKMELRBEEREZERARNKERER
BB ([ ZIRERE

(b) BEFEEMTKAELHERD ZKERERKEZ
Dk R

(@ (OEAZKE: R()ZEHRMEZEARNRZEEER
BRAFRIECZEMTE  BEBNEARPZBHBA
ZEENRARRNER R RABRREHE -

BE-T—R"EF+-A=+—BLFE  FERERFEAR
THIHEAREE °
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b)) FIBEHFREEEERATDNRBAMEARAARE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

2016 2015
—E-RE “E-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEEK
Profit before tax BRI ATEF 2,542,319 927,413
Adjustments for: BTNFIHEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME  BERRETE 5,775 5,092
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 668 917
Expenses on issuance of convertible bonds BITAHARE S 2 X - 3,597
Finance costs BERA 296,165 206,363
Interest income FlBUA (151,820) (77,021)
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREWE 2 Wz (22,179) =
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE  BEREZE 2 (W) ER (38) 28
Share of losses of associates [E(REEE N R 2 BB 44,030 36,485
Share of losses of joint ventures EihEEhEZEE 20,930 6,850
Fair value loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments MHESR T A Z AN EEE (W) 56,524 (6,980)
Unrealised foreign exchange losses, net RERERBEFE 333,643 326,401
Operating cash flows before movements EEECEHR KB ENE
in working capital 3,126,017 1,429,145
Increase in properties for sale AT EYEE M (2,403,159) (3,219,652)
(Increase) decrease in deposit paid for acquisition of Wi + e R AT (RS (380
land use rights (1,275,940) 536,161
Increase in trade and other receivables B3 I H b FE M I I N (163,482) (164,396)
(Increase) decrease in restricted bank deposits for 48 ST B IR B SR 1T R (3200 />
operating use (58,530) 2,910
Increase in deposits received in respect of BEEMERSEM
pre-sale of properties 661,487 3,213,683
Increase in trade and other payables 75 N H A FE S FIE I AN 108,971 531,788
Cash (used in) generated from operations wE(FER RS (4,636) 2,329,639
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT B EAMEH (552,667) (431,165)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid BB LS ER ([ L ER ) (335,485) (496,795)
Interest received BUFI B 132,029 33,862
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM KEEE(ER)MERSFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (760,759) 1,435,541
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN Ao~ —1 %:Z
1172 N = | IE!@/)"JE
For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

2016 2015
—E-XE —hHE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ETFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Advance to non-controlling equity holders of RASENE R AT ER
subsidiaries of the Group BEABRT (1,473,041) (18,000)
Advance to joint ventures AEEhEBR (1,119,304) (563,350)
Advance to associates B =NETEE (1,015,630) (1,383,789)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of non wholly-owned WL BB AR AEE
subsidiaries accounted for as assets acquisition W AR 2 IR & 5 (359,968) =
Investments in joint ventures REEREZRE (121,170) (15,254)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEWE  BERSRE (31,806) (4,482)
Advance to a fellow subsidiary R—REZRHE AR (9,926) -
Investments in associates REE AR ZIRE - (273,500)
Repayment from associates B A RIERN 926,419 96,530
Repayment from joint ventures BEBEEN 360,263 =
Proceeds received on disposal of investment properties HEREMESHIE 35,953 -
Proceeds received on disposal of property, HEME - BERREMGTIE
plant and equipment 343 50
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETZHEAR S TE (2,807,867) (2,161,795)

126 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2016



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN N~ —1 %
7 = IE@/)ILE
For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —FE—NF1—A=1—HIFE

2016 2015
ZE-XE “E-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREET T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Bank borrowings repaid BRIRTEE (1,500,307) (5,373,420)
Repayment to non-controlling equity holders of BRSNS B g
subsidiaries of the Group BEAEX (1,172,902) (297,498)
Repayment to an intermediate holding company Al —REEER A RIER (1,130,156) -
Interest paid BAFE (575,073) (455,843)
Dividends paid BERAEE (39,947) (290,328)
Redemption of bonds EEES (3,382) =
Settlement of consideration for acquisition of WREIE2 EHT B A R EEIMER 2
additional interest in non-wholly owned subsidiaries REKE - (1,305,768)
Expenses on issue of convertible bonds BT RRESST - (35,982)
Advance from non-controlling equity holders of R ERNEBME A R IHE R S
subsidiaries of the Group BEAZEFN 3,637,821 552,370
Advance from an intermediate holding company RE—REBZERAR 2 BR 2,683,522 1,067,266
New bank and other borrowings raised HESRITRAMES 2,195,406 4,446,072
Capital contributed by non-controlling equity holders of RNEBHB A R IR E RS
subsidiaries of the Group BEANTE 1,030,235 98,000
Contribution from non-controlling equity holders of R EARNEBME A R IEE R S
subsidiary of the Group for incorporation of a non-wholly 8 AZtEfK I —FIEEE
owned subsidiary ERRHTB A Rl 2 SR 6,000 =
Advance from an associate RE—KBE R A2 2K 266,159 =
Advance from a joint venture RE—RELRELIBHN 173,800 -
Advance from fellow subsidiaries RERZRHERE] 22K 22,799 -
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BATIHARER TSR - 1,772,450
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RETEFMESHLTEHE 5,593,975 177,319
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN ReRERRSER LML) FE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,025,349 (548,935)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FURERERREER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,696,837 4,180,956
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EREEHTE
CHANGES 29,706 64,816
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRERREER -
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BRITEREB 5,751,892 3,696,837

“TREFH ERRBEMARAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e I R AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —F—NF1-A=1—HIFE

GENERAL

China Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”)
is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a limited liability
company and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 41.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Success
Well, which is a limited liability company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The intermediate holding
company is China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings
Co., Ltd. (“China Merchants Shekou”), which is established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The ultimate holding company
is China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG"). CMG is a PRC
enterprise regulated and directly managed by the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
the State Council and CMG is owned and controlled by the
PRC government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R IR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and
Interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative

HKAS 1

Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods
HKAS 16 and of Depreciation and Amortisation
HKAS 38

Amendments to
HKAS 27

Amendments to
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 28

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Amendments to
HKFRS 11

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and

FERHTR] RAIERI BB M BRELE
RI(TERMBHREER ) )

E BB R E Rz # 7] RAEIER] BB R
B EEA
AEEN EIRFRAATERMERRERZH

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 (2014)

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 7
Amendments to
HKAS 12
Amendments to
HKFRS 2
Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Financial Instruments2

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?
Leases3

Disclosure Initiative!

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses’

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions?

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts?

Clarification to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers?2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture4

A R ERI BB S 2R -

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective date not yet been determined.

~WN o

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R IR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE—F—NFrHA=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS
9 was amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
and for derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further
amended to bring into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge
accounting that will allow entities to better reflect their risk
management activities in the financial statements. A finalised
version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 to incorporate all
the requirements of HKFRS 9 that were issued in previous
years with limited amendments to the classification and
measurement by introducing a “fair value through other
comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI”) measurement category
for certain financial assets. The finalised version of HKFRS
9 also introduces an “expected credit loss” model for
impairment assessments.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.

NEFTZA=F—HILFE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved both
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit
or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

- With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 (2014) requires that the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in
the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is
presented in profit or loss.

- In the aspect of impairment assessments, the
impairment requirements relating to the accounting
for an entity’s expected credit losses on its financial
assets and commitments to extend credit were added.
Those requirements eliminate the threshold that was
in HKAS 39 for the recognition of credit losses. Under
the impairment approach in HKFRS 9 (2014), it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised. Instead, expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses
should always be accounted for. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition and,
consequently, more timely information is provided about
expected credit losses.
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2.

BE—FT— N NF+=-A=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

—  HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which more
closely aligns hedge accounting with risk management
activities undertaken by companies when hedging their
financial and non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-
based approach, HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a
risk component can be identified and measured and
does not distinguish between financial items and non-
financial items. The new model also enables an entity to
use information produced internally for risk management
purposes as a basis for hedge accounting. Under HKAS
39, it is necessary to exhibit eligibility and compliance
with the requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics that
are designed solely for accounting purposes. The new
model also includes eligibility criteria but these are
based on an economic assessment of the strength of
the hedging relationship. This can be determined using
risk management data. This should reduce the costs of
implementation compared with those for HKAS 39 hedge
accounting because it reduces the amount of analysis
that is required to be undertaken only for accounting
purposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application
permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of
HKFRS 9 (2014) in the future may have significant impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Group’s financial assets, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Thus, HKFRS 15
introduces a model that applies to contracts with customers,
featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions
to determine whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. The five steps are as follows:

i) Identify the contract with the customer;
i) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
iii)  Determine the transaction price;

iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and

v)  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable users
of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on
the amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group's
consolidated financial statements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the
financial statements of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, the
initial estimate of restoration costs and any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee. A lease liability is initially recognised at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. Lease liability is subsequently measured
by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payment made, and remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation and
impairment expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be
charged to profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS
16 Property, Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on
lease liability will be charged to profit or loss.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it
becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019 with early application permitted
provided that the entity has applied HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16. The directors of the Company are
in the process of assessing their impact on the consolidated
financial statements of these requirements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect until
the Group performs a detailed review.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendment to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The
amendments do not prescribe a specific method to fulfill the
new disclosure requirements. However, the amendments
indicate that one way is to provide a reconciliation between
the opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from
financing activities.

Amendments to HKAS 7 will become effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early
application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of Amendments to HKAS 7 will result in additional disclosures
on the Group’s financing activities, especially reconciliation
between the opening and closing balances in the consolidated
statement of financial position for liabilities arising from
financing activities will be provided on application.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements in determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significant of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirely, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares
its financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee
may be obtained through: (i) a contractual arrangement with
other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based on all
relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control of the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

A2 - F—NFfZH=1—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill relating to an associate or
a joint venture that included in the carrying amount of the
investment is set out in investments in associates and joint
ventures below.
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B2 —F—NF1-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. Under the equity method, investments
in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at
cost. The Group’s share of the profit or loss and changes
in the other comprehensive income of the associates and
joint ventures are recognised in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income respectively after the date of
acquisition. If the Group's share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate
or joint venture, which determined using the equity method
together with any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or
joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are provided for, and a liability
is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

BE—FT— N NF+=—A=1—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies
other than those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances, adjustments are made to make the
associate’s or joint venture’s accounting policies conform to
those of the Group when the associate’s or joint venture’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate or joint
venture is recognised as goodwill and is included in the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s or joint venture's losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional
impairment loss with respect to its investment in the associate
or joint venture. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
not separately recognised. The entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate
or joint venture. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture upon the Group losing significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
discontinues to apply equity method and any retained interest
is measured at fair value at that date which is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset
in accordance with HKAS 39. Any difference between the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture
and the carrying amount of the investment at the date the
equity method was discontinued is recognised in profit or loss.
Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that investment is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained earnings on the same basis as it would
have been required if the investee had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.
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BHE—F—

3.

NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group’s ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the
equity method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest is reclassified
to profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than properties under
construction less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

BE—FT— N NF+=—A=1—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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BE—FT— N NF+=-A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Properties for sale

Properties under development held for sale under current
assets are properties under development held for future sale in
the ordinary course of business and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land,
development expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined
based on prevailing market conditions. Net realisable value
takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised,
less applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated
cost to completion. Upon completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties for sale.

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land,
development expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined
based on prevailing market conditions.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale
to investment property at cost when there is a change of
intention to hold the property to earn rentals or land for
capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the commencement of an
operating lease to another party.
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3.

NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that required delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial asset at FVTPL
A financial asset may be designated as FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.
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NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial asset at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in note 36.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment loss
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Loans and receivables are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment of loans and receivables
could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e  disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
and other receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable change in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R IR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —FE—NF1—A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all loans and receivables
with the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade or other
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —F—NFf—H=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

The Group’s financial liabilities are classified as financial
liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities as FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial
liabilities are those designated as at FVTPL on initial
recognition.

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

A2 - F—NFfZH=1—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities as FVTPL (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss is included in the other gains and losses
line item in profit or loss and excludes any interest paid on
the financial liabilities. Fair value is determined in a manner
described in note 36.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
loans from equity holders, bonds payable and bank and other
borrowings and liability component of convertible bonds are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL, of
which the interest expense is included in net gains or losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —F—NF1-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain the
liability, equity components and derivatives (which are not
closely related to the host liability component) are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified
as an equity instrument. At the date of issue, both the liability
and derivative components are measured at fair value. The
difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair values assigned to the liability
and derivatives respectively, representing the conversion
option for the holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is
included in equity (i.e. convertible bonds equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The derivative component is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to convert the
convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred to share
premium).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

A2 - F—NFfZH=1—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible bonds (continued)

Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date,
the balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will be
released to retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Upon redemption of the convertible bonds, the redemption
consideration will be allocated to the liability component and
equity component using the same allocation basis as when
the convertible bonds were originally issued. Differences
between the fair value and the carrying amount of the liability
component will be recognised in profit or loss. The difference
between the redemption consideration and the equity
component will be included in equity (convertible bonds
equity reserve) and released to retained profits.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability, equity and derivative
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transactions costs relating to the equity component
are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to
conversion derivative are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts
are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —F—NF1-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value
less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue
of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under
the contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policy.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

BHE—F—

3.

NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold and services rendered
in the normal course of business, net of discounts, and sales
related taxes, estimated customer returns and rebates.

Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary business
course of business is recognised when the respective
properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers,
at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the properties;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the properties sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers of
properties for sale prior to meeting the above criteria
for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as “Deposits received in
respect of pre-sale of properties” under current liabilities.

Properties operation income is recognised when services are
provided.
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3.

NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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3.

NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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BHE—F—

3.

NEFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in joint ventures and associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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4.

BE—FT— N NF+=-A=1—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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4.

T A ASt—ALEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets of approximately RMB500,662,000 (2015:
approximately RMB370,236,000) mainly in relation to tax
losses and LAT have been recognised at 31 December 2016,
respectively, as set out in note 20. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. The directors of the Company determine the
deferred tax assets based on the enacted or substantially
enacted tax rates and the best knowledge of profit projections
of the Group for coming years during which the deferred
tax assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of the
Company will review the assumptions and profit projections
by the end of the reporting period. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected or there is a
downward revision of estimated future profits, a reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period in which such a reversal
takes place.
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4.

BE—FT— N NF+=-A=1—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the
implementation of the tax varies amongst different tax
jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain projects
of the Group have not finalised their LAT calculations with
their local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant
judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related income tax provisions. The Group
recognised the LAT based on management’s best estimates.
The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, and these differences will impact
the income tax expense and the related income tax provisions
in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local tax
authorities. The carrying amount of LAT payables is disclosed
in note 24.

Estimated write down of properties for sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value of properties for sale
is calculated as estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, minus estimated cost of completion (if any), and
estimated selling expenses which are estimated based on best
available information.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated write down of properties for sale (continued)
The Group writes down properties for sale to net realisable
value based on assessment of the realisability of properties for
sale, taking into account costs to completion based on past
experience and net sales value based on past experience and
prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase in costs to
completion or a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable
value will decrease and this might result in write-downs of
properties for sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write-downs requires the use of judgements and estimates.
If the expectation is different, it will impact the carrying
value of properties for sale in the period in which such
estimate is changed. The carrying amount of properties
for sale of approximately RMB32,035,534,000 (2015:
RMB29,323,044,000) as at 31 December 2016 are set out in
note 21.

Fair value of derivative components of convertible
bonds

The management of the Group uses their judgments in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are
applied. For derivatives financial instruments, assumptions
are made based on quoted market rates adjusted for specific
features of the instruments. If the inputs and estimates
applied in the model are different, the carrying amount
of these derivatives may change. The carrying amounts of
derivative financial assets and liabilities of approximately
RMB116,451,000 (2015: RMB168,570,000) and
RMB73,044,000 (2015: RMB72,675,000), respectively, as at
31 December 2016 are set out in note 29.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling equity holders of
subsidiaries of the Group

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimation of future
cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. During the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, no allowance for
doubtful debts have been made on the amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling equity holders
of subsidiaries of the Group. As at 31 December 2016, the
carrying amounts of amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries
of the Group are approximately RMB1,460,578,000
(2015: RMB1,371,367,000), RMB1,325,504,000 (2015:
RMB566,463,000) and RMB2,828,108,000 (2015:
RMB1,355,067,000), respectively (see notes 19 and 22).
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5. REVENUE 5. W&
An analysis of the Group's revenue by major products and RAFEFEERMRRBERNE D 2 R EE K=
service categories for the year is as follows: DT
2016 2015
—E—XE —“ZT—ARF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFTT
Sales of properties for sale SHER M ey 11,468,458 6,390,271
Properties operation income YL BIRA 78,038 -
Rental income from investment REREMEZ
properties (Note 10) HeWA(HEZT10) 59,946 4,673
11,606,442 6,394,944
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEHEFR

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
(“CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. The CODM is the Company’s
executive director.

For the management purpose, the Group is currently
organised into the following two operating and reportable
segments: (i) Development and sales of properties and
property leasing (“Properties Segment”); and (ii) sales of
electronic and electrical related products and building related
materials and equipment (“Trading Segment”).

The Properties Segment includes sales of properties and
property leasing while the Trading Segment includes sales of
electronic and electrical related products and building related
materials and equipment. Each of which is considered as a
separate operating segment by the CODM.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEHER @
Segment revenue and results DU SR EE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LARRIR ] 28 RS DB &5 2 N EE W R &

by reportable and operating segments.

BT

Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
B35 WEDE =E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR ARBT T
For the year ended BE-—ZT—~E
31 December 2016 TZA=+—HLEE
Segment revenue o EuE
— external customers —INEER - 11,606,442 11,606,442
Segment results DEBSELE - 3,042,495 3,042,495
Net foreign exchange losses i 5 BB R (190,534)
Unallocated income RO BUA 3,381
Fair value loss on derivative MTHEEMIAZ
financial instruments ANEEER (56,524)
Unallocated expenses AN E (45,490)
Unallocated finance costs AOBLRLE KA (211,009)
Profit before tax [k 5 A 2,542,319
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
BH5H0E M E e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT
For the year ended BE-—T—E1F
31 December 2015 +TZA=+—HLEE
Segment revenue o EU s
— external customers —INERE - 6,394,944 6,394,944
Segment results DEBELE (131) 1,247,464 1,247,333
Net foreign exchange losses i 5 BB (175,882)
Unallocated income RO BUA 2,921
Fair value gain on derivative MTHEEMIAZ
financial instruments N EWE 6,980
Unallocated expenses KROBEXZH (34,855)
Unallocated finance costs RO BERE KA (119,084)
Profit before tax [ 55 Bz ) 927,413
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BE—FT— N NF+=—A=1—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2015.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of unallocated corporate costs, fair
value (loss) gain on derivative financial instruments, certain
finance costs, certain interest income and certain net foreign
exchange losses. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

DEE R m)

DEN R R EE (E)
REE-_Z—R"ER-_Z—RAF+-_A=+—H
IHERER - A5 BRIHE

REDH z R AMEIML 2 A EE G5

BERARR] © D BBRAAIR SN WAL E D EARD B
RERA - TEEM T A2 2P EEE) s -

ETRERKN - ETHEBWARE TELERSF
BRTPTIREUE N © 1h Ty = B & ERREERE
BRAERRRFEREZEEEE -

PMEERKE
NTRIZA2RREEDHE D 2 ARBEENR
BEDT

Trading Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
BEZ0%H LE R RE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®BTRT AR®BTR

At 31 December 2016 R-EB—XRE
+=A=+-~H

Segment assets DEfEE 1,588 46,569,999 46,571,587
Goodwill [ 160,210
Other unallocated assets Hith kDB EE 1,714,571
Total assets BEMAE 48,446,368
Segment liabilities DEEE 2,039 26,745,164 26,747,203
Other unallocated liabilities HihAxpBBE 7,591,195
Total liabilities afEesE 34,338,398
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

2 EER )
PMEEREE A
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
B 570 Eb L E SN me
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETT AR¥TIT ARETE

At 31 December 2015 R-E—FE
+=BA=+-H

Segment assets DEfEE 3,197 38,208,979 38,212,176
Goodwill [EES 160,210
Other unallocated assets HEtARDEREE 491,329
Total assets BEMLE 38,863,715
Segment liabilities DEEE 2,973 20,785,287 20,788,260
Other unallocated liabilities BEMARHEEE 6,390,365
Total liabilities BEERE 27,178,625

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets, other than derivative component of convertible
bonds, goodwill and assets of the investment holding
companies, are allocated to reportable and operating
segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable, loans from equity
holders of the investment holding companies, liability
component of convertible bonds, derivative component
of convertible bonds and bank and other borrowings
of the investment holding companies, are allocated to
reportable and operating segments.
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6.

BE—FT— N NF+=—A=1—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information

D EE R )
Hith o &

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or ATED I EMHEEK D EEEMT R ZFIE °
segment assets.
Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
B2 0 YD EB Foe)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTRT AR®BTR
For the year ended BE-—E—X&F
31 December 2016 +TZA=+—HLEFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) IEREBEBENE(HiE) 5 946,815 946,820
Interest income FE U A - 148,439 148,439
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERREITE
equipment 2 5,773 5,775
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE - 668 668
For the year ended BE-Z—4fF
31 December 2015 +TZA=+—HLFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ERBEENE (H12E) 10 293,226 293,236
Interest income T B WA 157 73,943 74,100
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB REETE
equipment 33 5,059 5,092
Depreciation of investment properties EYENTE - 917 917

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial assets.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived
from the PRC. No single customer of the Group contributed
10% or more to the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2015.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding
deferred tax assets and derivative component of convertible
bonds, are located in the PRC.

Wit ERBDEETREELEHAEERSREE -

AEBRBIMEERP 2 WS HRNFE - RNEE
VEE-EFPAAEBRHE_T—RNFh=
—EFt A=t -HLEFEZRAEE10%
AL -

REBRBAID FRBEE(T
ERASREFZITET AR D
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MR AE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
The Group’'s properties segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging and Xi‘an.

Information about the revenue from external customers of
Properties Segment and the assets of Properties Segment is
presented based on the location of the assets.

6. DEHER @
Ih 38 & B
REEZWMESBLRBIL - BN ARRA
A EERER o

BRAREBMERSBIMNIEFL 2 W RMED#Z
BEZEMREEMEMZD -

Revenue from

external customers Segment assets
REIMBEF 2z PHEE
2016 2015 2016 2015

—E-RE —T—RF B =ZZET—AF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTrT AR®BTR ARETRT

Foshan 1L
Guangzhou =
Nanjing and Jurong ERERAOA
Chongging 5E
Xi'an mz

3,601,719 1,543,066 11,708,430 11,438,211
4,062,667 777,876 6,061,642 5,973,098
2,715,367 3,913,624 14,641,387 8,473,768
1,226,689 160,378 12,321,770 10,956,062

- - 1,836,770 1,367,840

11,606,442 6,394,944 46,569,999 38,208,979
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7. OTHER INCOME 7. HEMWA
2016 2015
—E-XRE —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBT T
Bank interest income RITHIBUA 33,258 33,278
Gain on disposal of investment properties HERBEYEZ W 22,179 -
Government grants (Note) BB (H7:E) 25,111 =
Interest income from associates REHE QR ZFBUA 87,072 40,630
Interest income from joint ventures REEEDEZHEWA 31,490 3,113
Others Hih 13,922 9,981
213,032 87,002

Note: The amount of government grants was received in respect of certain
property development projects of the Group in Chongging, the PRC,

Hrat - AEBEKEMEREER  BRIEBASERHE
EFETRHEZRBEZBAENESE  FRSEN

the Group fulfilled the relevant granting criteria which immediately EFRER AE M A o
recognised as other income.
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERX
2016 2015
—E-RF —E-REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Interest on: &
— bank and other borrowings —RITREMEE 300,291 226,258
— loans from a fellow subsidiary —B—RAZMBARIZER 199 =
- loans from an intermediate holding company  — B —XREEIERAT 2 EX 44,571 82,896
— loans from non-controlling equity —BAEEHEA A
holders of subsidiaries of the Group R EREEAZER 148,904 144,457
— bonds — &5 166,350 157,056
— convertible bonds (Note 29) — AR tE S (H15E29) 83,234 39,718
Total borrowing costs 1A EE R AN 743,549 650,385
Less: amounts capitalised in the cost of B BERREER
qualifying assets BEERK A 2 FIE (447,384) (444,022)
296,165 206,363

Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of
respective specific borrowings as disclosed in notes 25, 27 and

28.

MAAHTEE25 ~ 27 R 28FTIREE - B E AR
HEBRRTYRZEERARZBERREZEH

R B o

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEHZH

2016 2015
—E—XEF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BFR ARBFIT
The charge comprises: XHBE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") PRI ERET ([ REMER])
— Current year —KFE 719,072 290,450
— Overprovision in prior years — B FEEERE - (986)
Dividend withholding tax MR ETET - 3,720
LAT T ER 753,088 250,182
1,472,160 543,366
Deferred tax (Note 20) BB (H15220) (44,895) 28,580
1,427,265 571,946

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is
25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by the PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including cost of
land use right and all property development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

0.

BE—FT— N NF+=—A=1—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

9. FIBEHZH@

REFMERX T REEESE
MR ADG A SR T

2016 2015
—RE —RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T

Profit before tax B Tt A1 i ) 2,542,319 927,413
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (Note) R25%FRS I R E 2 IR (ML) 635,580 231,853
Tax effect of expenses not deductible Pz T2 BB E

for tax purposes 143,314 109,131
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERB WA Z B2

for tax purposes (65,384) (49,126)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AR RERZMIBEE

previously not recognised HiET e (37,265) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIBEE 2 MBHE 4,452 19,203
PRC LAT AR+ I (E R 753,088 250,182
Tax effect of PRC LAT PR IRET 2 G E (188,272) (62,546)
Over provision in prior years BEFEHBEEE - (986)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERA MR TR EZRE 2 RS2

differences not recognised 60,507 44,366
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible BT ARER 2 ]

temporary differences previously R EE BB E

not recognised (4,611) (26,442)
Dividend withholding tax expense EedsSizEinit 86,814 29,099
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions H b &l A#E R TR R 7 522 39,042 27,212
Income tax expense FriS®isk & 1,427,265 571,946

Note: It represents the tax rate where the operation of the Group is substantially

based.

Hiat - W AREBMARD EBAE L BE -

—ANEEHR BARREMERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE_F—FL+_A=1+—HIFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BRBL AT = F
2016 2015
—E-RE —ET-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTFT
Profit before tax has been arrived at BB AT R A H0BR (H %)
after charging (crediting): THFIERFE
Employee benefits expenses REEAFZ(BEESHH)
(including directors’ remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances He REAMERL 234,598 165,958
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 32,774 28,597
Total staff costs B Iz 267,372 194,555
Less: Amount capitalised to properties B BEENME BRI HHERRT
under development for sale Y2 7 I8 (140,872) (91,459)
126,500 103,096
Gross rental income from investment WEYERBS WA (HEES)
properties (Note 5) (59,946) (4,673)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred W TEEZEELERY 38,253 1,676
(21,693) (2,997)
Cost of properties for sale recognised BRIERZ 2 AEHE
as an expense L/ EWiIN 8,269,296 4,838,012
Depreciation of investment properties REMETE 668 917
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — #7% - BE M REITE 5,775 5,092
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR B 3,464 2,514
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME  BE KK
plant and equipment (Uas) &8 (38) 28
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

11. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES’ 11.
EMOLUMENTS

(@) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 (2015:
11) directors were as follows:

For year ended 31 December 2016

EENES 25 M

(@) ENHEMRA(ZZE-—HF: 11R)ES
ZHEIINT

BE-E-—AF+T-A=1t—HLEE

Mr. WONG
Dr. SO Mr. YU King Yuen
Shu Fai Zhiliang (Note i) Total
ERRLE
REEEL REREE (Hiti) @zt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A) BTEE:
Fees ik - - - -
Other emoluments: HipEH :
Salaries, allowances and 5% ZHREWER
benefits in kind 34 1,015 27 1,076
Performance related incentive FERERBR T
payments bonus - 595 - 595
Pension scheme contributions RIRREEIER - - - -
Sub-total emoluments et 34 1,610 27 1,671
Mr. HUANG Dr. YAN Mr. XU Ms. WU
Junlong  Chengda  Yongjun  Zhengin Ms. LIU
(Note i) (Note i) (Note i) (Note ii) Ning Total
Yan Chengda
EELA Bt #kERE SE¥at
(i) (ki) (i) (fidti) WLt )
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETr ARMTR
B)  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B) FHiEZ:
Fees ik by 2 by - 34 115
Other emoluments: HEH
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind % 2R RENER - - - - - -
Pension scheme contributions R - - - - , B
Sub-total emoluments FHiit 7 7 7 - 34 115

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE_F—FL+_A=1+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

M. EEREEZFM =)

(@) (continued) (a) (#&)
For year ended 31 December 2016 BE-Z—F+-A=+—BLFE
Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, ~ Ms. CHEN Dr. SHI
Albert Yanping Xinping  Mr. HE Qi Total
TAEEL KEEZ: $FTEL EEE @t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR AR®TRr ARETR
C) INDEPENDENT NON- () BUFHTES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees we 103 103 103 103 412
Other emoluments: Hir 5w :
Salaries, allowances and ¢ 2R RENEA
benefits in kind - - - - -
Pension scheme contributions RINEFTEMER - - - - -
Sub-total emoluments BN 103 103 103 103 412
Total emoluments k| 2,198
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2015

M. EEREE2FM =)
() (4%)

BE_E-AF+T-A=1T—HLEFE

Mr. YU Mr. XIAN Mr. Llu
Dr. SO Zhiliang  Yaogiang  Zhuogen
Shu Fai (Note vi) (Note iv) (Note i) Total
RERLE ARREE  HER%EAE
BT (Hiztvi) (Biztiv) (Bizii) FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®Tn AR%ETx
A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A) BTEE:
Fees e - - - - -
Other emoluments: HihEw
Salaries, allowances and o M REMER
benefits in kind 32 852 30 795 1,709
Performance related incentive FERBEBNTEA
payments bonus - 590 - - 590
Pension scheme contributions BREHEIER 2 - - 10 12
Sub-total emoluments st 34 1,442 30 805 2,311
Mr. HE
Jianya Ms. WU Ms. LIU
(Note v) Zhengin Ning Total
BEDAE
(Hrztv) RiEgn+ =Lt FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIL ARBFL AREFL ARBFIL
B) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B) FHITEE:
Fees e 21 32 32 85
Other emoluments: HipgH :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RUREME = - - -
Pension scheme contributions RIRE B = - - -
Sub-total emoluments HMat 21 32 32 85

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

M. EEREEZFM =)

(@) (continued) (a) (#&)
For year ended 31 December 2015 BE-Z-—HF+-A=+—BLFE
Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, ~ Ms. CHEN Dr. SHI
Albert Yanping Xinping  Mr. HE Qi Total
TxERT BEEL:E £HTPEL WREE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARSI
C) INDEPENDENT NON- Q) BUFRTES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees we 97 97 97 97 388
Other emoluments: HibEH :
Salaries, allowances and e 2 REWEN
benefits in kind - - - - _
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFEIHT - - - - -
Sub-total emoluments Er 97 97 97 97 388
Total emoluments kg 2,784
Notes: Bt -
0] Appointed on 18 March 2016 (i) R-T—A"E=A+/\BEZT
(i) Resigned on 18 March 2016 (i) RZT—A"FE=A+/\BHEE
(i) Resigned on 17 August 2015 (i) R=ZT—AFNATLHEE
(iv)  Resigned on 4 December 2015 (ivy R-T—AF+=-AMNBE#T
(v)  Removed on 27 August 2015 vy RZZE-AFN\A=-t+tHEL
(vi)  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the (vi)y BEZZ—AFER-Z—RAF+ZA=1+—RHLFE"
individual performance during the years ended 31 December 2016 BIFIEAL D IRBEARRETE ©
and 2015.
(vi)  The Company does not have any chief executive which functions (vi)  ANATREEEATTBAAR (R BRTEEET)
are carried out by all the executive directors.
(viii) There was no arrangement under which a director waived or i) REA - BHEESRLIHREXRERETAME 2 L5 -
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
(ix)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as (ix)  AEBEGEEEFAES A - SAERE AR

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, one (2015: one) was director of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 11(a) above. The emoluments of the remaining four
(2015: four) individuals were as follows:

11.

EEREEZHFMN @)

) AEBRAUSGEHFMALS  —R(=ZF
—REF  —B) AL RFMR EXXPHEE11()
BREZARAEFE - HTEE(ZF—1
FOB)ATZHMAT

2016 2015
—B—RE —T—hEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TR AR®BETT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits o BN R EAMEF 1,989 2,039
Contributions to retirement schemes IRIRET IR 379 358

Discretionary and performance related 15 & R IR A RE SE B < X
incentive payments 5,360 2,838
7,728 5,235

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
five highest-paid individuals as inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

AEEBEATAAUESHMA L SEHH
AERBE AR AR R E R 2 RE)HIERE
BB (E

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) (continued)

Their emoluments were within the followin

M. EB5REEZ2HM @)
(b) (#&)
g bands: BEFHMNTATEE

Number of employees

EEARK
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—RF

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
(approximately RMB855,601 to
RMB1,283,400)

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
(approximately RMB1,283,401 to
RMB1,711,200)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(approximately RMB1,711,201 to

7&5%1,000,001 7.2 7% 1,500,0007T

(49 AR #855,6017TE

AR#1,283,4007T) - 2
751,500,001 70278 #2,000,0007T

(Y ARH1,283,401LE

AR#1,711,2007T) 2 2
75%2,000,001 70248 %2,500,0007T

(HAREE1,711,201L 8

RMB2,139,000) AR¥2,139,0007T) 2 -
4 4
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a final dividend REBEZZT—A"FT_A=T—HIEFE &R
of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 0.005 per ordinary share in RIEREE-ZE—RAF+_A=+t—RHLEFEZ
respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 (2015: HK$0.01 REREERE BB ([EH1)0.0057T (=
per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December T-RF  HE_ZT-NFE+_A=+—HIF
2014) was declared and paid to the shareholders of the EERERERER0.017T) @ WHARFKEIR
Company. The aggregate amount of final dividend declared i o REAIR B2 £ FEH AR #20,438,0007T (=
from share premium of the Company and paid during the T—AhF : AR®38,854,0007T) Jh 8 AR A

year amounted to approximately RMB20,438,000 (2015: MHRESIK + WHRF AR °

RMB38,854,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

gz—F

12.

13.

—NET A= —HUFE

DIVIDENDS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a subsidiary of
the Group declared dividends of RMB39,018,000 (2015:
RMB124,400,000) to its shareholders, of which approximately
RMB19,509,000 (2015: nil) was paid to its non-controlling
equity holder.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of
HK$0.045 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.04) per share
has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is
subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the calculation of the
basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company of approximately
RMB811,449,000 (2015: RMB185,416,000) and the weighted
average number of 4,905,257,860 (2015: 4,905,257,860)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 does not assume the
conversion of the Group’s outstanding convertible bonds
since their exercise would result in an increase in earnings per
share.

12.

13.

RE @)

Bz - Z— X+ -_A=+—"BLLFE -
AEE—HBWBARAIMERREST KBRS A
R 39018000t (ZF—HF : AR

124,400,0007T) * EFRAIEIFEERESFEA

IR I B A AR #19,509,000c(ZFE— R %F :
F::

RBEHBEE AR AR R EZEERRANE
BMEBEE —_ZT—R"Ft+_A=1+t—HIFEZX
HR B F B 0.045 T (FHE R ARE0.04
HEEAREREERREASIEER - 5T

T ol 2
o~

\
b

BRERN
BHE-_ZTZ—X"F+-A=+—HLFE
EXBFTEAR Tﬁ%‘*%ﬁ)\ﬂﬁmfru
HANRBES11,449,000L (ZF—HF © A
R #185,416,0007t ) R F A B B 1T & B
hn#E S 15 £14,905,257,860 fk ( — & — FH 4 ¢
4,905,257,8600% )5t & -

R TR A SR B iH R 1T 2 AT AR 5 AT 48 N &
BN BFAEBRE—T-R"FE_FT—AF
TZA=ZT-BLFEZERESRNLEREK
FZERITE 2 IR EFEE R -

—NFFH RERBEMERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y¥ - BERRE

Land and Leasehold Motor Office

buildings improvements  vehicles equipment Total

TiREF HENEES AE BAERE M@t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETR ARETR AR¥Tn AR%®Tn AR%Tx
COST A
At 1 January 2015 RZE—h%—Hf—H 28,453 - 10,083 12,608 51,144
Additions NE - - 2,439 1,993 4,432
Disposals HE - - (512) (283) (795)
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016~ RZZ—RF+-A=+-BR

“E-"5-A—H 28,453 - 12,060 14,318 54,831

Additions NE - 31,591 198 17 31,806
Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries  EBUEIBAT 2R (H7733)

(Note 33) - - - 2 2
Disposals HE - = (2,548) (946) (3,494)
At 31 December 2016 R-E—R"F+-A=+—H 28,453 31,591 9,710 13,391 83,145
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEthE
At 1 January 2015 R-E-RF—F—H 3,161 - 6,300 4,810 14,271
Provided for the year FREE 1,026 - 1,337 2,729 5,092
Eliminated on disposals R ER - - (461) (256) 77
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 R=ZZ—RF+-F=+-HBRk

- ¥-F—H 4,187 - 7,176 7,283 18,646
Provided for the year ERNEE 1,026 2,519 936 1,294 5,775
Eliminated on disposals R ER - - (2,540) (649) (3,189)
At 31 December 2016 R-Z-~"F+-A=+—A 5,213 2,519 5,572 7,928 21,232
CARRYING VALUES EEE)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"E+-A=1—-H 23,240 29,072 4,138 5,463 61,913
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-RFE+-A=1—-H 24,266 - 4,884 7,035 36,185

The Group’s land and buildings are erected on land located in

the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

EHE=

FAEF At —ALFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15.

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, at the following
rates per annum:

5% or over the lease terms of the
relevant land, if shorter

5% or over the lease terms of the
relevant properties, if shorter

15% — 20%

15% — 20%

Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles
Office equipment

14. W¥ - BERRZRE@#)

EiiE - BERREEREEBEMSRER
BATFRABREFERE

T RIEF

HEYHEEE

B 15%-20%
PN 15%-20%

5% 2k (fi 258 ) AR B8 - st A0 23

5% 2k (%58 ) AR M XA

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REY
RMB’000
AR®T T
COST [B#N
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 RZE—hF—H—H —F—1F
and 1 January 2016 +-—A=+—8Bk=_Z—X<F—HF—H 25,798
Transfer from properties for sale Eea L EYE 793,842
Disposals L& (16,741)
At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—RE+-_HA=+—H 802,899
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEHITE
At 1 January 2015 RZE—hF—H—H 3,122
Provided for the year F N 917
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 R-ZT—RHFE+_A=1+—HK
—ZT—F—HA—H 4,039
Provided for the year FNEE 668
Eliminated on disposals P B (2,967)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—ARF+=A=1+—8 1,740
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2016 R-E—XRE+-HA=+—H 801,159
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—AF+=-RA=+—8H ANES

—T R
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
B2 —F—NF1-A=1—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. BREWME @)

The Group's investment properties are erected on land located
in the PRC.

The fair values of investment properties as at 31 December
2016 and 2015 of RMB821,700,000 and RMB93,053,000,
respectively, have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on the respective dates by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“Jones Lang”), an
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected to
the Group.

As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of investment
properties of RMB13,700,000 (2015: RMB93,053,000) in
Guangzhou, the PRC, is determined with reference to recent
market prices for similar properties in similar locations and
conditions for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of investment
properties of RMB808,000,000 (2015: nil) in Nanjing, the
PRC, is determined based on the income approach, by taking
into account the net rental income of a property derived from
its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of
the leases which have then been capitalised to determine the
fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
was no transfers between fair value hierarchies during the
year. There has been no change to the valuation technique on
the investment properties in Guangzhou, the PRC, used in the
prior years. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

15. REWHE (@)

B EMEZATERUEREAENE ¢

Leasehold Land Over the term of the lease HELH bl
Buildings Over the shorter of the term of 1gF R EE2 S FME 2 BRRE
the lease and 25 years
16. GOODWILL 16. &
RMB’000
ARETR
COST AND CARRYING VALUE A R EREE
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015, R-ZE—RF—HA—B —Z—AF+=-_A=+—H "
1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016 —E-RF-—A-BER-E—XRFt+-A=+—H 160,210

Note: Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year ended 31
December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to the group of cash
generating units (“CGUs") comprising the Properties Segment, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition in prior year.

The directors of the Company have performed the assessment
on impairment and determined that the recoverable amount
of CGUs was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill
based on the profitability of the CGUs.

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

i BEREREE_Z—=ZF+_A=+—HLFEZE
- BRSO EEEAZ BN —F KB BRMEL
HRMESBzREELBM([REELEM DA -

AAREEEREETHEL R G ELEN
ZBNETReELEMAINESERHERE
ERE -

17. REFE N T 2 &

2016 2015

—EB-RF —T—RF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETTT

Costs of investments in associates N NI ) N 273,500 273,500
Share of post-acquisition results DLW R EE (80,515) (36,485)
192,985 237,015
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17. REEE DB 2 REES ()
RoT—RE+= A=+ — BB DT HER

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Details of the associates at 31 December 2016 are as follows:

p N
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interests
Form of operation Registered held by the Group Proportion of Principal
Name of company entity HREYL/ share capital KEBFE voting power held activity
ARER BRYA X ERRA BERRELA igszied 1idll IERH
2016 2015 2016 2015
ZE-RF “T-1F ZR-3F 21

Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Incorporated ~ The PRC RMB 200,000,000 34% 34% 34% 34%  Property
Estate Company Limited* sz i AR %200,000,0007C development
("Guangzhou Lianzhou") NERE

BMNEHE R EARAR T EMEM )

Guangzhou Liansen Real Incorporated ~ The PRC RMB 200,000,000 34% 34% 34% 34%  Property
Estate Company Limited* sz hE AR 200,000,007 development
("Guangzhou Liansen”) MERE

BNEREHERRAR(BMER])

Nanjing Shizhaoquansheng Incorporated  The PRC RMB 250,000,000 2099%  24.99% 49% 49%  Property
Property Company Limited* sz el AR250,000,0007 development
("Nanjing Shizhao") L

ARt RLRERERAA
(xR

Gezhouba Nanjing Property Incorporated  The PRC RMB 50,000,000 1530%  1530% 30% 30%  Property
Company Limited* sz el AR 50,000,007 (Note) (Note) development
(" Gezhouba Nanjing”) (H#) (Hit) NELRE

ENGEREZARAT
(rgMgmRl)

3 Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. “IEEFEXEE  EHBE -

Note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Gezhouba Nanjing Mt AEBREBMNBRERITEEATYE N - ARAKER
because it has 30% voting interest in shareholders’ meetings to influence BRAREHBI0% L RERGUTEZ BB ZARE
the relevant activities of this entity. o
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, Nanjing Shizhao, Guangzhou
Liansen and Guangzhou Lianzhou are the material associates
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015. Summarised financial information of the Group’s
material associates were set out below, which represented
amounts shown in the respective associates’ financial

statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

17. REFE R T 2 e am)

ZEBERNRRN I FREWHREREREDEA
R ARFEZRR  REE_T—XRER=-F
—RAFET-A=T—RLFE mRiER - BN
BAR R MBI BARE 2 EABE AT - K
SEEABE QB ZHBERREZEHIWT (B
RIBEEMERELERREZ S 2 QR P 5R
RAZEE) °

Nanjing Shizhao 2016 2015
Rt —E-RE —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETF T

Current assets mENEE 1,835,645 1,056,713
Non-current assets FERBEE 12,435 2,942
Current liabilities REBE (1,635,262) (813,380)
Non-current liabilities EREAE - (5,000)
Revenue Wiz - -
Loss for the year FRNEIE (28,457) (8,725)
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHEMEERA - -
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEZ E A% (28,457) (8,725)

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Nanjing Shizhao was set out below:

17. REEE DB 2 REES ()
RN BB RN R R Y R
EHEHTIMT -

2016 2015

—E—XE —T—RF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT R ARET T

Net assets of Nanjing Shizhao ARtIEFEE 212,818 241,275
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERE Rt BEERE

interest in Nanjing Shizhao WS 2 LA 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group's REBERERTE

interest in Nanjing Shizhao 2 BREE 104,280 118,224

Guangzhou Liansen 2016 2015

&N R —Z-XRE —E—RE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETT

Current assets MENVE E 1,539,172 1,388,770

Non-current assets EREEE 18,262 17,008

Current liabilities REEE (1,438,772)  (1,256,803)

Non-current liabilities JEREAE - -

Revenue Weas - -

Loss for the year FAEE (30,313) (51,025)

Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMEEIRA - =

Total comprehensive expense for the year FREE S HAA%E (30,313) (51,025)
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Guangzhou Liansen was set out below:

17. REEE DB 2 RS )
P25 M B RR 2 B R B B A 4
MR Y BEE Y WS T -

2016 2015

—E—XE —T—RF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARETF T

Net assets of Guangzhou Liansen BMNEBER 2 BEFE 118,662 148,975
Proportion of the Group’s ownership N5 B P FE B AR

interest in Guangzhou Liansen A ERE LD 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group’s N2 B BT E B B AR

interest in Guangzhou Liansen a2 BREE 40,345 50,652

Guangzhou Lianzhou 2016 2015

& B s —=

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R AREFT

Current assets MENE E 1,302,319 1,213,438

Non-current assets JEMENEE 15,561 14,569

Current liabilities nBBEE (1,188,095)  (1,071,714)

Non-current liabilities EREAE - -

Revenue Weas - -

Loss for the year FAMEE (26,508) (43,707)

Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMEEIRA - =

Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEZ E A% (26,508) (43,707)

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. REFE QB 2% ()

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Guangzhou Lianzhou was set out below:

XA 25 EIMNBEIMN 2 81 75 B R R S A M
BNt 2 BRE(E < HIRREDIAT

2016 2015

—E-XRE —T—hF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT R AREFIT

Net assets of Guangzhou Lianzhou BN 2 EEFE 129,785 156,293
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AN ER [ P )M Bt N

interest in Guangzhou Lianzhou A ERER LD 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's 252 (B PR B Bt

interest in Guangzhou Lianzhou a2 BREE 44,127 53,140

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate,
of the Group’s interests in associates, that are not individually
material and are accounted for using the equity method are
set out below:

@5 & LT EAR RIZEEARR 2 N BN E
BREIERZ ERMEER MR ERINWT

2016 2015
—BE—RE —=—hF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFR ARBTFIT
The Groups’ shares of loss and REESEEER

total comprehensive expense SE 4R (10,767) (1

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REERIEE R E R A]
interests in immaterial associates e BREEER 4,233 14,999
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

18. REBhE R

2016 2015
VA2 —T-hF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Costs of investments in joint ventures WEEBDE KA 136,424 15,254
Share of post-acquisition results g A (27,780) (6,850)
108,644 8,404
Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the AEEZEEEERBERRZFBOT ¢
reporting period are as follows:
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interests
Form of operation Registered held by the Group Proportion of Principal
Name of company entity R capital KEBfE voting power held activity
AAER ERFA EXiE BETS BERERLP s RERLp TEEH
2016 2015 2016 2015
“E-RE ZE-RE CE-RE ZE-R%

Nanjing Aojian Property Incorporated ~ The PRC 2016 3.0753%  3.0753% 6.03% 6.03%  Property
Company Limited* Rl HE RMB 2,000,000,000 development
("Nanjing Aojian") (Note a) (2015; nEER

BREEERERAR RMB100,000,000)

([FRER M) ZEREARE
2,000,000,0007t

(Z2-1% : \R#®
100,000,0007%)

Nanjing Zhaoyang Property Incorporated ~ The PRC RMB 20,000,000 23.5212%  23.5212% 46.12% 46.12%  Property
Development Bl B AE#20,000,0007 development
Company Limited* VL
(“Nanjing Zhaoyang")

ARG RAEREARAR
el

Nanjing Huilong Real Estate Incorporated ~ The PRC RMB 20,000,000 16.83% N/A 33% N/A~ Property
Company Limited* K il AR%20,000,0007T TaR TR development
("Nanjing Huilong") (Note b) DEER

BREERHEERARA
([FaAER |) (#is2h)

S Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. o FEFENEE - EHSE .
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18.

Notes:

a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group subscribed for
the additional registered capital of Nanjing Aojian of RMB114,570,000.
As a result, the registered capital of Nanjing Aojian increased from
RMB100,000,000 to RMB2,000,000,000 and equity interest and voting
power held by the Group remained unchanged.

b) Newly incorporated in November 2016 with registered capital of
RMB20,000,000. As at 31 December 2016, the Group paid up capital of
RMB6,600,000.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, none of the joint ventures is
material to the Group for the years ended 31 December 2016
and 2015.

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate,
of the Group’s joint ventures, that are not individually material
and are accounted for using the equity method are set out

REELEZER @)

Mzt

a) BHEZ-AFE+-A=-T+—BLEE  AEERED
R FBINEME AR AR 114,570,0007T © Hit
R B E AN AR 100,000,0007CE MEAR
#£2,000,000,0007T * M A BFI#EH 2 RERIZRE

b) RIZZ—R"FE+—AHFIAMKYL  TMEXBARE
20,000,0007C e R=F—AR"F+=-A=1+—H ' £&H
BHAA AR H6,600,0007T

BECERARDENZERAMBEHRRALK -
RRREERA $‘$IEAEJZ¢*7 NERZ
E-RFT A=t BHUIFELESRALL

o

HE

ERIME X T ERRIREDEAR I AREEE
RZELAWHENLKEEESRKIIWT

below:
2016 2015
VA2 —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT
The Groups' shares of losses and total REESIEEER
comprehensive expense PHEZ 4R (20,930) (6,850)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRITTEREGEDHE
interests in immaterial joint ventures WS 2 BREEAREE 108,644 8,404
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. REEL¥E oS ()

The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses of REERFERAERERFILEADHERABEZ
Nanjing Zhaoyang when applying the equity method. The EE - -REBEE-_ZT-—R"ER-ZE—AF+=A
unrecognised share of Nanjing Zhaoyang, for the years ended =T —BIEFEREFRERD 2 RBEEH
31 December 2016 and 2015 and cumulatively, are set out FEAT -
below:
2016 2015
—EB-REF —ZE-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARMTT

Unrecognised share of losses of a joint RAFERERD R

venture for the year —EeErEZEE 3,827 -
Accumulated unrecognised share of 2t AR —HEEEE L EER

losses of a joint venture 3,827 -

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. HhEU IR

Included in the amounts approximately RMB342,276,000 STARMEMNEMN R BN AR E 2 @BOAR
(2015: nil) and RMB403,515,000 (2015: nil) are due from #342,276,000 R (—F—H%F : B)RARY
associates, Guangzhou Lianzhou and Guangzhou Liansen, 403,515,000t (= — R F : &) - H A&
respectively, which are unsecured, interest bearing at 6.6% RIRENE66%TRINR_ZE—NEFE+—FE
per annum, and repayable in November 2018. & o

—TAEFR BEARBHERAT 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

20. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

20. IR 18
AT BRI R IBAE 84 2 ST IAVER TS ER 3R 2 A -

2016 2015

—E-RE —ZE—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AREFIT

Deferred tax assets REFIEE E 500,662 370,236
Deferred tax liabilities BELERBERE (145,477) (59,946)
355,185 310,290

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)

UTIRRFRARRCTEEEHABE(RBE) R

recognised and movements thereon during the year: B
Temporary
differences Dividend
on LAT Tax withholding
provision losses tax Others Total
TiRER
Bz
ERES HEER REENH Hit a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETR AR¥TR AR¥ETxR
At 1 January 2015 RZZ-h%-A-H 276,024 98,362 (33,284) (2,232) 338,870
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (Note 9)  FABRS (3% )5 A (529) (6,557) 2,407 (25,379) 949 (28,580)
At 31 December 2015 and R-E-h&+-A=1+—H
1 January 2016 RZE-"E-A-H 269,467 100,769 (58,663) (1,283) 310,290
Credit (charge) to profit or loss (Note 9)  FMESET A (3N ) (#1:29) 91,594 38,832 (86,814) 1,283 44,895
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"E+ZA=1-H 361,061 139,601 (145,477) = 355,185
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20. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 20. IEAERIE (41)

At 31 December 2016, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB687,988,000 (2015: RMB598,282,000),
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of such losses of
RMB558,404,000 (2015: RMB403,076,000) at 31 December
2016. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining RMB129,584,000 (2015: RMB195,206,000)
as at 31 December 2016 due to the unpredictability of
future profits streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses
are losses of RMB117,946,000 (2015: RMB144,207,000) as
at 31 December 2016 that will expire in five years from the
dates they were incurred. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary difference of RMB236,194,000 (2015:
RMB298,032,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intragroup borrowings. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

RZZE—R"F+ZA=+—8 5B HEERD
AR IEEEHARKG687,988,000t(—E—H
&0 AR#598,282,0007T) » A K E4 B854
Fl - BREIE ARKS58,404,000L(—F—H
F : AR¥403,076,0007T)  ER T —RF
F+TZA=1+—BHRELEHBEE - ARTA
TBRIRKHEF KR AR =T — X "F+=A
=+—HIEp R N AR 129,584,000 (=
T—AF : AR¥195,206,0007T ) #ERIE LR
BEE R —"NFE+-A=+—HtAXRE
RUIEEEEEBARE117,946,0000 (=
—HE : AR¥144,207,0007T) &R E A B H
BETRFEER - BB IBr{EER AL -

RZZE—X"F+_A=+—8 FEEHFRER
A PR ER ZRE AR 236,194,000 (=&
— AT AR¥298,032,0007T) © I TyERARD
EERRHBEEEZENMAERAET - HRT
A FERI R 2 s FISOR - M R RIEETRTEE
E °
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21. PROPERTIES FOR SALE 21. A HEY X

2016 2015

—E-RE —E—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETTT

Completed properties for sale DRI HEEDSE 6,378,266 4,649,778
Properties under development for sale AtHERERYE 25,657,268 24,673,266

32,035,534 29,323,044

The Group’s completed properties for sale are located in the
PRC. They are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

The properties under development for sale are located in
the PRC and represent properties under development for
subsequent sale in the ordinary course of business upon
completion.

Included in the properties under development for sale as
at 31 December 2016 is carrying value of approximately
RMB9,043,574,000 (2015: RMB18,178,646,000), which
represents the carrying value of the properties expected to be
completed and available for sale after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2016, land located in Chongging
with carrying values of approximately RMB362,110,000
(2015: RMB699,290,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings amounting to RMB170,000,000 (2015:
RMB187,800,000) granted to the Group (see note 27).
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AEEERTAHEEMELRTE - ZEWE
BERA R BB FHEME 2 BEE ALK -

AHEERERTYELRTE - HRRTIRER
FRGRETHERHEZBRETYE -

R-E—RFE+-_A=+—Ha L E%EREH
YEH - BREEL ARY,043,574,000T(=F
—FHF : AR¥18,178,646,0007T) 2 W 2E57E
HEREHREEE AR T ZEAKE T KA
HEYHE 2 REE -

RZE—XRNE+-_A=+—8 HrEEZEMR
MREERAENAAREK362,110,0007T(=
T—FHF : ARM699,290,0007T) 2+ - LA
METAERE ZBITEE ARY170,000,0007T
(ZZ—FH4%F : AR¥187,800,0007T) fEH &R
(RM5E27) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R IR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. ¥R H A EWFIE
2016 2015
—E—XEF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTT

Trade receivables (Note a) X REWEIA (K ita) 2,163 2,909
Other receivables H fhpE U GRIA
Prepaid LAT B L 3t B E R 453,376 537,142
Other prepaid non-income tax E b FE FEFTISHS 387,785 477,078
Other receivables and prepayments Hoth e U T8 K FE A R IE 582,238 341,093
Amount due from an intermediate FEUS PR AR A BRI FRIB (M 2Eb)

holding company (Note b) 337 146
Amounts due from non-controlling N SN NS EiS e

equity holders of subsidiaries A AFRB (M iTb)

of the Group (Note b) 2,828,108 1,355,067
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUS R R B A B FIB (M aEb)

(Note b) 12,779 2,353
Amounts due from associates (Note c) JE Wi B 48 N B3R IE (B atc) 714,787 1,371,367
Amounts due from joint ventures FEUE & EFIE (A atd)

(Note d) 1,325,504 566,463

6,304,914 4,650,709

6,307,077 4,653,618
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)  Trade receivables mainly arise from Trading Segment.

The Group'’s credit terms with its trade customers are generally 0 to 30
days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentration of credit risk as approximately 87%
(2015: 67%) and 100% (2015: 100%) of the Group's trade receivables
from Trading Segment were due from the Group’s largest trade debtor

and the five largest trade debtors, respectively.

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in accordance
with the terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, normally
within 60 days from the date of agreement. As at 31 December 2016,
there were rental receivables of RMB575,000 (2015: nil) from Properties

Segment.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

22. ¥Rk H A EWEIE @)

Hrat -

(a)

EBRUFATRELRR S DR -

AEEREEZIRFZEEH R A0E30H - A%H
TISRERAS R I H R IR B 2 FEUGRIE - LURIR S E R -
BREBABTHEMOSES - NBEHEEER -
AR EBERERKIBLST%(ZT—HF : 67%) &%
100%(=ZF—AF : 100%) D BIREARNEBHEAEBRE
BARAEZBAREKEBA  WAEEE—EEEESP
R o

DEMRZREREABEZHR G —BRHZERD
EEORAX « R=FE—XRE+=-A=+—0 " k8
MED T2 MER KRB ARES75,000L(=F—H
FE)

Rif&EARAE RIRER A E 2 £ REFURKRR

z

DT

2016 2015

—B-REF —T—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBFT

30 days or less 30HEATR 575 -
Over 365 days HBiAB365H 1,588 2,909
2,163 2,909

Before accepting any new customers, the Group maintains an internal
credit assessment process to assess the potential trade customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customers. Limits attributed to

customers are reviewed by management regularly.

As at 31 December 2016, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance with aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB 1,588,000
(2015: RMB2,909,000) which are past due over one year as at the
reporting date for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
The directors of the Company, after assessment, consider the debts are
collectible. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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R#2,909,00070) RS BRRAE A E ABBA—F -
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)
(9

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts of approximately RMB714,787,000 (2015:
RMB444,948,000) are unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate
ranging from 5.7% to 7.8% (2015: from 6.6% to 7.8%) per annum and
repayable on demand.

Included in the balances as at 31 December 2015, amounts of
approximately RMB342,276,000 and RMB403,515,000 were due from
Guangzhou Lianzhou and Guangzhou Liansen respectively, which
were unsecured, interest bearing at 6.6% per annum, and repayable
on demand. The remaining balances as at 31 December 2015 of
approximately RMB180,628,000 were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The effective interest rates on the Group’s amounts due from associates
ranged from 5.7% to 7.8% (2015: from 6.6% to 7.8%) per annum.

Included in the amounts are approximately RMB206,200,000 (2015:
RMB359,203,000) and RMB1,119,304,000 (2015: nil) due from Nanjing
Zhaoyang and Nanjing Huilong respectively, which are unsecured,
repayable on demand. The amount due from Nanjing Zhaoyang is
interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s
Bank of China times 110% per annum and the amount due from Nanjing
Huilong is interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by
the People’s Bank of China. The remaining balances as at 31 December
2015 approximately of RMB207,260,000 due from Nanjing Aojian was
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

22, ¥R H A EWRFRIE @)

Hiet - (&)

(b)

(9]

SREARER  REWRENRER -

HMAR®T714787000c (ZF —HF : ARK
444,948,0007T) 2 £ AEER - RETFFNENT
57%%Z7.8%(ZZF—H%F : 6.6%%7.8%)t SWIRE
SKIEE -

RZZE—RFE+=-A=+—8 ' HAR%342,276,000
Tt R AR #403,515,0007T 2 & 58 5 Bl A 8 U ) B
REMNEARTIE - AEIER - IRFFE6.6%T BIWIRE
REE R-E-—AF+-_A=+—BZHBHARE
180,628,000 T &M - REWIRERER -

AEERKBERARBZERFNEN F57%E
7.8%(ZZF—HF :6.6%Z£E7.8%) ©

#) AR ¥ 20620000 (ZFT—0F: AR¥
359,203,3007T) & A K #1,119,304,000 (=T —H
F:EIZSEDAAEER  RRBRERERNERRE
ARG & I REPE FRIR o BRI RIBIS 2 U AR
FEARRITREZ ARBEEGKFENEFTI110%ET
B mEKERERE 2 A REPEARRITREZA
REEEBRFFNERGFE - RZE—AF+=_A=+—
B ERERREHRENARK207,260,0007T A &K
. ROIWIRERER -

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated in RSB EAE R EBUIINE a2 2

currencies other than the functional currency of the entities of RHAD BRI -
the Group to which they relate:

2016 2015

—g-xF —F-If

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR%TR AREFTT

Denominated in HK$ LAVBHEEHE 5,651 160

Denominated in United States dollars (“US$")  BAZETEHE([ZET]) - 55,086
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23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. IRITERRE S
Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term bank RITEMR IR BRERS RREEAA=1EAK
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. AT 2 5 BRIRITIF AR o SRITAEEAMT B RN F
The bank balances carry variable interest rates from 0.01% to 0.01%%E1.35%(=ZF—H%F : 0.01%%E1.73%)
1.35% (2015: 0.01% to 1.73%) per annum. ZEFBFEK o
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the MireReREBRME RekFRARSEAES
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows: AT -
2016 2015
—EB—XRE —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARET T

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 5,810,922 3,697,337
Less: Restricted bank deposits not classified as & : T o B ARE NERIREER
cash and cash equivalents 2 ZBRHIRITIFR (59,030) (500)

5,751,892 3,696,837

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies AR EEREE R BB IAINE A2 RT
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group BRI EDTAT -

to which they relate:

2016 2015
— —Fh%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARMETT

Denominated in HK$ B EEHE 3,241 2,122
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 461,344 298,531
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24, FHEREMEMNRE

2016 2015
VA2 —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBFR AREFTT
Trade payables (Note a) EIB RN RIE (S Ea)
- Trading Segment —E 59 2,039 2,882
— Properties Segment —ESEL 2,396,871 2,389,171
2,398,910 2,392,053
Other payables H e FRIA
Other non-income tax payables HIEFTISTLEI 5RIA 28,439 21,294
Other payables and accrued charges Hh e3R8 R BT 420,970 261,024
LAT payable JE A L3 s (B R 1,413,270 1,079,433
Amount due to an intermediate holding BN — R IERR

company (Note b) RAIRIE (D) 82,926 588
Amounts due to non-controlling equity FERT NS BB A RIFEHEAR

holders of subsidiaries of the Group s B ARIB(H7Db)

(Note b) 288,170 509,193
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FE1 R 2 BT 8 A R IE (M atb)

(Note b) 25,714 17,663
Amount due to a joint venture (Note b) N —REE D EFE(H7b) 173,800 =
Amount due to an associate (Note b) e —ZRES S N T ZRIB (M1 5Eh) 266,159 -
Dividend payable to non-controlling FET SRR AR R 2

equity holder (Note b) BEARE (Hatb) 962,031 962,031

3,661,479 2,851,226
6,060,389 5,243,279
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)  Trade payables from Properties Segment comprise construction costs
and other project-related expenses which are payable based on project
progress and the average credit period of these trade payables is 60 days.
The average credit period on purchase of goods is generally from 30 days
extending up to 90 days for major suppliers from Trading Segment. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

24, £ K HAEARIE @)

Hrat -

() WMESBZEBENRACERENAREMIAE B
X - DIRBEAEESN - BREXEBRNRAZF
BEEHR60A - RESGHHBEIRREHBEEGY 2T
BEER BN FI0RERZI0A - AEED HIEHL
R EREE - ARRAARNFURAEEERRA -

AT AREERRAE B REREA B E 2 EB R R

date, at the end of the reporting period: THARER DT -
2016 2015
—B-RE —T-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBFT
0 to 60 days 0Z60H 1,418,012 1,547,008
61 to 180 days 61%180H 156,757 305,730
181 to 365 days 181F365H 189,009 323,775
Over 365 days BiA365H 635,132 215,540
2,398,910 2,392,053

(b)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entities of
the Group to which they relate:

(b) ZEBAREER REVWEREREE -

UAEERREREEB AN EREEZ XD
NEMBENFIEDHMT :

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—EF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETE

Denominated in HK$ LA EHE
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEME

386 157
169,794 211,971
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25. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS

25. BB AAZER

2016 2015
—E-RE —E-REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Non-current ERE
Loans from non-controlling equity holder REEE A R IR E R
of subsidiaries of the Group (Note a) BAEAZER(H#+a) 7,374 682,251
Loan from an intermediate holding —XEBEZER AR ZER (M7
company (Note ¢) 200,000 =
207,374 682,251
Current ED
Loans from non-controlling equity holders RNEEE A R FEEARE
of subsidiaries of the Group (Note b) BEAZER(H77D) 4,041,837 687,949
Loan from an intermediate holding —XMEBERARZER (M7
company (Note ¢) 2,401,184 1,130,156
6,443,021 1,818,105

Notes:

Hiat -

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of approximately RMB7,374,000
is unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered
by the People’s Bank of China, in which balance of approximately
RMB1,600,000 and RMB5,774,000 were repayable in 2017 and 2019,
respectively.

Included in the balances as at 31 December 2015 was an amount
of RMB652,425,000 were denominated in US$, unsecured, interest
bearing at fixed interest rate of 4% per annum, in which approximately
RMB307,730,000 and RMB344,695,000 were repayable in 2017
and 2018 respectively. The remaining balances of approximately
RMB29,826,000 were unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Republic of China and repayable in
2017.

(a)

RZT—ARF+ZA=+—8 " EHEEROARE
7,374,0007C B ERIR - R BARBITIREZ ARKEE
EERFKGTE - EFRLHHARK1,600,0007T AR
5,774,000 T AR D RIER T —+ER T NFE

”@ °

R-ZTE—AFE+-A=+—H0 BEHRLBSEARY
652,425,0007C © JYLAETTEHE - EBEE  BHEEF
FEA%EE - Hh 4 AR%307,730,000T R AR
344,695,000 TARBER -—E—+ER-T—\EH
B - BEHARY29,826,000TT AEEIF « IPBEAR
RITIREZ ARBEEEBEIMEABA AR T —+F

iz -
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BHE—F—

NEFTZA=F—HILFE

25. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2016, the amounts of approximately
RMB596,722,000 are unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of
6.6% per annum and repayable in 2017. The amounts of approximately
RMB470,702,000 are unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China, and repayable in 2017
or on demand. The amounts of approximately RMB2,221,164,000 are
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 4.35% per annum
and repayable in 2017. The remaining balances of RMB753,249,000 are
denominated in US$, unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of
4% per annum and repayable in 2017.

As at 31 December 2015, the amounts of approximately RMB49,000,000
were unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 6.6%
per annum, and repayable in 2016. The remaining balances of
RMB638,949,000 were unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China, and repayable in 2016
or on demand.

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of approximately
RMB2,400,000,000 is unsecured, interest-free and repayable in 2017.
The balances of approximately RMB201,184,000 are unsecured, interest
bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of
China, in which approximately RMB200,000,000 and RMB1,184,000 are
repayable in 2018 and 2017 respectively.

As at 31 December, 2015, the loan was unsecured, interest bearing at
RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China, and
repayable in 2016.

25. ERBEEAZER @)

Hiet - (&)

(b)

R-ZZE—R"FE+=ZA=+—H ' HHAR¥596,722,000
TZSHEAEER  RETEFENE6.6%RIWAR-E
—HFEE - S ARBA470,702,0007T B EIEIR « 7P
EARRITRHEZ ARBEEERFERFEREAR-S
—tFHIREREE - HEHAREE2,221,164,0007T /4
IR - HEEFEFRA435% BV AR T —+F(E
& o $4% AR 753,249,0007T © TYAETTAHE © EIK
1 RETEFFNRI%TEY AR T —FEE -

RZT—RF+=-A=1+—H " #HAK%¥49,000,0007T
ZERREER  RETFNE66%TEAIER-T
—NEFEE - B ARY638,949,0007T BEK - 1%
PRARSBITREZ ARBEEERM R BN AR
T NFRRERKEE -

RZE—AE+ZA=1+—"8 HEHARE
2,400,000,0007T A EIKIR - EEWER T —+FE
2 BRBHAR201,184,000T BEKA - IHPBEA
RIBITREZ ARBEEERNXRAL - HROARK
200,000,0007T K A R# 1,184,000 T 5 BIZBR ZF— N\
FERZFT—tFHEE-

RZZT-—RF+-A=+—H EXRREENR &P
ARBITRH{Z ARBEERFMEHFEUAR-F

—NEFEE -

Analysis of loans from equity holders denominated in LAAREBRBAE RSB UINER B

currencies other than the functional currency of the entities of BEANERSTHET :
the Group to which they relate:

2016 2015

—E-RE —T—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R ARBTFT

Denominated in US$ ASETTEHE 753,249 652,425
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26. OTHER PAYABLES 26. HitE(TFIE
As at 31 December 2016, the amount represents loans from a RZZE—ARFE+_A=+—H  ZFBREN—
fellow subsidiary which is unsecured, interest bearing at RMB XEZXMBARNER - ZEXEER - EZHEH
Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China ARBITREZ ARBEEERR R BALER
and repayable in 2019. ZE-NFEE -
27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. RITRHEMEE
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZE—hF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBTT
Bank borrowings (Note i) IRITIEE (H2Ei) 4,677,590 3,956,618
Other borrowings (Note ii) Hib e (#atii) 600,000 600,000
Total borrowings EE 4Rz 5,277,590 4,556,618
Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities B oA TRBABZEE (2,572,000) (1,105,202)
Amounts as non-current JEmE 2R 2,705,590 3,451,416
Carrying amount repayable:* JEERREE - *
Within one year —FE R 2,572,000 1,105,202
More than one year but not more BiE—F AT BB E
than two years 1,851,595 2,454,268
More than two years but not more R 38 i FF B AR IR L AR
than five years 853,995 997,148
5,277,590 4,556,618
Unsecured borrowings EEREE 5,107,590 4,368,818
Secured borrowings (Note Ji) BEBEE (W tii) 170,000 187,800
5,277,590 4,556,618
@ The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in * RRTy2 RN E R AR 2 REZRAH -

the loan agreements.

—TAEFR BERBHARAT 213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l_\/El\/E\ji%iﬁ% Bﬂ-%}

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFEF

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
The Group’s bank and other borrowings were subject to
variable-rate interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered
by the People’s Bank of China, London Interbank offered
Rate (“LIBOR") + 2.1% per annum or fixed-rate interest at
RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank
of China at the respective date of borrowings’ agreements.
The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings ranged from 2.25% to 6.6% (2015: 1.99% to
7.07%) per annum.

Notes:

@)

(ii)

(iii)

Amounts of RMB1,130,290,000 (2015: RMB1,067,800,000) are bank
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB") which is an associate
of CMG. Also, included in the balance was borrowings of approximately
RMB2,464,790,000 (2015: RMB380,000,000) that are guaranteed by the
non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of the Group and by the
Company.

At 31 December 2016 and 2015, the amount of approximately
RMB600,000,000 was borrowing from ABC-CA Fund Management.
which were repayable upon maturity in December 2018. The loan was
guaranteed by an intermediate holding company of the Company.

As at 31 December 2016, land located in Chongging with carrying values
of approximately RMB362,110,000 (2015: RMB699,290,000) have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to RMB170,000,000
(2015: RMB187,800,000) granted to the Group.
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27. BRITREMEE @)

AEEZRITREMEEERSBZEERZAR
HAPBRARRITIRE 2 ARBEELEGHF X -
RBERITRIEFRE ([HRBEBITRERS D+2.1%
AERZZHERFUFEARBITREZ AR
BERFRAER BT SR E - NEBIRIT
REMEE 2 BEFHENT2.25%E6.6%(=
T—HF  1.99%%FE7.07%) °

Hiet -

(i) SHEARM1,130,290,000t( =T —HF : AR
1,067,800,0007T ) 7% B B H 5 B 2 B & A R B A IRTT
([HRERIT ZIRMITEE - 1o - BEBRAOARE
2,464,790,0007T(=F— R4 : AR¥380,000,0007T)
TR AEENE A B IR EREE AREKABERZ
[5-

(i) RKRZB—A"EER=ZT—HF+=-A=+—8 5@
BRARRERESRMZEELNARKG600,000,000
T BRZE— N\F+Z AREREN c ERBEAAR
— R D AR -

iy RZT—X"E+ZA=+—8 FZEECEBUREE
REENAARYE362,110,0007L(ZT—RF : AR
699,290,0007T) 2 T » ABIR FALE 2 RITIEEA
R 170,000,000t (=T —AH%F : AR 187,800,000
TO)EH R -
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 27. SR{ITREMEE @)

Analysis of bank and other borrowings denominated in AR EBREEEINEEENINEEHEZRTT
currencies other than the functional currency of the entities of REMEBES AT :

the Group to which they relate:

2016 2015
- —FRF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBETT

Denominated in US$ ASETTEHE - 551,956
28. BONDS PAYABLE 28. B ES
In December 2013, the Group issued the credit enhanced RZE—=ZF+-F AEEBTASEBEL
bonds (the “Bonds”) with an aggregate principal amount of 500,000,000% 7T 2 fE A& ER([EH]) - &
US$500,000,000. The Bonds bear fixed interest at 4.021% ELETEFMEL021%:H8 > BFFEE - B
per annum, payable semi-annually each year. During the year HE_ZT—RE+_A=+—HILFE  £&H
ended 31 December 2016, the Group redeemed US$500,000 £ fE[81500,000% 7T (B E R4 A KR #53,382,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB3,382,000). The Bonds are TL) e BEHFRERM LM R T - N\F+=
listed on the Stock Exchange and will mature in December REIE -
2018.
The fair value of the bonds payable at 31 December 2016 RZE-—RE+_A=+—HENBESFZATE
amounted to approximately RMB3,559,756,000 (2015: N A ARE3,559,756,000C( ZF—HF : AR
RMB3,353,912,000). The fair value is calculated using the #£3,353,912,0007T) ° AFE A EF R R 2R
market price of the Bonds at the end of the reporting period. BEBZ2MISERTH -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 29. AT RfE

On 23 June 2015, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary,
Cosmos Boom Investment Limited (“Cosmos”) issued 0.50%
convertible bonds (“CBs") which will be due on 23 June 2020
with an aggregate principal amount of US$290,000,000.
The CBs were denominated in US$ and entitle the holders
to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$2.9875 per share with fixed exchange
rate of HK$7.7559 equal to US$1.00 at any time on or after
2 August 2015 and thereafter up to the close of business on
the tenth day prior to the maturity date or if such bonds shall
have been called for redemption by Cosmos before maturity
date, then up to and including the close of business on a date
no later than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption
thereof. Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased and
cancelled, all CBs outstanding on maturity date shall be repaid
by Cosmos at its principal amount outstanding on maturity
date plus accrued interest. Cosmos may, on giving not less
than 30 nor more than 90 days’ notice to bondholders at any
time on or after 23 December 2016 prior to the maturity date
redeem all the outstanding CBs in whole at the outstanding
principal amount and accrued interest. The bondholders have
the right to require the Group to redeem all or some of the
CBs on 23 June 2018 at their principal amount together with
accrued and unpaid interest to the respective dates fixed for
redemption.

At the issue date, the CBs were bifurcated into liability,
equity and derivative components. The equity element is
presented in equity under “Convertible bonds equity reserve”
at initial recognition. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 5.196% per annum.
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RIZE—RAEXNA-Z+=0 " ARFZ2EH B
RARBEERARAG ([ KRB BITAS LR
290,000,000 TR S _FF A -+ =HF
Hi20.50F rTpR B ([ mkES ) o R
BEHEUETE  TRTFEHEEAEFNITR=-Z
—REFENA-BSZAERBENETREE
AR5 ) 45 3R LRI S FE] S i R BR A B B H BT B Sk B
EzEES - WEERBIETNENIETERD B
AITHB 2 BHZ EX£RRARE - UEREE
2.9875 0 2 BRI (E L B 157 755970 %,1.00E T 2
& E fE g T R EH R B AR B - B
JELAIEER « iR - BBE NHE - BRIRERE
LAEIEA B MR 2 KSR INE A B EEER
HH M ABR AT RRES - KEARZT
—ANE+ZAZTZBHR2BERBE R AT
BREBBRESHEAZRETLRI08 I TEB
90H Z MAE - RN AREIR 7 ANE 5HE R FE T A
E2HEBELMAER AT RRES - EFF
BEANERERREEN -_ZE—-N\FRA=-+=H
BUARSHEEREZIRTER 280 A B2 Bt
KA FI B HEE A kB0 Al Rk ES -

REITHE - ATMRESH BAE  ERRITE
Hrn o RYTHERER D EEZIE N AR
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The movements of the liability, equity and derivatives
components of the CBs and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair
value measurement during the reporting period are set out

29. TR EZH @)

TT’*‘H&F%ZQF Fé &mi*li b"\ﬁ%,ﬁﬁﬁﬂ

below:
Derivative  Derivative
Liability financial financial Equity
component assets liabilities component
of CBs of CBs of CBs of CBs Total
IRkES2 THRRESz TEARESZ TERERZ
afEHs TELMEE fTELRAR BRI @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR¥TR ARETR AR%TR AR%Tx
At 1 January 2015 “E-1F—-f—H = = = - -
Issued during the year FREBT 1,434,233 (144,794) 61,324 421,687 1,772,450
Transaction cost RBHA (25,027) = = (7,358) (32,385)
Changes in fair value NEEEE (14,259) 7,279 - (6,980)
Imputed interest expense (Note 8) HENBRZ(H528) 39,718 - - - 39,718
Interest paid BAAE (4,758) = = (4,758)
Exchange translation GNEHE 89,173 (9,517) 4,072 - 83,728
At 31 December 2015 Eé:?*ﬁﬁ+:ﬂ E=10E
and 1 January 2016 - F—H—H 1,533,339 (168,570) 72,675 414,329 1,851,773
Changes in fair value MEM@J 60,922 (4,398) - 56,524
Imputed interest expense (Note 8) HERISHAZ (H:28) 83,234 = = = 83,234
Interest paid 2RFE (9,630) = = (9,630)
Exchange translation HNEHRE 107,972 (8,803) 4,767 - 103,936
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—REF+ZA=+—R8 1714915 (116,451) 73,044 414,329 2,085,837
No CBs were converted into ordinary shares of the Company HE_Z—XFEA-ZFT—RF+-A=+—AH1Lt

during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. As at
31 December 2016, the principal amount of the CBs that
remained outstanding amounted to US$290,000,000 of which
a maximum amount of 752,873,974 (2015: 752,873,974)
shares may fall to be issued upon their conversions, subject
to adjustments provided in the terms of the CBs. For details
of the terms of the CBs, please refer to the announcement of

the Company dated 3 June 2015.

FE - BEAVRBRESFERAA AR LR -
RZE—ARF+_A=+—8 " BAREBRZA
&S A £ % 5290,000,000% 7T © HF &%
752,873,974M (—ZF— R4 :752,873,9740% ) iR
AR IR T - ERIBATRAREH 2 650R
EA] TR - ATRRES Z ERFBRRHAR
AIEHA_T—RAFAAAZHZAE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. AR ESF &)

At 31 December 2016 and 2015, the fair values of the RZEB-—RERZT—RAF+_A=+—H 17
derivative financial assets and liabilities were valued by Jones SeMEENABZ ATETIHERNE®EL ERH
Lang, an independent qualified professional valuer, not B BIAEREEMBEMMEEITIM - 74
connected with the Group. The fair values of the derivative CREE/BEZAFESNRRESHHEER
financial assets/liabilities were estimated at the end of FRA-EAEA G #HE_ZT—RFT=A
reporting periods, respectively using the Binomial model. The =+—RALEFEE THemEEBBEEHRR
total transaction cost attributable to derivative financial assets/ SRR B ARE3,597,0007T © RiFRERR
liabilities of approximately RMB3,597,000 was recognised in TR - MTESREE BEZATEZINEG
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended ERERPER ZEAZBABBROT

31 December 2015. The changes in fair value of derivative
financial assets/liabilities were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The inputs into the model were as

follows:
(Date of issue)
EITHE
At At At
31 December 31 December 23 June
2016 2015 2015
REZ—R"F  RIZ—AF RIT—A8F
+=ZA=+—HB +=ZA=+—H R<A=t+=H
Share price A&(E HK$1.12 HK$1.56 HK$2.07
B1.127 VS 1.567T B2 077
Conversion price EE HK$2.9875 HK$2.9875 HK$2.9875
752987570 AB%2.98757T B#2.98755T
Expected volatility TEHAR 1R 57% 65% 60%
Expected life TEHASEHY 1,271 Days 1,637 Days 1,828 Days
1,271H 1,637H 1,828H
Risk free rate R B A 1.57% 1.64% 1.70%
Expected dividend yield TREARR Bl = 0.69% 1.00% 1.00%
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. g4
Ordinary share capital of the Company ARARZEBRER
Number of
shares Amount
RBEE Ex-t]
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BREEE%0.017T2 LBk
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015, R-ZE—RF—H—H -
1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016 —E—HF+=-A=+—8"
—E-RE-HA—-BkK
—E—RXF+_A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000
Number of
shares Equivalent to
RBEE HER
HK$'000 RMB’000
BETT AR%®TR
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHZ
At 1 January 2015 and RZZE—RF—A—HK
31 December 2015, —E-hF+-HA=+—H8"
1 January 2016 and ZE-RF-A-HBK
31 December 2016 —E-XFt+-_A=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
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BHE—F—

NEFTZA=F—HILFE

31. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND DISPOSAL OF
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT
CHANGE OF CONTROL

i)

On 25 March 2015, Merchants Nanjing, entered into
a cooperation agreement with Shanghai Jingshi Equity
Investment and Fund Management Company Limited
("Shanghai Jingshi”), an independent third party,
pursuant to which among other things, Shanghai
Jingshi subscribed for the registered capital of Nanjing
Zhaosheng of RMB98,000,000. As a result, the registered
share capital of Nanjing Zhaosheng increased from
RMB30,000,000 to RMB200,000,000 and the equity
interest in Nanjing Zhaosheng being held by Merchants
Nanjing decreased from 100% to 51%. The difference
between the fair value of consideration paid by Shanghai
Jingshi and the share of net assets in Nanjing Zhaosheng
of approximately RMB242,000 is recognised by the
Group in equity transaction reserve.

On 30 March 2016, Foshan Yi Yun Property Development
Co., Ltd.* ("Foshan Yi Yun”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement
with Jiayin Shengshi, an independent third party,
pursuant to which among other things, Jiayin Shengshi
and Foshan Yi Yun subscribed for the registered
capital of Yi Yun Guan Yuan of RMB20,000,000
and RMB69,500,000 respectively. As a result, the
registered capital of Yi Yun Guan Yuan increased from
RMB10,500,000 to RMB100,000,000, and the equity
interest in Yi Yun Guan Yuan being held by Foshan Yi
Yun decreased from 100% to 80%.

The difference between the fair value of consideration
paid by Foshan Yi Yun and the share of net assets in
Yi Yun Guan Yuan of approximately RMB824,000 is
recognised by the Group in equity transaction reserve.

Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only
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31. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND DISPOSAL OF
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT
CHANGE OF CONTROL (continued)

iii)

On 30 June 2016, Merchants Nanjing entered into a
cooperation agreement with Nanjing Renyuan and
Poly Jiangsu pursuant to which, among other things,
a company, Nanjing Shanjieyi will be set up in the PRC
to engage in the development of the land. Nanjing
Shanjieyi initially had a registered share capital of
RMB1,000,000,000 and held as to 51% by Merchants
Nanjing, 33% by Nanjing Renyuan and 16% by
Poly Jiangsu. On 28 December 2016, Merchants
Nanjing, Nanjing Renyuan and Poly Jiangsu subscribed
for the registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi of
RMB500,000,000. As a result, the registered capital of
Nanjing Shanjieyi increased from RMB1,000,000,000
to RMB1,500,000,000 and the equity interest held
by Merchants Nanjing decreased from 51% to 36%.
The difference between share of net assets in Nanjing
Shanjieyi derived before and after subscription of
approximately RMB3,219,000 is recognised by the Group
in equity transaction reserve.

Even though the Group only has 36% interest in Nanjing
Shanjieyi, it is a subsidiary of the Group. The directors of
the Company assessed the Group’s control over it on the
basis of its practical ability to direct the relevant activities
unilaterally in making their judgement, the directors
of the Company considered the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities
of it and therefore the Group has control over it.

AREHERRNEGRL BB 215

MTITHEMB AR 2R @)

iii)

MNZZ—XRNENAZTAH ERBEEEM
EEARCERRIIG LA ERE
B (HEFEE)  BREAZBRFBEE
SAZE TR c mREARBYES
ST A% ZN A R 1,000,000,0007T 3 F1 G I
BRABME - mRCERRAIEHD B
A51% ~33% K%16% c R - ZT—RFE+—
AZ+N\B  ERBEEHE BRCE
RRFIHRABEREARAZ2AMERA
R ¥5500,000,0007C ° AL BREREZ
FHE A B A RE1,000,000,000 T8 &
AR #1,500,000,0007T * B BEFEHE
HHZBERIA51%HRE36% ° D1 F
RERBEEFERRBARZEZBOHAN
R#3,219,000 T EA L EERABERR S
i -

BEASEERAERENEI6%ES
HNAREBZMEBLRR - RAREERN
EHREHE R ARLE T T ERAERB 2
ERGENRERTEAREZES - A2
RAEERRAEERA RN TERFES
NEBHBAER - Bt AREHFE
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32. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS 32. Wig —EEHEAR M EQRE

IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF
CONTROL

As detailed in note 31(i), on 25 March 2015, Merchants
Nanjing entered into a cooperation agreement with
Shanghai Jingshi pursuant to which Merchants Nanjing
and Shanghai Jingshi agreed to jointly invest in Nanjing
Zhaosheng. Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, Shanghai
Jingshi had subscribed for the capital increase and it had
nominated Shanghai Jingshi Ruipu Investment Center (Limited
Partnership)* (“Shanghai Jingshi Ruipu”), an entity controlled
by Shanghai Jingshi, to hold the 49% equity interest in
Nanjing Zhaosheng.

On 13 November 2015, Merchants Nanjing, Shanghai
Jingshi, Shanghai Jingshi Ruipu and Nanjing Zhaosheng
entered into a termination agreement pursuant to which the
parties agreed to (i) terminate the cooperation agreement
since 30 September 2015; and (ii) Shanghai Jingshi Ruipu
would transfer the 49% equity interest held by it in Nanjing
Zhaosheng to Merchants Nanjing as soon as practicable at the
total consideration of RMB93,000,000, which was funded by
the Group’s internal resources.

As a result of the termination of the cooperation agreement,
Nanjing Zhaosheng became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Merchants Nanjing.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid by
the Group and the share of net assets in Nanjing Zhaosheng
of approximately RMB736,000 is recognised by the Group
as equity transaction reserve. Details are disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 13 November 2015.
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. BB AT ARIIEEEWE

ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ACQUISITION

On 15 April 2016, the Group acquired 60% equity interests RZEBE—XNFHEATHEB  AEENURSAREA
of Poly Field from an independent third party for a cash 437,058,300t B — BB E = EESE
consideration of RMB437,058,300. Poly Field and its sole 60% 2 ANz - BB R E BB A B (5
wholly-owned subsidiary were incorporated in the PRC (the BIBEEE|)RFBEEMKY - AAREER
“Poly Field Group”). The directors of the Company are of the REEIBEEE FREERBEMIEEBEO - R
opinion that the acquisition of Poly Field is in substance an RAEBEEEFEZTE ARSI HHER
asset acquisition instead of a business combination, as the net R T BBENEREEWERRFAR
assets of Poly Field was mainly a piece of land recording under ESEE

properties for sale under development and Poly Field was
inactive prior to the acquisition by the Group.

Net assets of Poly Field Group acquired: T EEEE 2 EEFE -
RMB’'000
ARETR
Plant and equipment = K 5 A 2
Properties for sale under development At ERRER Y E 655,789
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIRE 77,090
Other payables H A EROR (4,451)
728,430
Non-controlling interests JEFERR A 5 (291,372)
437,058
Satisfied by: BEATREAT
Cash consideration HERE 437,058
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition IWEEEE 2 RS R T F5E
Cash paid BEfEE (437,058)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B BEWEERITERER S 77,090
(359,968)
The non-controlling interest in Poly Field Group recognised RUEE B iR 2 e E S 2 R ER T2 E
at the acquisition date was measured by reference to SBEEEEEEFEDERATIE LGS
the proportionate share of recognised amounts of net # B AR¥291,372,0007T °

assets of Poly Field Group and amounted to approximately
RMB291,372,000.

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

()

(i)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern

wh

ile maximising the return to shareholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans from
equity holders, loans from a fellow subsidiary, bonds payable,
bank and other borrowings and liability component of
convertible bonds, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity, comprising share capital, share premium, various
reserves and non-controlling interests.
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as the issue of
new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

The entities of the Group which were established in the PRC
maintained RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

35. 5 R EE @)

ARABEFTEHMRAENERE - (R —8
BRELERZEENAE AR - RRAATE
EZHBER  AEBESEBITHR ORMNERE
ARBITHEXERRBES - FEHEEREXR
e o

RPBER 2 A EEBEIFEUAREEZR
1T#58R - B BEEHZSHAAETHERNE
T 2 BEE 5 PR A -

REERBREPRET R ZERBELRNAT :

2016 2015

—E—XE —“ZE—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R AREFTT

Debt (Note i) &I (K 7i) 17,084,380 11,797,252
Cash and cash equivalents BeRERBELSER (5,810,922)  (3,696,837)
Net debt SR ETE 11,273,458 8,100,415
Equity (Note ii) W (Ha#ii) 14,107,970 11,685,090
Net debt to equity ratio SRERY RS LR 0.80 0.69

(i) Debt is defined as loans from equity holders, non-
current portion of other payables, bonds payable, liability
component of convertible bonds and bank and other
borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and
non-controlling interests.

() EBEBREAREBEFAEAZIER - Bt
ENFRIEZIFREED - BNES - ATk
KEFZBEHRDURRITREMER -

(i) 0 A BT A A B A R 3
AR -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

36. €T R
(a) EMTADE

2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARET T

Financial assets ERMEE
FVTPL BAFEF AER 116,451 168,570
Loans and receivables (including B ERIE

bank balances and cash) (PHEBITEAELERS) 12,022,629 7,336,735
Financial liabilities sHMAas
FVTPL AT EABZR 73,044 72,675
Other financial liabilities LA SRR AR Z e B A&

at amortised cost

21,703,060 15,939,804

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, loans
from equity holders, trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, convertible bonds and bonds payable.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency denominated
trade and other receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, loans from equity holders,
bank and other borrowings and bonds payable,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
The management has closely monitored foreign
exchange exposure and will undertake necessary
procedures to mitigate the currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

36. €@ T B (@)
(b) MBEKMEERERKE (&)

misER

(@)

B E R

AEBEEAINETHEZ EB R E A
FEMFRIR - IRITAERR - R REME
NHIA - BEFHBEAER - RITRE
fEERENES  BEASEEY
SNERR - EEECEIERINER
B T S BRER 44 2 32 LA R 88 5 HE

LA
oo
PR

o

REBNUINEFECEEREERER
BERBRENHEAER ZREABAN
™

Assets Liabilities
BE aE

2016 2015 2016 2015
—E-XRE Z—ZT—FHE Z—ZB-—-XRE —ZT—HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®TIT AR®BTR ARETT
us$ ETT 461,344 353,617 4,350,027 4,623,291
HK$ ot 8,892 - 386 -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2015: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB,
the functional currency of respective group entities,
against US$ which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding US$ denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% (2015: 5%)
change in foreign currency rate. A positive number
below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where
RMB strengthen 5% (2015: 5%) against US$ and
vice versa.

36. €@t T B (@)
(b) MEEKMTERERKE (&)

misER(E)

—

i)

EHERER ()

HEE ST
TERAMAEEFARE (FHEEE
BERZNEER) RETABEREE
5%(—Z—FRF : 5%) 2HEE &%
BREHEREEINEERA L LR
ZEBEFH T  c MEEDNER
FEUAETEZREEEKIER - I
NS REE B RINEER 25%
(ZZ—AF 5%)EHFARHHRE -
NTESBAREARBLETL LA
5% (=T —AR%F : 5%)BFHREEER
ZEENEEE  RZINK o

2016 2015

—E—XE —T—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREFTT

Profit or loss 1Bz 161,998 160,113
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate interest bearing
receivables and payables, including amounts due
from joint ventures, bank balances, bank and other
borrowings and loans from equity holders.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to its fixed-rate loans from equity holders,
amounts due from associates, convertible bonds,
bank and other borrowings and bonds payable.

The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy in relation to fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. However,
management of the Group monitors interest rate
exposure on an on-going basis and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of
this note.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China or
LIBOR.

36. €@ T B (@)

(b) BRERERERERBEEKE)

misER(E)

(i) FMEREERERE
AEBEBEAZERINFBNEREFELZ
R RIB R N RIR(BERERS S
IR - RITHAS - RITREME
EULRESKAEART)EBZERE
MENERE

AEEZ AVFENRRERE R EE S
FEABEMNRER - EWREE AR
FOR - AHRRES - RITREMEE
AR EMNEHER -

R E BRI A B A T E R R @R
RIS 8 F X E R 2 F & K
o R AREEEEFBEREMN
KRR WHRFERERE FEKR
MEER -

AEEEH 2 ERAENRERRA
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared
assuming these financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2015: 50
basis points) increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2015: 50
basis points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest
bearing financial assets/liabilities and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would decrease/increase by
RMB7,712,000 (2015: RMB4,904,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of each
reporting period; and

the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financial guarantees issued by the Group as
disclosed in note 39.
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36. €@ T B (@)
(b) MHERETEEERKE (&

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
bank balances. At 31 December 2016, approximately
61% (2015: 69%) of the bank balances were deposited
at CMB. Except for approximately 12% (2015: nil) and
10% (2015: 12%) of the bank balances deposited at
China Construction Bank and Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China (Asia) Limited, deposits in other banks
are individually less than 10% of total bank deposits
and bank balances. The credit risk of these liquid funds
is limited because the counterparties are either state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high
credit ratings.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amounts due from non-controlling equity holders
of subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December 2016
and 2015, and amounts due from associates and joint
ventures at 31 December 2016 and 2015. In order
to minimise the credit risk on these amounts, the
management of the Company continuously monitors
the credit quality and financial conditions of non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures of the Group and the level of exposure
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Under such circumstances, the directors
of Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
insignificant.

EERK(E)
AEBZRTEHRBEERBREFRBEL
R_E—RNF+_A=+—8  R174
4961% (—ZF—F4F : 69% ) FHABEIR
1T BREBITESBRD12%(ZE—R1E : &)
F10%(ZE—HF : 12%) FTHRFPEH
ERRITRABE I ERIT (M) BRAR
Hh - AR EALRITER D RIRITFER LR
THBETFEZ10% - BERRSEF AR
PEBEARITHASEETRZRT
HtERDESZEERBBR °

RZEB-—RERZTE-—RF+_A=1+—
B AEERERASEN B A RFEZER
BaFHAEAZHKBERFEEERRBREDE
N WR—_E—RFRZZE-—RHF+=A
S+ AREREERRIREERE LR
BHREEERBEFRBR - ﬁﬂ#&ti?#\
Z=EERKE %ﬁf—'{fﬁ ARREBEHE
EEAEEEEA Hﬁ%%ﬂj EED
FIEERER Hﬁ/\Zﬁf\gﬁﬁﬁﬁfoK
JUA R BB /K - AR R ER R A U e
BEER - MUBBERAT ARAFESER
AREEZZERBREN -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection
with certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans
to finance their purchase of the Group’s properties. If
a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
during the period of guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to repossess
the properties for resale. Therefore, the management
of the Company consider it would likely recover any
loss incurred arising from the guarantee provided by
the Group. No such repossession of properties occurred
during the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding generated from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and
issue of new debts. The directors of the Company
closely monitor the liquidity position and expect to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the Group's
projects and operations.

The following table details the Group’s expected
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. T R
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MEEKREREBERBEE &)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE SRR (F)
On demand Total
within 61t0180  181to 365 undiscounted Carrying
60 days days days 1-2 years 2-3years Over3years  cash flows amount
BEX AERRE
60EA  61Z180H  1812365H 1826 183F B3 REAR RAE

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARETR  ARRTR ARRTR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARETR

At 31 December 2016 WIB-RE

+-A=1+-H
Trade and other payables £BRAMERNFE 4,618,680 - - - - - 4618680 4,618,680
Loans from equity holders BRBAALER-

- due within one year —Em3E - 502,892 6,105,090 - - - 6607982 6,443,021
Loans from equity holders BERAAZEHN-

- due after one year —ERT|H - - - 214,547 6,545 - 221,09 207,374
Other payables - due after one year EfEATE-

38 - - - 15,698 - - 15,698 14,748
Bank and other borrowings - fixed rate BAREMEE-E8 97,456 96,792 - 656,766 703,336 - 1,554,350 1,432,000
Bank and other borrowings - variable rate ST REMEE-ZE 5,577 259332 2215216 1,303,731 238,006 - 4021862 3,845,590
Bonds payable JEfE% 2,233 44,466 66,699 133398 3,320,850 - 3587646 3426732
Convertible bonds mhRES 1,605 3,210 4,815 9,630 9,630 1,930,908 1,959,798 1,714,915

4,745,551 906,692 8,391,820 2,333,770 4,278,367 1,930,908 22,587,108 21,703,060

Financial quarantee contracts BBERAY 3,636,746 - - - - - 3,636,746 -
At 31 December 2015 R-B-1&

+-B=1+-H
Trade and other payables ERREMENTE 4,142,552 - - - - - 4,142,552 4,142,552
Loans from equity holders BaRaAZER-

- due within one year —EREIH 9,677 1,464,357 400,290 - - - 1,874,324 1,818,105
Loans from equity holders BERAAIEN-

- due after one year —ER3H - - - 361,650 373,732 - 735,382 682,251
Bank and other borrowings - fixed rate FOREMEE-TE 2,522 19,571 1,096,649 571,635 685,344 2,375,721 2,199,662
Bank and other borrowings - variable rate  FTREMEE-F8 = 16,799 17270 2,103,310 420,563 255794 2,356,956
Bonds payable EfiES 21,048 42,09 63,144 126,288 3373,088 - 3625660 3206939
Convertible bonds wihRES 12,774 25,841 39,503 81,764 85,602 2,017,108 2,262,592 1,533,339

4,188,573 1,568,664 1,616,856 3,244,647 4,938,329 2,017,108 17,574177 15,939,804
Financial guarantee contracts BiERaH 2,462,554 - - - - - 2460554 -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that
no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending
on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee, which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties that are
guaranteed by the Group suffer any credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €@ T B@m)
(c) Fair value (o) DA¥E

Except as set out below, the directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and 2015
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

BT XHIIESN - ARNEERS - K=
T AFR-FE-HFT=A=+—8
NEARHEREABBRAARZ S BE
ERSMA N FRERLATELE -

Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE AFE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T

Financial liability - level 2 Fair SRIBE-AFEEBRE-R

value hierarchy
Other financial liability — Bonds payable EmerBE-—ENES
As at 31 December 2016 R-ZE—RFE+-A=+—H 3,426,732 3,559,756
As at 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF+=-A=+—H 3,206,939 3,353,912
The fair values of derivative components of convertible RAFEFERA B GEEX G T RRES 2
bonds are estimated using Binomial model (2015: PETAXSAFE(ZZE—AF : AR GHE
Binomial model) and the movements thereon during the BR) R EESBEHHTFE29 ©

year are set out in note 29.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €@ T B @)
(c) Fair value (continued) (o) D¥EE)

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the only financial
instrument measured at fair value was the derivative
component of convertible bonds which belongs to level
3 financial instruments.

RIB-—ARERZT-—AF+_A=+—
B EERAVEFEZERTARAE
BREFZITETARD (BE=FBT
H) -

Valuation techniques and

Fair value significant key or
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy unobservable inputs
RUTA#Z REFER
¢WIA AVE ATEER EXTESFURRAALE
31 December 31 December
2016 2015
—E-RE “E-hF
+=A=t—-B +ZA=+—H
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Derivative component of
convertible bonds
ARRERZITELARS
- Financial assets 116,451 168,570  Level 3 Valuation technique: Binomial method
- SREE E=4 HERE ZIRAHERER
Key observable inputs:
FETHEHABIE
Risk-free rate 2016: 1.57%
(2015: 1.64%)
ERBNE ZERF157%
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

36. €@ T B (@)
(0 AFEME)

Valuation techniques and

Fair value significant key or
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy unobservable inputs
RUTBE#Z HELER
¢RMIA AYE AVFERER EXTEGFUBRBANE
31 December 31 December
2016 2015
ZE-RE “T-A1F
+ZA=t—-B +=ZRA=1+—-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AREFT
- Financial liabilities (73,044) (72,675)  Level 3 Valuation technique: Binomial method
-SREE F=/ HERE - ZEABERES
Key observable inputs:
FTETHEHAYE

Risk-free rate

ERERFIE

Effective interest rate

Bl FI

Key unobservable inputs:

FETABERAYIE -
Volatility

18

2016: 1.57%

(2015: 1.64%)
“TRE157%
(ZZ—hF : 1.64%)
2016: 5.196%

(2015: 5.196%)
ZT—RF 15.19%%
(ZZ—RF :5.19%)

2016: 57%
(2015 65%)

“E—RE 1 57%
(ZZ—FR%F : 65%)

Note: A 10% (2015: 10%) increase in the volatility with all other

Biat - RIEIZIN10% (=2 —H5F : 10%)MATHE LB B4R

variables constant would decrease the fair value of the derivative
financial assets and increase the fair value of derivative financial
liabilities at 31 December 2016 by approximately RMB10,992,000
(2015: increase RMB2,924,000) and RMB5,496,000 (2015:

THEBYN T RE+-A=+—BITELMEE
DN ERDH AREE10,992,00070( Z T —F4F : #h0
AR#2,924,00070) RETES R B BERFEEMARE
5,496,0007T (=T — A% : FP ARMES74,0007T) ©

decrease RMB574,000), respectively.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the HE-ZT-—RFR-FT—AFT-A=1+—Hit

years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. Please refer
to note 29 for the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurement.

FE - TEBAXBHE=H - FAXFEFE
F=BZHRF2HME29

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

36. €@t T B (@)
(0 AFREME)

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis.

Valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements are determined by the directors of the
Company or the independent qualified valuers.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Group engages independent qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The directors of the Company
work closely with the independent qualified valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The directors of the Company will review
the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the assets and
liabilities semi-annually.

HppeREEREMBBEZAFEDRE
RAEBEARUBBRSRENNETE -

hERR
AEBETEERABERAFENE N
EMBHRERE - AFEAEZERMGE
TERBABBIRARREERBIE
BRLEETE -

M BEEXBBELATER AEEEA
REERAERMSHE  EXEE—LEH
ABBZBELT "EBZBBILAER
HEMETHE ARFAEFSEBYS
BEREEMEREERIERNERZHE
TERBARE -  AARNEFKEBLFE
MEERABEAHERBZIRA -

37. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as a lessor

Rental income from investment properties earned during the
year was RMB59,946,000 (2015: RMB4,673,000).
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37. OPERATING LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the future minimum lease payments as

7. XEHE w)

AEBEEAHBAE)

REEREER  AEEERAERARSE
HEEZETH - BRWT -

follows:
2016 2015
—RE “T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R AREBFIT
Within one year —FER 15,194 5,181
In the second to fifth year, inclusive “ERERN(BIEERERSE) 70,905 15,074
After five years hFi& 7,083 674
93,182 20,929

The Group as a lessee

The Group’s minimum lease payments paid during the year
ended 31 December 2016 under operating leases in respect of
rented premises amounted to approximately RMB7,959,000
(2015: RMB4,135,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of leased properties are as follows:

AEBERABA
HE-Z—XF+-A=1+—HLEFE  ~5£H
BECEHERCHEVESI N 2R EHERE
4B ANREET 959,000 L(—FE—HF : AR
4,135,0007T) °

RERRSEER - ARERE T RELEH
EREREMEZ RRKEEERBNTHR :

2016 2015

—E-XRE —T—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R ARBTFIT

Within one year —FE R 5,522 4,185
In the second to fifth year, inclusive ZERFRN(BEERRF) 49,745 7,400
After five years hFi& 150,008 12,843
205,275 24,428
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37. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 37. REHE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERFABEAE)
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEMSFIRERNEEREETHAEMERK
Group for certain of its office premises and investment BEMEEINZHEE - BOFHEMFEETRF
properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term of two (ZZ2—1F WMEZTRF)EE R M2
to fifteen years (2015: two to fifteen years) and rentals are REFHEMZEE BT -

fixed at the date of signing of lease agreements.

38. COMMITMENTS 38. &L
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the REEMREGEER - NEBEHEA AR
following commitments:
2016 2015
S =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBFIT
Commitments contracted for but not provided LA~ A& ET41E W AR
in the consolidated financial fre MG w2 R
statements in respect of:
— construction of properties under —BEAHEERRTYE
development for sale 5,449,311 5,349,817
— land use rights to be acquired —HAE R EERER Y
for properties under development i #% T W g 2 ik R 4
for sale 1,963,000 1,863,106
— leasehold improvements —REHAEEEERR AR 21,491 -
7,433,802 7,212,923
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

39. RAREE

2016 2015
- —FRF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETTT

Guarantee given to banks in connection

with facilities granted to customers (Note /) R
Court proceedings (Note ii) SREA (AT aLii)

AERTEF ZBEMI TIRITZ

3,636,746 2,462,554
- 29,508

Notes:

(ii)

The Group acted as a guarantor to the mortgage loans granted to certain
purchasers of the Group’s properties and agreed to repay the outstanding
loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers default the repayment
of loan before the issue of the property certificate. The directors of the
Company consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts
is not significant as the default rate is low.

A subsidiary of the Group was a defendant in a legal action involving an
alleged failure of the subsidiary to settle the payable to a contractor in
accordance with the terms of contract, while the subsidiary also filed a
counterclaim. At the date of this report, the sentence has not yet been
made. The directors of the Company believe, based on legal advice, that
the action can be successfully defended and no losses (including claims
for costs) will be incurred.

EE

(if)

AEBBETETAEENEER 2 RIBE R ML
RA - WRBMERRENE LN EEEANEEEH
AEEGEENAEEERREENE - mREHYE
& ARAEERRUBERENZIATHELTERK -

AEEME AR R —RSRAEREAS QG AARR
RERENRIE A RFAR 2 E - MM B R IR R
HERFFK - RABETERD - ZRAFOHREART
Z o AQNRERME  BBXEBR - ZAFATERN
i BT EEAEAER(BEERERNRE) -

—TAEFR BEARBMHERAT 241



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e I R AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE_F—FL+_A=1+—HIFE

40. BEATHE
(@) BEALRS
BRREAMERE L EHIHBEES -
AEREBEAHEANTRS -

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) Related party transactions
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties:

2016 2015
“E-RE  —E2-nf¥
RMB’000 RMB'000
Related party BEAL Nature of transaction RoHME ARETR ARETR
Fellow subsidiaries RZH BT Property management ENMEERER
fee paid 129,744 70,702
Construction service fee TEREER 6,060 2,703
Commission expenses for issue %17 A A% & 4
of convertible bonds ZReYH - 9,083
Operational support BEYE
service income BRESU A 5,534 13,625
Other expenses HinEH 424 -
Associate of ultimate SRR FlY  Finance costs RE R AN 49,726 77,556
holding company BN\ F Bank interest income SRITHIBMA 23,908 16,876
Site management income S E B 6 -
A joint venture —HAaghE Properties operation income MEEERA 54,729 =
An associate —EBERF Properties operation income MELEBA 17,182 -
(b) Related party balances (b) BBEALLEE

AEEREEA L2 ERFIERBERIE
192224252627 °

Details of the Group’s balances with related parties are
disclosed in notes 19, 22, 24, 25, 26 and 27.

RZE—RNE+-A=1+—8 - R17&%
4N R#3,529,745,0007T ( Z B — A F ¢
AR#2 565,106,00070) F A HERTT ©

As at 31 December 2016, bank balances of approximately
RMB3,529,745,000 (2015: RMB2,565,106,000) were
deposited at CMB.
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

(d)

Compensation of key management personnel

40. BEATHE@®)
() TEEHEAEZFHE

2016 2015

—E—-REF —T—hEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Short-term employee benefits NHEE R 9,547 7,649
Post-employment benefits RIRE T 379 370
9,926 8,019

Transactions with other government-related
entities in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CMG which is controlled by the PRC government.
Thus, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group is ultimately controlled by the PRC government. In
addition, the Group operates in an economic environment
currently pre-denominated by entities controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC
government (“PRC government-related entities”). Apart
from the transactions with the intermediate holding
company and the fellow subsidiaries set out in (a) and (b)
above, the Group also conducts businesses with other
PRC government-related entities in the ordinary course
of business. The Group’s restricted bank deposits, bank
deposits and bank borrowings are entered into with
certain banks which are PRC government-related entities
in its ordinary course of business. In addition, the Group
entered into various transactions, including purchases
of land use rights, construction of properties and other
operating expenses with other PRC government-related
entities in the ordinary course of business. In view of
the nature of those transactions, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that separate disclosures
would not be meaningful.

(d) BEMPBERFBEEER XS

AEESHETEBRFEH 2 BRREEE
THREBXEERRZ 82 - Bt - &
RAEERR  AEBXPBEBTHRE
il o pLoh - AREARERBERTREZ
PREIBFMES - AREHRRETAS
AEEhzER((TRRFREER]) X
B o R (a) R(b) B E P RIER AR R
REMBAR XS ARETFRAE
EBBRPEAMTERFEEREET
7% - ARBEXRBIVITER - RITER
RRITEETIR A EBBIET HE+E
BTREE R 2 & TIRITAIML » ptHh - K
KECDAYZHERS BRRAEEBS
RHEAGTRERFEEERBEE LE
Pt BENER S REMEERAT -
ZERHEERER  ARREEBR/HIT
BREAESE -
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 40. AEALTHE @)

(e) Management services (e) EERM
The Group's activities were planned, directed and AEBZEZHHEEEOERERE - &
controlled by the management of CMSK, which did not BREG BE_E-AFER-_ZT—HF
charge any fee for services rendered during the years FTZA=+—ALFE  BEKOLER
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. FriRft 2 RIS CEVERIE A -
41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. XA FRB AR 2 FE
COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 RZBE—ARERZE—RAF+ZA=+—H8 ' &
December 2016 and 2015 are as follows: NARIFEWBAR 2 FBWT ¢
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
R AT BRTREHRE ARAEER
o) PNGIECE L3t B MR FERERRLH TEER
2016 2015

“B-AE AR

Directly owned

EEER

Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of electronic and

ERERAR &t #£10,0007T electrical related products
BEETREREWER

Harvest Allied Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

EXEREERAT &R 7#10,0007C REZR

Cosmos The BVI Us$100 100% 100%  Investment holding

R RBRAHS 100%7T REER
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BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 4. XX TR R 2 F 15 @)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR, BRTREHRE/ ERAFEER
HEAREH B33 B BTN PRl TEXHR
2016 2015

—B-AF ZF-5%F

Indirectly owned

BERS
China Merchants Land The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of electronic and
(Shenzhen) Limited* HE AE#1,000,0007C electrical and building related
BRREMCRI)BRAR materials and equipment
BESTREREMUR
BEIBAM B KRR
China West Premier Housing The PRC US$533,960,015 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* R 533,960,015%7T WEER
(Notes 1 & 5)
EEREENREERAR
(Hrz#1R5)
Converge Holdings Limited The BVI Uss$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
EFERER AR EBRAHS 2ET RAZR
Cosmo City Limited (Note 5) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
BHBRAR(A25) BE 7514,640,010,0007T REER
Foshan Merchants Wharf Property  The PRC US$109,898,000 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* HE 109,898,000 T MEER

("Foshan Merchants Wharf")

(Notes 1 & 4)
BILABNEERHEBRAR

(IBLAENEE ) (Wat1Rk4)
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. ZRTMBE QR 2% 18 @)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR, BRTREHRE/ ERRFEER
il PNEEE B33t B AR A PRl TEXH
2016 2015

—g-xF 25

Foshan Xin Cheng Property The PRC US$127,000,000 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* R 127,000,000% 7T MEEE
("Foshan Xin Cheng"”)
(Notes 2 & 4)

BB EEERAR ([ FLER])
(Frzt2fR4)

Foshan Xin Jie Property The PRC US$250,123,443 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* HE 250,123,443% T NEBR

(Notes 1 & 7)
BLEREHEBRAR(MF1X7)

Foshan Yi Yun (Notes 3 & 4) The PRC RMB30,000,000 50% 50%  Property development
BUKE(Wat3%4) H AR%30,000,0007C NEER
Foshan Merchants Property The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* H AER#10,000,0007T MEER
(Notes 3 & 8)

HLRBEERERRA R (HZ3K8)

Foshan Kai Da Cheng The PRC RMB 10,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Investment Development H AR 10,000,0007T NEER
Co., Ltd.* (Notes 3 & 8)

BLTAERREERERAR

(Frzt3%s8)
Happy City Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
SEREBRAA &t H%1007T REER
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

41. XRTFIM B AR 215 @)

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

Proportion effective
ownership interest
held by the Company

Principal activities

AR, ERTRERRE/ EPEFRER
MEARERE B33 B AR PRl TEXHR
2016 2015
ZE-RF —T-IF
Harpen Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
("Harpen”) (Note 4) B 7#110,0007T BEER
eBENEERERAA
(T&88))(Hiz4)
Merchants Nanjing (Note 2) The PRC RMB30,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
HRAREREHH2) HhE AR#30,000,0007 NEER
Merchants Guangzhou (Note 2) The PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
EMNFEEERZ2) HE AR200,000,0007 NEER
Nanjing China Merchants The PRC RMB1,230,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Rui Sheng Property Co., Ltd.*  # AR#1,230,000,0007T NEER
(Notes 3 & 9)
BRAEREEERRAR
(H1#3R9)
Pride Oasis Limited The BVI US$599,095,420 50% 50%  Investment holding
(Note 4) (“Pride Oasis") RERLEE 599,095,420% 7T REZR
RRBRRA(Hit4)([HER])
Sino Action Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
EHRBARRA 0 B#1007T REER
Chongging China Merchants The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Yi Yun Property Co., Ltd.* HE AR #20,000,0007C MERR

(Notes 3 & 8)
EERBRERHERRAR
(H#3R%8)

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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BE_F—FL+_A=1+—HIFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. ZRTMBE QR 2% 18 @)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR, BRTREHRE/ ERRFEER
WEARER B L4 B AR A PR fl TEXK
2016 2015

—g-xF 25

Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan The PRC RMB10,000,000 55% 55%  Property development
Property Development Co., F AK#10,000,0007T MEEE
Ltd.* (Notes 3 & 8)

BUKEREFHERRAR

(Hizt3%s8)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang Yuan The PRC RMB10,500,000 50% 50%  Property development
Property Development H AR#10,500,0007T MEEE
Co., Ltd.* (Notes 3 & 8)
BILKE FRFEMERR A
(Hizt3%s8)
Chonggqing Central Park Company  The PRC RMB3,666,249,600 50% 50%  Property development
Limited* (Notes 1 & 5) h ARH3,666,249,6007C NEER
ERRENMEHEREERAR
(H1iE1R5)
Cyber Light Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 51% 51%  Investment holding
SBREBR LA &R 1007 REZR
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng The PRC US$205,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Property Development Limited* 205,000,0005 7T NEER
(Note 1)

ERARREEREBRAR (M1

Runray Holdings Limited The BVI Us$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
RARERBR A KBRS 100%7T REER
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BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 4. XX TR R 2 F 15 @)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR, BRTREHRE/ ERAFEER
HEAREH B33 B BTN PRl TEXHR
2016 2015

—B-AF ZF-5%F

Xi'an Multi On Property The PRC US$172,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Development Company mE 172,000,000% 7T MERR
Limited* (Note 1)

ARKLEHEBRAR (1)

Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property The PRC US$29,900,000 70% 70%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note 1) # 29,900,000% T NEER
BETNEENBERBBLRRA(HZ)

Guangzhou Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB100,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* M AR #100,000,0007T WEER
(Notes 3 & 8)

BEMNKEEHERRAR(MH3R8)

Nanjing Merchants Ningsheng The PRC RMB60,000,000 26.01% 26.01%  Property development
Property Development Limited* ¢ AR60,000,0007T MEERE
(Notes 3 & 6)

BRBAEREHERRAR
(Hiit3R26)

Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng The PRC RMB50,000,000 26.01% 26.01%  Property development
Property Development H AR50,000,0007T NEER

Co., Ltd. (Notes 3 & 6)
MRREEREMERR AR

(H1it3R26)
Foshan Yi Yun Xiao De The PRC US$172,500,000 50% 50%  Property development
Property Development q: 172,500,000 7T MEERE

Co., Ltd.* (Notes 1 & 7)
BlLKEZERBESR AR
(H1iE1R7)

—EAEFR BERBHERAT
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

Proportion effective
ownership interest
held by the Company

41. XRTFIMB AR 2 5F 15 #)

Principal activities

R AT ERITREBHRE ENBFRER
il PNEEE B33t B MR FEREERLH TEER
2016 2015
—E-XE ZT-hF

YiYun Guan Yuan (Notes 3 & 10)  The PRC RMB100,000,000 50% 50%  Property development

REBR(HE3K10) hE AK#100,000,0007 NERER

Nanjing Zhaosheng (Notes 3&9)  The PRC RMB400,000,000 51% 51%  Property development

AR RE(HE3K9) hE AR#400,000,0007T NEER

Chongging Merchants Yi The PRC RMB27,000,000 100% 100%  Property development

Cheng Property Development F ARK#27,000,0007T MEEE
Co., Ltd.*

EEARKBEHEREERAR

Poly Field Hong Kong RMB500,500,400 60% ~ Investment holding

BE &R AR¥500,500,4007T REZR

Tian Jiao (Guangzhou) Property The PRC RMB500,000,000 60% - Property development

Development Co., Ltd. HE AR500,000,0007T NEER

XE (BN EHEREERAR

S The English name is for identification only. The official name of the *EXEBEMB c BERZEXBERF -
entity is in Chinese.

Note 1: The entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise. Hiztl . BRAIEBELE -

Note 2: The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture. Witz . BRAPINEGERHE -

Note 3: The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise. WiF3 . BRBRAZNERE -

Note 4: This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite the Hita . ZERBER/ARTZHMBERR - BARRBTEER
Company holds directly and indirectly not more than half of the equity MEFEZEBTZR —FRE  BRAANZER
interest therein as the Company has the power to cast the majority of ZEFERARERZERER - WUHZBERB 2R
votes at meetings of the board of directors of this entity, which has BREN -
power to affect the returns of this entity.

Note 5: The entity is a subsidiary of Pride Oasis Limited. HiFs5 . BRRAARKARARZHELRRF -

Note 6: This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite MiFe - ZEBBERA/ARATZHBAR - BAKRR B RMER
the Company indirectly holds not more than half of the equity interest BREBIEZR—LRE - BARAKBARERA
therein as Merchants Nanjing, a subsidiary of the Company, controls MEMEHZER 2 EFS KNI oK BAKEBZH
the majority of the board composition of this entity, thus it has power B EZERZERAEXES -
to affect the returns of this entity.

Note 7: The entity is a subsidiary of Harpen. Wiit7 . BRASBZIMEBAR -

Note 8: The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Guangzhou. Hits - BRREBMABEMEZWEAR -

Note 9: The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Nanjing. Hiite : BRAMRAEEHEZHREAR -

Note 10: The entity is a subsidiary of Foshan Yi Yun. HiaE10 - BRABILIKEZWEBARF

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

42. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED N BEERFERERZEAEEH]R
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE ENB A RIS
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREFIHEAERIFERER 2 AEBIEREM
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling B RRIEE
interests:
Place of
incorporation/ Voting rights Profit (loss)
establishment and held by allocated to Accumulated
Financial principal place non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of entity information of business interests interests interests
EMAYL/ R R FERER PRFHERES
ERER HBER TEERBE iR ALl 2R (B8) Zat R RER
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

“B-XE —E-1f ZBE-AE —T-1FE ZB-XE —E-1%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETE

Foshan Merchants Wharf (1) The PRC 50% 50% 72,855 29,677 599,862 527,007
FLEENER G
Foshan Xin Cheng (2) The PRC 50% 50% (16,228) 1197 570,795 606,532
GllE-21 i
Harpen 3) Hong Kong 50% 50% 56,915 16,979 1,380,662 1,323,747
Bl 36
Pride Oasis (@) Hong Kong 50% 50% 32,909 10,011 3,695,386 3,662,477
B 3
Foshan Yi Yun (5 The PRC 50% 50% (2,582) 36,211 171,161 173,743
fEILEE i

143,869 94,075 6,417,866 6,293,506

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of MEREBEE RS 2 AEE TS 2
each of the Group’s entities that has material non-controlling MAR B BIISERIE A T X o TS~ 474 BF
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated BERHEEB AL HEAI 2 £ -

financial information below represents amounts before intra-
group eliminations.
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BE—F—\

F+A=+—HILEE

42. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

2. BRERFERBEZZAEEHFR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE = PNCIEES e ))
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)
Notes: Wit -
2016 2015
—EB—XE —T—AF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARBFT
(1) Foshan Merchants Wharf (1) #HLuBEhER
Non-current assets EMENE E 8,341 7,773
Current assets MEEE 1,814,124 2,156,871
Current liabilities B aE 622,741 1,110,630
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRRGER ARG 599,862 527,007
Non-controlling interests Elsudiies £ 599,862 527,007
Revenue ez 817,463 324,163
Other revenue HAth ez 1,244 3,710
Expenses Fisz 672,997 242,264
Other expenses HhFx - 26,255
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REEHEMNREEBRA LT 145,710 59,354
Profit and total comprehensive income i SNGIE? ZE PN ey S Al N L
attributable to owners of the Company 72,855 29,677
Profit and total comprehensive income FEIERR I 2 PR (5 i B M 2 T WA KRR
attributable to non-controlling interests 72,855 29,677
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NEERNREEBALE 145,710 59,354
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [BAREEESIE £3 4 - -
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEBZRSRFHE (167,691) (68,311)
Net cash outflow from investing activities RE¥BZRSRLFE (128) (52)
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMEEBKZRERNFE - -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREgHTE 1 -
Net cash outflow BEmLER (167,819) (68,363)
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HE-F—/\

FHA=+—HILEE

42. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE

2. FERERFERBEZ2AEEHFR

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

ENMBARFE@

(continued)
Notes: Mt -
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBFT
(2) Foshan Xin Cheng 2) #HuSsE
Non-current assets FRBEE 198 342
Current assets MEEE 1,655,782 1,986,598
Current liabilities mENAE 514,390 773,876
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ENGIEZ ZE PN 570,795 606,532
Non-controlling interests Elzudiies £ 570,795 606,532
Revenue Was 58,889 68,560
Other revenue Hitn s 115 820
Expenses 53 91,430 35,130
Other expenses HihFx 30 31,856
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive REE (BER)EFIR
(expenses) income for the year 2E () RABTE (32,456) 2,394
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) RN RER ARG (BR)5%E M &
income attributable to owners of the Company 2E () RALEE (16,228) 1,197
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) FEVERR I 2 PR 1L (518 s )
income attributable to non-controlling interests 2E () RALEE (16,228) 1,197
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive AFE (B8 )EF R
(expense) income for the year 2E(FZ) WA LEE (32,456) 2,394
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [BARE T E £3 4 19,509 -
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEB 2R RNFE 203,820 174,422
Net cash inflow from investing activities REEB RS RNFE 5 50
Net cash outflow from financing activities BMEXK 2R RLFE (219,000) (251,474)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREgHTE 4 7
Net cash outflow & FEE (15,171) (76,995)
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F+A=+—HILEE

42. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE

2. BRERFERBEZZAEEHFR

EMBARFE @

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)
Notes: Bt -
2016 2015
—B-XRE —T-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
(3) Harpen 3) =B
Non-current assets EMENE E 5,021 3,945
Current assets mBEE 3,570,668 3,309,107
Current liabilities mEAE 805,773 662,967
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 8,592 2,591
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRRGER ARG 1,380,662 1,323,747
Non-controlling interests Elsudiies £ 1,380,662 1,323,747
Revenue Wz 1,087,912 581,720
Other revenue HAth ez 2,513 2,366
Expenses Fisz 976,562 531,635
Other expenses HhFx 33 18,493
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REEHEMNREEBRA LT 113,830 33,958
Profit and total comprehensive income i SNGIE? ZE PN ey S Al N L
attributable to owners of the Company 56,915 16,979
Profit and total comprehensive income FEIERR I 2 PR (5 i B M 2 T WA KRR
attributable to non-controlling interests 56,915 16,979
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NEERNREEBALE 113,830 33,958
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [BAREEESIE £3 4 - -
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEB 2 RERNFE 815,937 11,774
Net cash outflow from investing activities RE¥BZRSRLFE (850,900) (17)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BMEEB 2R RLFE (34,638) -
Effect of changes in exchange rate EREBTE - (10,885)
Net cash (outflow) inflow ReOrd), MAFE (69,601) 872
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42. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE

2. FERERFERBEZ2AEEHFR

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

ENMBARFE@

(continued)
Notes: Hat -
2016 2015
—E-REF —Th%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
(4) Pride Oasis 4) =&
Non-current assets EMENE E 47,423 27,438
Current assets MEBEE 9,558,397 8,464,275
Current liabilities mBaE 2,207,159 1,097,403
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 7,889 69,356
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ENGIEZ ZE PN 3,695,386 3,662,477
Non-controlling interests Elzudiies £ 3,695,386 3,662,477
Revenue Wz 838,844 147,659
Other revenue HAb ez 4,609 9,206
Expenses Fisz 777,635 128,601
Other expenses HihFx - 8,242
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REEHEMN R EEBRA LT 65,818 20,022
Profit and total comprehensive income RRRHER AR RN R 2R A B
attributable to owners of the Company 32,909 10,011
Profit and total comprehensive income FEVERR I 2 FE 15 3 7 e 2 T WA 458
attributable to non-controlling interests 32,909 10,011
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AEERH R EEBALE 65,818 20,022
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [BARE T E £3 4 - -
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities CEEBZBRSTRACRD)F8E 625,654 (328,872)
Net cash outflow from investing activities RE¥KZReRLFE - (1,097)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities BMEEBZES(RE)RAFE (93,805) 87,617
Effect of changes in exchange rate EREgHTE 6 4,595
Net cash inflow/(outflow) REMA/ () FHE 531,795 (237,757)

=
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42. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE

2. BRERFERBEZZAEEHFR

EMBARFE @

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)
Notes: Hraz -
2016 2015
—EB—XE —T—AF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT
(5) Foshan Yi Yun (5) HLUKE
Non-current assets EMENE E 21,774 18,812
Current assets MEEE 2,819,005 2,568,159
Current liabilities mEAE 2,345,667 2,239,485
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 152,790 =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRRGER ARG 171,161 173,743
Non-controlling interests Elsudiies £ 171,161 173,743
Revenue Wz 581,508 540,336
Other revenue HAth ez 2,676 2,326
Expenses Fisz 589,326 404,574
Other expenses HhFx 22 65,666
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive REE (R &EF R
(expense) income for the year 2E(FAX)RABTE (5,164) 72,422
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) RATIHEE AL (BH)%E M &
income attributable to owners of the Company 2E(FAX)RALE (2,582) 36,211
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) FEVERR I 2 FE AL (518 ) s )
income attributable to non-controlling interests 2E(FX) WALz (2,582) 36,211
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) income REE (BR)HEF &
for the year 2 (RS0 WA KB (5.164) 72,422
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [BAREEESIE £3 4 - -
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEB 2 RERNFE 178,285 17,899
Net cash outflow from investing activities RE¥BZRSRLFE (1,276) (42)
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMEEBKZRERNFE 171,461 -
Net cash inflow BEMANFRE 348,470 17,857
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43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. HEHREIE

On 18 August 2016, the Company and China Merchants
Properties Development Limited (the “Seller”), a fellow
subsidiary of CMSK entered into (i) the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and the Seller has conditionally agreed
to sell, the entire share capital and shareholder’s loan of
Coming Wealth Limited (“Coming Wealth”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Seller, for a total cash consideration of
approximately HK$505 million (subject to adjustment but
capped at HK$506 million); and (ii) the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and the Seller has conditionally agreed
to sell, the entire share capital and shareholder’s loan of
Cheuk Tat Development Limited (“Cheuk Tat”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Seller, for a total cash consideration
of approximately HK$608 million (subject to adjustment
but capped at HK$609 million). Further details of these
agreements are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 August 2016. These acquisitions constituted
business combinations under common control.

The acquisition of Coming Wealth was completed on 5
January 2017. Up to the approval date of consolidated
financial statements, the acquisition of Cheuk Tat has not yet
been completed.

R-ZZE—X"ENATN\B  AAREFEEOZ
WBARBEREXEERAR(IEAEIL()
BB Bt ARRERGERERE KB
FEKHERELEEA 22 ENB AR EREE
ERAR([ERD 2R ARBREZER - 42
HERELHABES05H & (AIEAZRE S
BooeEBILALR)  R(i)EEWHR - &t
AARBBRHRERE  REAFBKHEREHS
B2 2EANBRARSBRERRAR([E£E])
ZEBRARBRIER  BRESRENAES
608 E BT (AIMEFARABENEE,60IBEB LA L
R) - ZEME 2 E—THBARALABEA
ZE-ARFENATNRAZAE - ZERBEERE
FRERIES T 2 156 6F o

ERUEBEERN _Z—tF-AABREK - BE
RAEVBHRRILERY  ERKBEERRT
B o
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44. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 44. BEA A RN T 2 E F
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2016 2015
—E-RE —ET—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KR 2,094 80
Investments in subsidiaries RWBRE 2 HE 16 17
Prepayments TERTFIE 3,850 -
5,960 97
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TARFUE © e RE M EIRIE 4,944 8,674
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU T B N B FR 12,543,178 11,433,757
Amount due from FEU A AR AR A R FIR
ultimate holding company - 67
Amount due from k32 YNGIE Q]
intermediate holding company - 19
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EES NG B 442 -
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB MRS 514,047 262,150
13,062,611 11,704,667
Current liabilities HBAaE
Other payables and accruals H eI RIE R g B A 10,691 10,212
Amounts due to subsidiaries ARG e 2,123,580 1,925,838
Amount due to ultimate holding company JER SRR A R FIA 532 516
Amount due to an intermediate FE — R R A RISRIE
holding company 29 -
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRRWBARFIE 377 -
2,135,209 1,936,566
Net current assets REBEETFE 10,927,402 9,768,101
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBEE 10,933,362 9,768,198
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R IR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE T ANFFZA=+—HIFFEF

44. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 44. EEAQARAMBMRRETR2ER @)
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
2016 2015
— —FhF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBT T
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMEE 1,298,300 551,956
Bonds payable JEfHES 3,426,732 3,206,939
4,725,032 3,758,895
Net assets EEFE 6,208,330 6,009,303
Capital and reserves ERR#E
Share capital N 39,132 39,132
Reserves (Note) wE( ) 6,169,198 5,970,171
Total equity eyt el 6,208,330 6,009,303
Note: The movement of reserves is shown as follows: Bzt - REBEEEBHFIWT -
Share Translation ~ Contributed ~ Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve losses reserves
AR 17 % (B BEGRE BYHE 2:tEE iReE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTT  ARETT  ARETRT  AR%TR
At 1 January 2015 RZZE-8F—HA—H 6,180,826 8,076 46,004 (381,129) 5,853,777
Profit and total comprehensive income FRENREEBAERE
for the year - - - 155,248 155,248
Dividend declared (note 12) BERRS(HE12) (38,854) - - - (38,854)

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 RZZ-HF+-_A=+—8

R=ZT—RF—A—H 6,141,972 8,076 46,004 (225,881) 5,970,171

Profit and total comprehensive income FREFINEERALE
for the year - - - 219,465 219,465
Dividend declared (note 12) BERRE (HiF12) (20,438) - - - (20,438)
At 31 December 2016 RZB—R"FE+-A=+—H 6,121,534 8,076 46,004 (6,416) 6,169,198
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFMBENBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016, as below. For the year
ended 31 December 2012 which extracted from the annual report
2013 was restated as appropriate, is set out below.

LTEYAREBRERAETRFEZEE BERE
BERE DESEEE—_T—=F  _FT—N0NF =
E-—AER-_E-—RE+-_A=+—BIFEZET
BREEMERR - BRE T =ZEERIBEC
T —F+ A=+ BLFEEREIELEE S
WHEFT o

RESULTS E Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1+—-HLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—F-A% ZFT-RF "F-RF "—F-=Ff _"T-_F
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETTT
(restated)
(E5)
REVENUE A 11,606,442 6,394,944 7,440,436 6,927,871 4,362,053
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AR T 2,542,319 927,413 1,624,110 2,676,555 2,254,239
Income tax g (1,427,265) (571,946) (789,741) (1,261,736) (1,214,434)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERA 1,115,054 355,467 834,369 1,414,819 1,039,805
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE As at 31 December
R+t=-B=+—AH
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

—F-A% ZFT-AF "F-RF —F-=Ff _"T-_F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AREFT ARBFT AREFT ARETTT

(restated)

(E5)

TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 48,446,368 38,863,715 33,599,922 28,160,951 23,297,738
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHE 34,338,398  (27,178,625) (22,675,205) (16,704,640) (19,921,886)
Net assets BESE 14,107,970 11,685,090 10,924,717 11,456,311 3,375,852
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